

ANNUAL GUIDE 2023-2024

FORMAT REVISION/REVIEW
10/2023
WWW.PNAHA.COM

TABLE OF CONTENTS

PNAHA OFFICERS/APPOINTEES	6
PNAHA DIRECTORS	7
USA HOCKEY PACIFIC DISTRICT PERSONNEL	9
PNAHA Organizations	
EVERETT YOUTH HOCKEY (EYH)	11
Inland Empire Amateur Hockey Association (IEAHA)	11
KENT VALLEY HOCKEY ASSOCIATION (KVHA)	12
Moses Lake Youth Hockey Association (MLYHA)	12
PUGET SOUND AMATEUR HOCKEY ASSOCIATION (PSAHA)	13
SEATTLE JUNIOR HOCKEY ASSOCIATION (SJHA)	13
SEATTLE KRAKEN YOUTH HOCKEY ASSOCIATION (SKYHA)	14
Sno-King Amateur Hockey Association (SKAHA)	14
SPOKANE AMERICANS YOUTH HOCKEY ASSOCIATION (SAYHA)	15
Tri-Cities Amateur Hockey Association (TCAHA)	15
VANCOUVER YOUTH HOCKEY ASSOCIATION (VYHA)	16
WENATCHEE AMATEUR HOCKEY ASSOCIATION (WAHA)	16
WEST SOUND HOCKEY CLUB (WSHC)	17
WESTERN WASHINGTON FEMALE HOCKEY ASSOCIATION (WWFHA)	17
WHATCOM COUNTY AMATEUR HOCKEY ASSOCIATION (WCAHA)	18
WINTHROP YOUTH HOCKEY ASSOCIATION (WYHA)	18
YAKIMA AMATEUR HOCKEY ASSOCIATION (YAHA)	19
PNAHA CONSTITUTION	
Article I – Name	21
Article II – Location	21
ARTICLE III – NON-PROFIT	21
Article IV – Succession	21
Article V – Purpose	21
ARTICLE VI — GOVERNMENT STRUCTURE AND TENURE	21
Section 1 – Elected Officers	21
Section 2 – Board of Directors	21
SECTION 3 – USA OFFICERS	22
ARTICLE VII – MEMBERSHIP	22
Section 1 – Qualification and Revue	22
SECTION 2 — COMPLIANCE	22
Section 3 – Court Action – Resolution of Disputes	22
Section 4 – Suspension	23
Article VIII – Elections	23
SECTION 1 — OFFICERS	23
Section 2 – Directors	23
ARTICLE IX – MEETINGS	23
SECTION 1 – ANNUAL MEETING	23
Section 2 – General Meetings	23
Section 3 – Special Meetings	24
SECTION 4 – DATE, TIME AND PLACE	24
Section 5 – Manner of Acting	24
Section 6 – Quorum	24
SECTION 7 – AGENDA	24
Section 8 – Proxy Voting	24
Section 9 – Voting Rights	24

ARTICLE X – AMENDMENTS	25
Section 1 – Notification of Intent to Amend	25
ARTICLE XI – POLICIES	25
Section 1 – Zero Tolerance Policy	25
Section 2 – Safe Sport	27
Section 3 – Screening Policy	27
SECTION 4 – RECORD RETENTION POLICY (ADOPTED 2011)	27
SECTION 5 — ELECTRONIC COMMUNICATIONS POLICY (POLICY ADDED SEPTEMBER 2023)	28
SECTION 6 — EMAIL RETENTION POLICY (POLICY ADDED SEPTEMBER 2023)	30
SECTION 7 – APPROVED ELECTRONIC SCOREKEEPING POLICY	
PNAHA Bylaws	
ARTICLE I - USA HOCKEY PREEMINENCE	32
ARTICLE II - INTERPRETATION	32
ARTICLE III – INDEMNITY	32
SECTION 1 – USA HOCKEY	33
Section 2 – PNAHA	33
ARTICLE IV – JURISDICTION/RESOLUTION OF DISPUTES	33
ARTICLE V – SUSPENSION AND EXPULSIONS	40
ARTICLE VI – MEMBERSHIP	40
Section 1 – Application	40
Section 2 – Qualifications for Membership	40
Section 3 – Voting	43
Section 4 – Membership Committee	43
Article VII – Registration	43
Section 1 – Fees	43
Section 2 – Dues	43
Section 3 – Sanctions	43
ARTICLE VIII – BOARD OF DIRECTORS	44
Section 1 – Powers and Duties of the Board of Directors	44
Section 2 – Board of Directors	44
ARTICLE IX – OFFICERS/OFFICIALS POWERS AND DUTIES	44
Section 1 – President (Voting Member)	44
Section 2 – Vice President (Voting Member)	45
Section 3 – Secretary/Treasurer (Voting Member)	45
Section 4 – Supervisor of Officials (Non-Voting Member)	46
Section 5 – Coaching Director (Non-Voting Member)	46
SECTION 6 — PLAYER DEVELOPMENT DIRECTOR (NON-VOTING MEMBER) (MOVED ADVANCED DEVELOPMENT MODEL COORDINATOR UNDER PLAYER DEVELOPMENT 1/7/23 MEETING)	46
Section 7 – Senior Director (Non-Voting Member)	46
Section 8 – Junior Director (Non-Voting Member)	46
Section 9 – Girls/Women's Director (Non-Voting Member)	46
Section 10 – Safe Sport Coordinator (Non-Voting Member)	47
Section 11 – Goalie Development Coordinator (Non-Voting Member)	47
Section 12 – Registrar (Non-Voting Member)	47
Section 13 – Growth Development Coordinator (Non-Voting Member)	47
ARTICLE X – OFFICERS/OFFICIALS EXPENSES	47
Section 1 – President (Voting Member)	47
Section 2 – Vice President (Voting Member)	47
Section 3 – Secretary/Treasurer (Voting Member)	47
Section 4 – Supervisor of Officials (Non-Voting Member)	48
Section 5 – Coaching Director (Non-Voting Member)	48
Section 6 – Player Development Director (Non-Voting Member)	48

Section 7 – Senior Director (Non-Voting Member)	48
Section 8 – Junior Director (Non-Voting Member)	48
Section 9 – Girls/Women's Director (Non-Voting Member)	48
Section 10 – Safe Sport Coordinator (Non-Voting Member)	48
Section 11 – Goalie Development Coordinator (Non-Voting Member)	48
Section 12 – Registrar (Non-Voting Member)	48
SECTION 13 – GROWTH DEVELOPMENT COORDINATOR (NON-VOTING MEMBER)	49
ARTICLE XI - AMENDMENTS	49
PNAHA RULES & REGULATIONS	
ARTICLE I - MEMBERSHIP AND TEAM REGISTRATIONS	51
ARTICLE II - CLASSIFICATION	51
ARTICLE III – SUSPENSIONS	51
ARTICLE IV — ELIGIBILITY	52
Rule 1	52
Rule 2	52
Rule 3	52
Rule 4 – Roster Limits	52
Rule 5 – Official Team Size	52
Rule 6 – Player/Roster Limits	52
Rule 7 – Participating in B Level	52
Rule 8 – Team Limits	52
Rule 9 – Releases	52
Rule 10 – Association Release	53
Rule 11 – Eligibility Concerns	53
Rule 12 – Suspended Team Members	53
Rule 13 – Illegal or Non-Rostered Players	53
Rule 14	53
Rule 15 – Foreign Nationals	53
Rule 16 – Girls Rostering	53
RULE 17 – TIER I/II LEVEL IN PNAHA	54
Rule 18 – Team Registration Level	54
Rule 19 - PNAHA State Tournament/Festival Participation Withdraws	54
RULE 20 - PNAHA TEAM PLAY DOWN POLICY (MINUTES SEPTEMBER 2018)	55
Rule 21 – 12U on Nationally Bound Team	55
Rule 22 – 12U on a Checking Team	55
Rule 23 – Play Up limits	55
RULE 24 – 8U PLAY UP	55
Rule 25 – 10U Half Ice	55
RULE 26 – 10U PLAY UP	55
Rule 27 – Black Out	56
Rule 28 – Participation	56
Article V – Tournaments	56
National Bound Requirements	56
Invitational Tournament	57
PNAHA STATE TOURNAMENT AND FESTIVALS	57
APPLYING TO HOST PNAHA STATE TOURNAMENT/FESTIVAL	57
Tournament Operations	61
FESTIVAL OPERATIONS	62
TEAM DECLARATION AND REGISTRATION	63
PNAHA STATE TOURNAMENT/FESTIVAL RULES	64
ARTICLE VI — COACH AND MANAGER REGISTRATION	69

ARTICLE VII – NON-SANCTIONED HOCKEY	69
Article VIII – Officials	69
Official PNAHA League Rules	
I – LEAGUE MANAGEMENT	71
A. COMMITTEE CHAIR	71
B. League Scheduler	71
C. LEAGUE STATISTICIAN	71
II – Association Commitment	71
III – League Schedule	73
IV – State League Standings	73
V – TEAM COMPOSITION	73
VI – Documentation	74
VII – LEAGUE PLAY	74
VIII – DISCIPLINE	75
IX – League Champions	76
X – Other Articles	76
COACHING EDUCATION REQUIREMENTS	76
PNAHA POLICIES	
CREDENTIAL PROCESS POLICY FOR PNAHA STATE TOURNAMENTS	76
COACHING CREDENTIAL POLICY	76
CONFLICT OF INTEREST POLICY	78
WHISTLEBLOWER POLICY	81
NATIONAL REPORTING POLICY	82
PNAHA Suspension Guidelines (addressed in Rules & Regulations Article III Suspensions)	
Referee Registration Procedure	82
DISTRICT AWARDS	83
Memorial to Those Whom Served	83

PNAHA OFFICERS AND APPOINTEES 2023-2024

PRESIDENT (ELECTED JUNE 2023) 1ST VICE PRESIDENT (APPOINTED JANUARY 2023)

JODY CARPENTER TOM OGEE

 (CONTACT FOR ADDRESS)
 (CONTACT FOR ADDRESS)

 CELL (503) 810-6713
 CELL: (505) 508-6485

EMAIL: PRESIDENT@PNAHA.COM EMAIL: VPWESTSIDE@PNAHA.COM

2ND PRESIDENT (ELECTED JUNE 2023) SECRETARY/TREASURER (ELECTED JUNE 2022)

NICOLE ADAMS DEBBIE DIDZEREKIS

(CONTACT FOR ADDRESS) 1203 GOWEN AVE, RICHLAND, WA 99352

CELL (509) 714-2998 CELL (509) 440-8918

EMAIL: VPEASTSIDE@PNAHA.COM EMAIL: SECTREAS@PNAHA.COM

COACHING DIRECTOR PLAYER DEVELOPMENT DIRECTOR

ROB KAUFMAN ROB KAUFMAN

3610 Ray Nash Dr, Gig Harbor, WA 98335 Cell (253) 973-1574 Fax: (253)265-3102 3610 Ray Nash Dr, Gig Harbor, WA 98335 Cell (253) 973-1574 Fax: (253)265-3102

EMAIL: PSHCRKAUF@AOL.COM EMAIL: PSHCRKAUF@AOL.COM

FEMALE COORDINATOR/REPRESENTATIVE GOALIE DEVELOPMENT COORDINATOR

KATELYN PARKER JULIA TAKATSUKA

 (CONTACT FOR ADDRESS)
 (CONTACT FOR ADDRESS)

 CELL (360) 927-3314
 CELL: (425) 359-8293

EMAIL: FEMALECOORDINATOR@PNAHA.COM OR

FEMALEREPRESENTATIVE@PNAHA.COM OR

KPARKER@SEATTLEKRAKENHOCKEY.COM

EMAIL: GDC@PNAHA.COM OR

JULIA.TAKATSUKA@HOTMAIL.COM

SENIOR DIRECTOR AFFLIATE RINK LIAISON

ANDY COLE ANDY COLE

1037 NE 65TH ST #317, SEATTLE 98115 1037 NE 65TH ST #317, SEATTLE 98115

Cell: (206) 255-6739 Cell: (206) 255-6739

EMAIL: SENIORDIRECTOR@PNAHA.COM EMAIL: SENIORDIRECTOR@PNAHA.COM

SUPERVISOR OF OFFICIALS DISABLE SUPERVISOR OF OFFICIALS

Annette Lin Tony Milles

(CONTACT FOR ADDRESS) 31313 W BRUNEAU PL, FEDERAL WAY, WA 98023

Cell: (253) 405-2092 Cell: (253) 261-4896

EMAIL: RIC@PNAHA.COM EMAIL: TKMILLES@AOL.COM; DISABLERIC@PNAHA.COM

DISABLED HOCKEY DIRECTOR REGISTRAR

Tami English Jeremy McCann

(CONTACT FOR ADDRESS) 8272 SADDLE TR NW, BREMERTON, WA 98311

Cell: (206) 963-0916 Cell: (360) 731-4203

EMAIL: TL_ENGLISH@HOTMAIL.COM; EMAIL: REGISTRAR@PNAHA.COM

LEAGUE COMMISSIONER SAFE SPORT COORINATOR

GORDON HANCOCK NICOLE ADAMS

DISABLEDHOCKEY@PNAHA.COM

(CONTACT FOR ADDRESS)
CELL: (425) 652-8237
(CONTACT FOR ADDRESS)
CELL: (509) 714-2998

EMAIL: COMMISH@PNAHA.COM EMAIL: SAFESPORT@PNAHA.COM

PNAHA DIRECTORS 2023-2024

EVERETT YOUTH HOCKEY (EYH)

REP: CHRIS RAUB - CELL: (425) 239-7499 EMAIL: CMRAUB@COMCAST.NET

ALT REP: KATRINA MCARTHUR - CELL (425) 239-2652 EMAIL: KATRINA.MCARTHUR@SPECTRAXP.COM

INLAND EMPIRE AMATEUR HOCKEY ASSOCIATION (IEAHA)

REP: DAVID NIEUWENHUIS - CELL (509) 995-8264 EMAIL: APOLLOELECTRICDAVE@YAHOO.COM

ALT REP: JC THOMAS - CELL (509-714-1541 EMAIL: JCTHOMAS5@COMCAST.NET

KENT VALLEY HOCKEY ASSOCIATION (KVYH)

REP: HARRY SMITH – PHONE: (253) 797-2523 EMAIL: HOCKEYDIRECTOR@KENTVALLEYHOCKEY.COM ALT REP: DAWN RUTHERFORD – PHONE: (206) 786-9357 EMAIL: DAWN@KENTVALLEYHOCKEY.COM

MOSES LAKE YOUTH HOCKEY ASSOCIATION (MLYHA)

REP: RYAN PORTER - CELL: (509) 750-1070 EMAIL: RYANDPORTER@ME.COM

ALT REP:

PUGET SOUND AMATEUR HOCKEY ASSOCIATION (PSAHA)

REP: GASKELL, JESSE — PHONE: (253) 272-7825 EMAIL: JESSEWGASKELL@GMAIL.COM ALT REP: ROB KAUFMAN - PHONE: (253) 973-1574 EMAIL: PSHCRKAUF@AOL.COM

SEATTLE JUNIOR HOCKEY ASSOCIATION (SJHA)

REP: MARTY RUBIN - CELL: (636) 399-9765 EMAIL: MARTY.RUBIN@SJHA.COM

ALT REP: IAN ARMSTRONG - CELL (520) 940-3104 EMAIL: WISA_GM@OUTLOOK.COM

SEATTLE KRAKEN YOUTH HOCKEY (SKYH)

REP: MARTIN HLINKA - CELL: (636) 485-2337 EMAIL: MHLINKA@SEATTLEKRAKEN.COM

ALT REP: ANDREW BIRNBRICH - CELL: (614) 625-0632 EMAIL: ABIRNBRICH@SEATTLEKRAKEN.COM

SNO-KING AMATEUR HOCKEY ASSOCIATION (SKAHA)

REP: DOUG KIRTON - CELL: (425) 829-0173 EMAIL: HOCKEYDIRECTOR@SNOKINGHOCKEY.COM

ALT REP: GORDON HANCOCK - CELL: (425) 652-8237 EMAIL: GORDON.HANCOCK@SNOKINGHOCKEY.COM

SPOKANE AMERICANS YOUTH HOCKEY ASSOCIATION (SAYHA)

REP: KATIE SIECK - PHONE: (509) 879-1241 EMAIL: KATIE@SPOKANEJRCHIEFS.COM

ALT REP: MATT THURSTON - PHONE: (208) 661-7708 EMAIL: MATT@SPOKANEJRCHIEFS.COM

TRI-CITIES AMATEUR HOCKEY ASSOCIATION (TCAHA)

REP: JORDAN NELSON, PHONE: (509) 913-0034 EMAIL: HOCKEYDIRECTOR@TCAHA.COM ALT REP: MATT McDaniel, Phone: (509) 727-7236 EMAIL: president@tcaha.com

VANCOUVER YOUTH HOCKEY ASSOCIAITON (VYHA)

REP: BOB KNOERL – PHONE: (503) 332-7629 EMAIL: ICEMNGR@YAHOO.COM ALT REP: TOM OGEE – PHONE: (505) 508-6485 EMAIL: TOGEE22@GMAIL.COM

WENATCHEE AMATEUR HOCKEY ASSOCIATION (WAHA)

Rep: Teka Sellers – Phone: (360) 972-5930 Email: kartekasellers@gmail.com

ALT REP: BYRON McDougall – Phone: (509) Email: BMcDougall@McDougallfruit.com

WEST SOUND HOCKEY CLUB (WSHC)

REP: PENNY DELBARTO — PHONE: (360) 479-7465 EMAIL: PDELBARTO@BREMERTONICECENTER.COM ALT REP: CHASE SPINALE — PHONE (360) 479-7465 EMAIL: CSPINALE@BREMERTONICECENTER.COM

WESTERN WASHINGTON FEMALE HOCKEY ASSOCIATION (WWFHA)

REP: LES HILL - PHONE EMAIL: LESHILL@WWFHA.COM

ALT REP: KAYLA WALTON – EMAIL: KAYLAWALTON@WWFHA.COM

WHATCOM COUNTY AMATEUR HOCKEY ASSOCIATION (WCAHA)

REP: OWEN BROWN - PHONE: (360) 343-3785 EMAIL: PRESIDENT@WHATCOMHOCKEY.COM

ALT REP: MEREDITH MCILMOYLE - PHONE (415) 275-0616 EMAIL: REGISTRAR@WHATCOMHOCKEY.COM

WINTROP YOUTH HOCKEY ASSOCIATION (WYHA)

REP: ANDREW WALLS — PHONE: (509) 996-4195 EMAIL: INFO@WINTHROPRINK.ORG ALT REP: — RICK BELL PHONE: (509) 996-4195 EMAIL: DIRECTOR@WINTHROPRINK.ORG

YAKIMA AMATEUR HOCKEY ASSOCIATION (YAHA)

REP: CHRIS SUTHERLAND — PHONE: (509) 731-0628 EMAIL: CJSALBERTA@GMAIL.COM ALT REP: LARRY LOOSE — PHONE: (509) 895-9743 EMAIL: LLOOSE@GMAIL.COM

USA Hockey Pacific District Directors 2021-2022

DIRECTORS

KRIS KNAUSS, CHAIRMAN JOHN BEAULIEU, USA HOCKEY DISTRICT DIRECTOR

PHONE: 907-351-2524 PHONE: 408-219-4888

EMAIL: KNAUSS@CONFLUENCE-STRATEGIES.COM EMAIL: JOHN@JOHN-DORIS.ORG

USA HOCKEY YOUTH COUNCIL, USA HOCKEY PLAYER PLAYER SAFETY,

DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE

WAYNE SAWCHUCK, USA HOCKEY DISTRICT DIRECTOR

PHONE: 907-322-5978 PHONE: 714-501-6627 EMAIL: WSAWCHUK@ME.COM EMAIL: BEN@JRREIGN.COM

REGISTRARS

WENDY GOLDSTEIN, PACIFIC DISTRICT REGISTRAR ANNA CULLEY, ASSOCIATE REGISTRAR

PHONE: 714-496-3893

EMAIL: WENDY.PDREG@GMAIL.COM

(NEVADA/OREGON)

TERESA ATTEBERY, ASSOCIATE REGISTRAR

PHONE: 408-340-3245

EMAIL: ATTEBERY@SBCGLOBAL.NET

(NORTHERN CALIFORNIA)

NANCY HODGE, ASSOCIATE REGISTRAR

PHONE: 509-923-0067 EMAIL: DUX8FAN@AOL.COM

BENJAMIN FRANK, USA HOCKEY DISTRICT DIRECTOR

PHONE: 907-322-7633

EMAIL: AKREGISTRAR@LIVE.COM

(ALASKA/HAWAII)

JEREMY McCann. Associate Registrar

PHONE: 360-731-4203

EMAIL: REGISTRAR@PNAHA.COM

(PNAHA WASHINGTON)

REFEREE IN CHIEF **GIRLS/WOMEN'S REPRESENTATIVE**

DAN ELLISON, DISTRICT REFEREE IN CHIEF KATHY McGarrigle, Girls/Women's Representative

PHONE: 619-701-6491 PHONE: 714-342-7347

EMAIL: PHHOCKEY7@GMAIL.COM EMAIL: KATHYMC.PACIFICG2@GMAIL.COM

DISABLED HOCKEY RISK MANAGEMENT

MATT ZUCKER, DISABLED HOCKEY REPRESENTATIVE JOHN SILBERSTEIN, RISK MANAGER

PHONE: 201-452-2838 PHONE: 714-350-5364

EMAIL: HOCKEYFAN1189@GMAIL.COM EMAIL: USAHPDRM@GMAIL.COM

DIRECTOR EMERITUS

DICK COOMBS, DIRECTOR EMERITUS FRANK LANG, DIRECTOR EMERITUS

PHONE: 714-496-3893 PHONE: 510-728-0133 EMAIL: DCOOMBS46@AOL.COM EMAIL: LANGLAWW@ATT.NET

^{*}FOR THE MOST CURRENT LIST OF DIRECTORS VISIT HTTPS://PACIFICDISTRICTHOCKEY.COM/CONTACTS/PACIFIC-DISTRICT-DIRECTORS/

PNAHA MEMBER ORGANIZATIONS

IOTES:	

ASSOCIATION NAME: EVERETT YOUTH HOCKEY

ASSOCIATION MAILING ADDRESS:

2000 Hewitt Avenue, Suite 200 WORK: (425) 322-2653 Everett, WA 98201 FAX: (425) 322-2601

HOME ICE NAME & ADDRESS:

 EVERETT COMMUNITY ICE RINK
 WORK:
 (425) 322-2653

 2000 HEWITT AVENUE
 FAX:
 (425) 322-2601

EVERETT, WA 98201 (# OF ICE SHEETS) 1

BOARD OF DIRECTORS FOR 2022-2023

POSITION	NAME (LAST, FIRST)	EMAIL:	PHONE:
PRESIDENT:	RAUB, CHRISTOPHER	CMRAUB@COMCAST.NET	(425) 239-7499
VICE PRESIDENT:			
SECRETARY:	McArthur, Katrina	KATRINA.MCARTHUR@OAKVIEWGROUP.COM	(425) 322-2652
Treasurer:			
ELECTED PNAHA REP:	RAUB, CHRISTOPHER	CMRAUB@COMCAST.NET	(425) 239-7499
ALT PNAHA REP:	McArthur, Katrina	KATRINA.MCARTHUR@OAKVIEWGROUP.COM	(425) 322-2652
REGISTRAR:	RAUB, CHRISTOPHER	CMRAUB@COMCAST.NET	(425) 239-7499
SAFE SPORT COORDINATOR:	RAUB, CHRISTOPHER	CMRAUB@COMCAST.NET	(425) 239-7499
SCHEDULER:	RAUB, CHRISTOPHER	CMRAUB@COMCAST.NET	(425) 239-7499
DISCIPLINE PERSON:	RAUB, CHRISTOPHER	CMRAUB@COMCAST.NET	(425) 239-7499

ASSOCIATION NAME: INLAND EMPIRE AMATEUR HOCKEY (IEAHA)

ASSOCIATION MAILING ADDRESS:

7906 N FREYA ST WORK: (509) 995-8264

SPOKANE, WA 99217

HOME ICE NAME & ADDRESS:

EASTERN WASHINGTON UNIVERSITY ICE RINK FACILITY WORK:

526 5TH ST, CHENEY, WA 99004

WEBSITE: HTTPS://INSIDE.EWU.EDU/CAMPUSREC/REC-FACILITIES (# OF ICE SHEETS) 1

WEB SITE URL: http://www.ieaha.com

Position	NAME (LAST, FIRST)	EMAIL:	PHONE:
PRESIDENT:	NIEUWENHUIS, DAVE D	APOLLOELECTRICDAVE@YAHOO.COM	(509) 995-8264
VICE PRESIDENT:	Brunette, Mike	BRUNYBRUNETTE@YAHOO.COM	(509) 981-0305
SECRETARY:	KOWZAN, HOPE	HOPEKOWZAN@OUTLOOK.COM	(509) 227-9683
Treasurer:	VANDERPOOL, HAROLD	HBVANDERPOOL@GMAIL.COM	(509) 302-0699
ELECTED PNAHA REP:	NIEUWENHUIS, DAVE D	APOLLOELECTRICDAVE@YAHOO.COM	(509) 995-8264
ALT PNAHA REP:	THOMAS, JC	JCTHOMAS5@COMCAST.NET	(509) 714-1541
REGISTRAR:	ROGERS, ROB	ROBRODGERS21@GMAIL.COM	(509) 892-3938
SAFE SPORT COORDINATOR:	NIEUWENHUIS, DAVE D	APOLLOELECTRICDAVE@YAHOO.COM	(509) 995-8264
SCHEDULER:	Brunette, Mike	BRUNYBRUNETTE@YAHOO.COM	(509) 981-0305
DISCIPLINE PERSON:	NIEUWENHUIS, DAVE D	APOLLOELECTRICDAVE@YAHOO.COM	(509) 995-8264

ASSOCIATION NAME: KENT VALLEY HOCKEY ASSOCIATION (KVHA)

ASSOCIATION MAILING ADDRESS:

6015 S 240TH STREET WORK: (253) 850-2400

KENT, WA 98032

HOME ICE NAME & ADDRESS

KENT VALLEY ICE CENTRE WORK: (253) 850-2400 x102

6015 S 240TH STREET KENT, WA 98032

WEBSITE: WWW.KENTVALLEYHOCKEY.COM (# OF ICE SHEETS) 1

WEB SITE URL: WWW.KENTVALLEYHOCKEY.COM

BOARD OF DIRECTORS FOR 2022-2023

POSITION	Name (Last, First)	EMAIL:	PHONE:
PRESIDENT:	DONER, LEXI	LEXI@KENTVALLEYICECENTRE.NET	(206) 319-6183
VICE PRESIDENT:	GRAUER, LES	Les@kentvalleyicecentre.net	(206) 786-1976
SECRETARY:	RUTHERFORD, DAWN	DAWN@KENTVALLEYICECENTRE.NET	(206) 786-9357
TREASURER:	RUTHERFORD, DAWN	DAWN@KENTVALLEYICECENTRE.NET	(206) 786-9357
ELECTED PNAHA REP:	SMITH, HARRY	HOCKEYDIRECTOR@KENTVALLEYHOCKEY.COM	(253) 797-2523
ALT PNAHA REP:	RUTHERFORD, DAWN	DAWN@KENTVALLEYICECENTRE.NET	(206) 786-9357
REGISTRAR:	RUTHERFORD, DAWN	DAWN@KENTVALLEYICECENTRE.NET	(206) 786-9357
SAFE SPORT COORDINATOR:	SMITH, HARRY	HOCKEYDIRECTOR@KENTVALLEYHOCKEY.COM	(253) 797-2523
SCHEDULER:	RUTHERFORD, DAWN	DAWN@KENTVALLEYICECENTRE.NET	(206) 786-9357
DISCIPLINE PERSON:	SMITH, HARRY	HOCKEYDIRECTOR@KENTVALLEYHOCKEY.COM	(253) 797-2523

ASSOCIATION NAME: Moses Lake Youth Hockey Association

ASSOCIATION MAILING ADDRESS:

910 CAMAS PLACE WORK: 509-750-1070

Moses Lake, WA 98837

HOME ICE NAME & ADDRESS:

610 SOUTH YAKIMA WORK: 509-764-3805

Moses Lake, WA 98837

WEB SITE URL: www.mlyha.net (# Of Ice Sheets) 1 Total

POSITION	Name (Last, First)	EMAIL:	PHONE:
PRESIDENT:	PORTER, RYAN	RYANDPORTER@ME.COM	(509) 750-1070
VICE PRESIDENT:	-	-	-
SECRETARY:	HESSE, KELLI	BENANDKELIHESSE@YAHOO.COM	(509) 994-3524
Treasurer:	WILEY, TROY	TWILEY@HOTMAIL.COM	(509) 989-3536
ELECTED PNAHA REP:	PORTER, RYAN	RYANDPORTER@ME.COM	(509) 750-1070
ALT PNAHA REP:			
REGISTRAR:	RUSSELL, COURTNEY	CMRACHEK@YAHOO.COM	(509) 989-1376
SAFE SPORT COORDINATOR:	PORTER, TEYA	TEYAPORTER@ICLOUD.COM	(509) 431-1142
SCHEDULER:	BARLOW, ALLYSA	ALYSSAEBARLOW@GMAIL.COM	(509) 879-7480
DISCIPLINE PERSON:	FREIDIG, SCOTT	HALFRACKSOFTBALL@HOTMAIL.COM	(509) 855-1950

ASSOCIATION NAME: PUGET SOUND AMATEUR ICESPORTS ASSOCIAITON (PSAIA)

ASSOCIATION MAILING ADDRESS:

2645 S 80TH ST WORK: (253) 272-7825

TACOMA, WA 98409

HOME ICE NAME & ADDRESS

PUGET SOUND AMATEUR ICESPORTS ASSOCIATION WORK: (253) 272-7825

2645 S 80TH ST TACOMA, WA 98409

WEBSITE: HTTPS://PSAIA.LEAGUEAPPS.COM/ (# OF ICE SHEETS) 2

WEB SITE URL: https://psaia.leagueapps.com/

BOARD OF DIRECTORS FOR 2022-2023

Position	Name (Last, First)	EMAIL:	PHONE:
PRESIDENT:	VIDETO, STEVE	PUGESTSOUNDHOCKEY@COMCAST.COM	(253) 272-7825
VICE PRESIDENT:	Bradley, Patrick	PUGESTSOUNDHOCKEY@COMCAST.COM	(253) 272-7825
SECRETARY:	Burress, Laura	PUGESTSOUNDHOCKEY@COMCAST.COM	(253) 272-7825
Treasurer:	VIDETO, KRISTIN	PUGESTSOUNDHOCKEY@COMCAST.COM	(253) 272-7825
ELECTED PNAHA REP:	GASKELL, JESSE	PUGESTSOUNDHOCKEY@COMCAST.COM	(253) 272-7825
ALT PNAHA REP:	Kaufman, Rob	PSHCRKAUF@AOL.COM	(253) 973.1574
REGISTRAR:	Kaufman, Donna	PSHCDK@AOL.COM	(253) 495-4727
SAFE SPORT COORDINATOR:	Kaufman, Donna	PSHCDK@AOL.COM	(253) 495-4727
SCHEDULER:	Kaufman, Donna	PSHCDK@AOL.COM	(253) 495-4727
DISCIPLINE PERSON:	Kaufman, Donna	PSHCDK@AOL.COM	(253) 495-4727

ASSOCIATION NAME: SEATTLE JUNIOR HOCKEY ASSOCIATION (SJHA)

ASSOCIATION MAILING ADDRESS:

7012 220TH ST SW WORK: 425-672-7744 MOUNTLAKE TERRACE, WA 98043 FAX: 425-672-1920

HOME ICE NAME & ADDRESS

 OLYMPIC VIEW ICE ARENA
 WORK:
 425-672-9012

 22202 70TH AVENUE WEST
 FAX:
 425-672-9134

MOUNTLAKE TERRACE, WA 98043

LYNNWOOD ICE ARENA WORK: 425-640-9999
19803 68TH AVENUE WEST FAX: 425-771-5505

LYNNWOOD, WA 98036

WEBSITE: WWWS.SJHA.COM (# OF ICE SHEETS) 2

WEB SITE URL: www.sjha.com

POSITION	NAME (LAST, FIRST)	EMAIL:	PHONE:
President:	Murphy, Mike	PRESIDENT@SJHA.COM	(206) 909-2681
VICE PRESIDENT:	WHITAKER, GORD	GORDWHITAKER@HOTMAIL.COM	(206) 755-1829
SECRETARY:	SHIPPEE, MIKE	HSHIP2@AOL.COM	(425) 789-8893
Treasurer:	SHIPPEE, MIKE	HSHIP2@AOL.COM	(425) 789-8893
ELECTED PNAHA REP:	RUBIN, MARTY	Mary.rubin@sjha.com	(636) 399-9765
ALT PNAHA REP:	ARMSTRONG, IAN	WISA.GM@OUTLOOK.COM	(520) 940-3104
REGISTRAR:	MENZL, LISA	ADMIN@SJHA.COM	(425) 672-7744
SAFE SPORT COORDINATOR:	LEASE, AMANDA	SAFE SPORT@SJHA.COM	(425) 931-9195
SCHEDULER:	RUBIN, MARTY	Mary.rubin@sjha.com	(636) 399-9765
DISCIPLINE PERSON:	WHITAKER, GORD	GORDWHITAKER@HOTMAIL.COM	(205) 755-1829

ASSOCIATION NAME: SEATTLE KRAKEN YOUTH HOCKEY ASSOCIATION (SKYHA)

ASSOCIATION MAILING ADDRESS:

10601 5TH AVE NE STE 200, SEATTLE, WA 98125 WORK: (206) 279-7771 (YOUTH HOCKEY LINE)

HOME ICE NAME & ADDRESS

Kraken Community Iceplex Work: (206) 279-7770

10601 5TH AVE NE STE, SEATTLE, WA 98125

WEBSITE: HTTPS://WWW.KRAKENCOMMUNITYICEPLEX.COM/ (# OF ICE SHEETS): 3

BOARD OF DIRECTORS FOR 2022-2023

POSITION	Name (Last, First)	EMAIL:	PHONE:
President:	Lampman, Rob	RLAMPMAN@SEATTLEKRAKENHOCKEY.COM	(206) 979-5502
VICE PRESIDENT:	Hlinka, Martin	MHLINKA@SEATTLEKRAKENHOCKEY.COM	(206) 979-5502
SECRETARY:	LEESMENT, KRISTA	KLEESMENT@SEATTLEKRAKENHOCKEY.COM	(206) 979-5502
Treasurer:	LEESMENT, KRISTA	CBENITEZ@SEATTLEKRAKENHOCKEY.COM	(206) 979-5502
ELECTED PNAHA REP:	Hlinka, Martin	MHLINKA@SEATTLEKRAKENHOCKEY.COM	(206) 979-5502
ALT PNAHA REP:	BIRNBRICH, ANDREW	ABIRNBRICH@SEATTLEKRAKENHOCKEY.COM	(206) 279-7771
REGISTRAR:	BIRNBRICH, ANDREW	ABIRNBRICH@SEATTLEKRAKENHOCKEY.COM	(206) 279-7771
SAFE SPORT COORDINATOR:	WILLARD, DEAN	SAFE SPORT@SEATTLEKRAKENHOCKEY.COM	(206) 979-5502
SCHEDULER:	BIRNBRICH, ANDREW	ABIRNBRICH@SEATTLEKRAKENHOCKEY.COM	(206) 279-7771
DISCIPLINE PERSON:	HLINKA, MARTIN	MHLINKA@SEATTLEKRAKENHOCKEY.COM	(206) 979-5502

ASSOCIATION NAME: Sno-King Amateur Hockey Association (SKAHA)

ASSOCIATION MAILING ADDRESS:

14326 124TH AVE NE, KIRKLAND WA 98034 WORK: 425 821 7133

HOME ICE NAME & ADDRESS:

SNO-KING KIRKLAND 14326 124TH AVE NE WORK: 425 821 7133

KIRKLAND WA 98034

SNO-KING RENTON 12620 164TH AVE SE,

RENTON, WA 98059

SNO-KING SNOQUALMIE 35300 SE DOUGLAS ST, (# OF ICE SHEETS) 5 TOTAL

SNOQUALMIE, WA 98065

WEB SITE URL: WWW.SNOKINGHOCKEY.COM

Position	NAME (LAST, FIRST)	EMAIL:	PHONE:
PRESIDENT:	MAGUIRE, ROB	ROB.MAGUIRE@SNOKINGHOCKEY.COM	(425) 821-7133
VICE PRESIDENT:	ORT, JIM	JIM.ORT@SNOKINGHOCKEY.COM	(425) 821-7133
SECRETARY:	SWEENEY, JEFF	JEFF.SWEENEY@SNOKINGHOCKEY.COM	(206) 949-1869
Treasurer:	RODGERS, CLAYTON	CLAYTON.RODGERS@SNOKINGHOCKEY.COM	(206) 799-1429
ELECTED PNAHA REP:	Kirton, Doug	HOCKEYDIRECTOR@SNOKINGHOCKEY.COM	(425) 829-0173
ALT PNAHA REP:	HANCOCK, GORDON	GORDON.HANCOCK@SNOKINGHOCKEY.COM	(425) 652-8237
REGISTRAR:	HANCOCK, GORDON	GORDON.HANCOCK@SNOKINGHOCKEY.COM	(425) 652-8237
SAFE SPORT COORDINATOR:	Kirton, Doug	SAFE SPORT@SNOKINGHOCKEY.COM	(425) 929-0173
SCHEDULER:	HANCOCK, GORDON	GORDON.HANCOCK@SNOKINGHOCKEY.COM	(425) 652-8237
DISCIPLINE PERSON:	Kirton, Doug	HOCKEYDIRECTOR@SNOKINGHOCKEY.COM	(425) 829-0173

ASSOCIATION NAME: Spokane American Youth Hockey Association (SAYHA)

ASSOCIATION MAILING ADDRESS:

6321 NORTH ADDISON ST, SPOKANE WA 99208 WORK: (509) 327-7383

HOME ICE NAME & ADDRESS

EAGLES ICE ARENA WORK:

6321 NORTH ADDISON ST, SPOKANE WA 99208

WEBSITE: SPOKANEYOUTHHOCKEY.COM (# OF ICE SHEETS) 2

BOARD OF DIRECTORS FOR 2022-2023

Position	Name (Last, First)	EMAIL:	PHONE:
PRESIDENT:	Damskov, Luke	LUKE@THEADVISORSINSURANCE.COM	(509) 954-6443
VP HOCKEY OPS:	GREENWELL, JASON	VPHOCKEYOPS@SPOKANEJRCHIEFS.COM	(509) 481-8738
VP ADMINISTRATION:	STEVENS, SARAH	VPADMIN@SPOKANEJRCHIEFS.COM	(208) 651-2030
SECRETARY:	GOLEMBIEWSKI, JENN	SECRETARY@SPOKANEJRCHIEFS.COM	(334) 590-3882
TREASURER:	KILE, TERRA	TREASUER@SPOKANEJRCHIEFS.COM	(509) 280-5604
ELECTED PNAHA REP:	SIECK, KATIE	KATIE@SPOKANEJRCHIEFS.COM	(509) 879-1241
ALT PNAHA REP:	THURSTON, MATT	MATT@SPOKANEJRCHIEFS.COM	(208) 661-7708
REGISTRAR:	SIECK, KATIE	KATIE@SPOKANEJRCHIEFS.COM	(509) 879-1241
SAFE SPORT COORDINATOR:	TRUEX, MICHAEL	SAFESPORTDIRECTOR@SPOKANEJRCHIEFS.COM	(509) 990-0950
SCHEDULER:	BEVAN, KATHY	SAYHA.SCHEDULER@GMAIL.COM	(509) 879-3366
DISCIPLINE DIRECTOR:	STEVENS, SARAH	VPADMIN@SPOKANEJRCHIEFS.COM	(208) 651-2030

ASSOCIATION NAME: TRI-CITIES AMATEUR HOCKEY ASSOCIATION (TCAHA)

ASSOCIATION MAILING ADDRESS:

PO Box 7139, Kennewick, WA 99336 Work:

EMAIL: INFO@TCAHA.COM

HOME ICE NAME & ADDRESS

HAPO ICE PAVILION

6600 Burden Blvd, Pasco, WA 99301 Website: http://www.tcaha.com

(# OF ICE SHEETS) 1

20,112 01 21112010110101			
Position	NAME (LAST, FIRST)	EMAIL:	PHONE:
PRESIDENT:	McDaniel, Matt	PRESIDENT@TCAHA.COM	(509) 727-7236
VICE PRESIDENT:	KELLY, RYAN	VICEPRESIDENT@TCAHA.COM	(509) 727-4170
SECRETARY:	LUKINS, SHANNON	SECRETARY@TCAHA.COM	(509) 240-7991
Treasurer:	Kris Smith	TREASURER@TCAHA.COM	(509) 216-4656
ELECTED PNAHA REP:	JORDAN NELSON	HOCKEYDIRECTOR@TCAHA.COM	(509) 913-0034
ALTERNATE PNAHA REP:	MATT McDaniel	PRESIDENT@TCAHA.COM	(509) 727-7236
REGISTRAR:	JACKSON, JANINE	REGISTRATION@TCAHA.COM	(509) 948-8060
SAFESPORT COORDINATOR:	JACKSON, JANINE	REGISTRATION@TCAHA.COM	(509) 948-8060
SCHEDULER:	Kovis, Brandi	SCHEDULER@TCAHA.COM	(509) 539-8679
DISCIPLINE PERSON:	KELLY, RYAN	VICEPRESIDENT@TCAHA.COM	(509) 727-4170

ASSOCIATION NAME: VANCOUVER YOUTH HOCKEY ASSOCIATION (VYHA)

ASSOCIATION MAILING ADDRESS:

C/O MT. VIEW ICE ARENA WORK: (360) 896-8700

14313 SE MILL PLAIN BLVD, VANCOUVER, WA 98684

HOME ICE NAME & ADDRESS

MOUNTAIN VIEW ICE ARENA WORK: (360) 896-8700

14313 SE MILL PLAIN BLVD, VANCOUVER, WA 98684

WEBSITE: HTTP://WWW.VYHA.ORG (# OF ICE SHEETS) 1

BOARD OF DIRECTORS FOR 2022-2023

POSITION	Name (Last, First)	EMAIL:	PHONE:
PRESIDENT:	KNOERL, ROBERT	ICEMNGR@YAHOO.COM	(503) 332-7629
VICE PRESIDENT:	Ogee, Tom	Togee22@gmail.com	(505) 508-6485
SECRETARY:	GODDARD, DONNA	Donnaly66@gmail.com	(360) 798-0607
Treasurer:	KNOERL, ROBERT	ICEMNGR@YAHOO.COM	(503) 332-7629
ELECTED PNAHA REP:	KNOERL, ROBERT	ICEMNGR@YAHOO.COM	(503) 332-7629
ALT PNAHA REP:	OGEE, TOM	Togee22@gmail.com	(505) 508-6485
REGISTRAR:	OGEE, TOM	Togee22@gmail.com	(505) 508-6485
SAFE SPORT COORDINATOR:	KNOERL, ROBERT	ICEMNGR@YAHOO.COM	(503) 332-7629
SCHEDULER:	KNOERL, ROBERT	ICEMNGR@YAHOO.COM	(503) 332-7629
DISCIPLINE PERSON:	OGEE, TOM	TOGEE22@GMAIL.COM	(505) 508-6485

ASSOCIATION NAME: WENATCHEE AMATEUR HOCKEY ASSOCIATION (WAHA)

ASSOCIATION MAILING ADDRESS:

PO Box 1065, Wenatchee, WA 98801 Work: (509) 670-7992

HOME ICE NAME & ADDRESS

TOWN TOYOTA CENTER WORK: (509) 667-7847 1300 WALLA WALLA AVE, WENATCHEE WA 98801 FAX: (509) 667-7840

WEBSITE: HTTP://WWW.WENATCHEEHOCKEY.COM (# OF ICE SHEETS) 2

POSITION	NAME (LAST, FIRST)	EMAIL:	PHONE:
PRESIDENT:	McDougall, Bryon	BMCDOUGALL@MCDOUGALLFRUIT.COM	(509) 670-8770
VICE PRESIDENT:	SELLERS, TEKA	KARTEKASELLERS@GMAIL.COM	(360) 927-5930
SECRETARY:	JANES, JESI	JESIANNJANES@OUTLOOK.COM	(509) 670-7992
Treasurer:	HACKENMILLER, CARA	Carahackenmiller@gmail.com	(206) 919-29259
ELECTED PNAHA REP:	SELLERS, TEKA	KARTEKASELLERS@GMAIL.COM	(360) 927-5930
ALTERNATE PNAHA REP:	McDougall, Bryon	BMCDOUGALL@MCDOUGALLFRUIT.COM	(509) 670-8700
REGISTRAR:	JANES, JESI	JESIANNJANES@OUTLOOK.COM	(509) 670-7992
SAFESPORT COORDINATOR:	TOOMBS, ALISHA	EACTOOMBS@GMAIL.COM	(541) 223-4465
SCHEDULER:	SELLERS, TEKA	KARTEKASELLERS@GMAIL.COM	(360) 927-5930
DISCIPLINE PERSON:	TOOMBS, ALISHA	eactoombs@gmail.com	(541) 223-4465

ASSOCIATION NAME: WEST SOUND HOCKEY CLUB (WSHC)

ASSOCIATION MAILING ADDRESS:

1950 HOMER JONES DR, BREMERTON, WA 98310 WORK: (360) 479-7465 FAX: (360) 479-9028

HOME ICE NAME & ADDRESS

BREMERTON ICE CENTER WORK: (360) 479-7465 1950 HOMER JONES DR, BREMERTON, WA 98310 FAX: (360) 479-9028

WEBSITE: WWW.BREMERTONICECENTER.COM (# OF ICE SHEETS) 1

BOARD OF DIRECTORS FOR 2022-2023

POSITION	Name (Last, First)	EMAIL:	PHONE:
President:			
VICE PRESIDENT:			
SECRETARY:			
Treasurer:			
ELECTED PNAHA REP:	DELBARTO, PENNY	PDELBARTO@BREMERTONICECENTER.COM	(360) 479-7465
ALT PNAHA REP:	SPINALE, CHASE	CSPINALE@BREMERTONICECENTER.COM	(360) 479-7465
REGISTRAR:	DELBARTO, PENNY	PDELBARTO@BREMERTONICECENTER.COM	(360) 479-7465
SAFESPORT COORDINATOR:	DELBARTO, PENNY	PDELBARTO@BREMERTONICECENTER.COM	(360) 479-7465
SCHEDULER:	DELBARTO, PENNY	PDELBARTO@BREMERTONICECENTER.COM	(360) 479-7465
DISCIPLINE PERSON(S):	DELBARTO, PENNY	PDELBARTO@BREMERTONICECENTER.COM	(360) 479-7465
	SPINALE, CHASE	CSPINALE@BREMERTONICECENTER.COM	

ASSOCIATION NAME: WESTERN WASHINGTON FEMALE HOCKEY ASSOCIATION (WWFHA)

ASSOCIATION MAILING ADDRESS:

PO Box 77687, SEATTLE, WA 98177 WORK: (206) 413-8080

HOME ICE NAME & ADDRESS

Kraken Community Iceplex Work:

10601 5TH AVE NE, SEATTLE, WA 98125

WEBSITE: HTTP://WWFHA.COM (# OF ICE SHEETS) 3

Position	Name (Last, First)	EMAIL:	PHONE:
President:	HILL, LES	LESHILL@WWFHA.COM	(904) 993-2545
VICE PRESIDENT:	ESHELMAN, ABBY	ABBYSHELMAN@WWFHA.COM	
SECRETARY:	WALTON, KAYLA	KAYLAWALTON@WWFHA.COM	(775) 230-3064
TREASURER:	Dunn, Kim	KIMDUNN@WWFHA.COM	
ELECTED PNAHA REP:	HILL, LES	LESHILL@WWFHA.COM	(904) 993-2545
ALT PNAHA REP:	WALTON, KAYLA	KAYLAWALTON@WWFHA.COM	(775) 230-3064
REGISTRAR:	HILL, LES	LESHILL@WWFHA.COM	(904) 993-2545
SAFE SPORT COORDINATOR:	WALTON, KAYLA	KAYLAWALTON@WWFHA.COM	(775) 230-3064
SCHEDULER:	KIDWELL, DANA	DANAKIDWELL@WWFHA.COM	
DISCIPLINE PERSON:			

ASSOCIATION NAME: WHATCOM COUNTY AMATEUR HOCKEY ASSOCIATION (WCAHA)

ASSOCIATION MAILING ADDRESS:

PO Box 28938, Bellingham, WA 98228 Work: (415) 275-0616 (Messages only)

EMAIL: BOARD@WHATCOMHOCKEY.COM

HOME ICE NAME & ADDRESS

BELLINGHAM SPORTSPLEX WORK: (360) 676-1919

1225 CIVIC FIELD WAY, BELLINGHAM, WA 98229

WEBSITE: WWW.WHATCOMHOCKEY.COM (# OF ICE SHEETS) 1

BOARD OF DIRECTORS FOR 2022-2023

POSITION	Name (Last, First)	EMAIL:	PHONE:
PRESIDENT:	OWEN BROWN	PRESIDENT@WHATCOMHOCKEY.COM	(310) 343-3785
VICE PRESIDENT:	ANGELA ANDERSON	VICEPRESIDENT@WHATCOMHOCKEY.COM	(360) 255-3809
SECRETARY:	Jarid Norman	SECRETARY@WHATCOMHOCKEY.COM	(360) 224-5175
Treasurer:	STACEY BEIER	TREASURER@WHATCOMHOCKEY.COM	
ELECTED PNAHA REP:	OWEN BROWN	PRESIDENT@WHATCOMHOCKEY.COM	(310) 343-3785
ALT PNAHA REP:	MEREDITH MCILMOYLE	REGISTRAR@WHATCOMHOCKEY.COM	(360) 708-4416
REGISTRAR:	MEREDITH MCILMOYLE	REGISTRAR@WHATCOMHOCKEY.COM	(360) 708-4416
SAFESPORT COORDINATOR:	Erin Laska	RISK@WHATCOMHOCKEY.COM	
SCHEDULER:	MEREDITH MCILMOYLE	REGISTRAR@WHATCOMHOCKEY.COM	(360) 708-4416
DISCIPLINE PERSON:	OWEN BROWN	PRESIDENT@WHATCOMHOCKEY.COM	(310) 343-3785

ASSOCIATION NAME: WINTHROP YOUTH HOCKEY ASSOCIATION (WYHA)

ASSOCIATION MAILING ADDRESS:

208 WHITE AVE, WINTHROP, WA 98862 WORK: (509) 996-4199

HOME ICE NAME & ADDRESS

WINTROP RINK WORK: (509) 996-4199

208 WHITE AVE, WINTHROP, WA 98862 EMAIL: INFO@WINTHROPRINK.ORG

WEBSITE: HTTP://WINTHROPRINK.ORG/YOUTHHOCKEY (# OF ICE SHEETS) 1 - OUTDOOR

POSITION	Name (Last, First)	EMAIL:	PHONE:
PRESIDENT:	PAUL BUTLER	PAUL@HELI-SKI.COM	(509) 996-4199
VICE PRESIDENT:	KELLI ROTSTAN	KELLI@ROTSTAN.ORG	(509) 996-4199
SECRETARY:	AMBER WILLIAMS	AWIZZUMS1@GMAIL.COM	(509) 996-4199
TREASURER:	RICK MILLS	MILLS@METHOWNET.COM	(509) 996-4199
ELECTED PNAHA REP:	ANDREW WALLS	Program_manager@winthrorink.org	(509) 996-4199
ALT PNAHA REP:			
REGISTRAR:	Andrew Walls	Program_manager@winthrorink.org	(509) 996-4199
SAFE SPORT COORDINATOR:	ANDREW WALLS	Program_manager@winthrorink.org	(509) 996-4199
Executive Director:	ANDREW WALLS	Program_manager@winthrorink.org	(509) 996-4199
SCHEDULER:	ANDREW WALLS	Program_manager@winthrorink.org	(509) 996-4199
DISCIPLINE PERSON:	PAUL BUTLER	PAUL@HELI-SKI.COM	(509) 996-4199

ASSOCIATION NAME: YAKIMA AMATEUR HOCKEY ASSOCIATION (YAHA)

ASSOCIATION MAILING ADDRESS:

PO Box 10682, Yakima, WA 98909 Work: (509) 910-3675

HOME ICE NAME & ADDRESS

YAKIMA ICE RINK WORK:

1700 E BEECH ST, YAKIMA WA 90907

WEBSITE: HTTP://WWW.YAKIMAICERINK.COM (# OF ICE SHEETS) 1

POSITION	Name (Last, First)	EMAIL:	PHONE:
PRESIDENT:	BARTHELD, CHRIS	CHRISBARTHELD@YAHOO.COM	(509) 910-3675
VICE PRESIDENT:	PIERONE, SAVANNAH	SAVANNAHPIERONE@GMAIL.COM	(509) 230-9199
SECRETARY:	Allie Giddings	ALLIEGIDDINGS2@GMAIL.COM	(509) 9010199
TREASURER:	STOOTHOFF, TODD	TSTOOTHOFF@GMAIL.COM	(509) 985-7226
ELECTED PNAHA REP:	SUTHERLAND, CHRIS	CJSALBERTA@GMAIL.COM	(509) 731-0623
ALT PNAHA REP:	LOOSE, LARRY	LLOOSE@GMAIL.COM	(509) 895-9743
REGISTRAR:	SUTHERLAND, CHRIS	CJSALBERTA@GMAIL.COM	(509) 731-0623
SAFE SPORT COORDINATOR:	Dunbar, Mark	BYPADDLEORSADDLE@GMAIL.COM	(509) 480-0629
SCHEDULER:	PIERONE, SAVANNAH	SAVANNAHPIERONE@GMAIL.COM	(509) 230-9199
DISCIPLINE PERSON:			

PNAHA CONSTITUTION

NOTES:	

ARTICLE I - NAME

THE NAME OF THIS ASSOCIATION SHALL BE THE "PACIFIC NORTHWEST AMATEUR HOCKEY ASSOCIATION", HEREINAFTER REFERRED TO AS PNAHA. PNAHA SHALL BE AFFILIATED WITH THE AMATEUR HOCKEY ASSOCIATION OF THE UNITED STATES, HEREINAFTER REFERRED TO AS USA HOCKEY.

ARTICLE II - LOCATION

THE LOCATION OF THE PRINCIPAL OFFICE OF THE PNAHA SHALL BE THE ADDRESS OF THE PRESIDENT.

ARTICLE III - NON-PROFIT

THIS ASSOCIATION SHALL NOT BE CONDUCTED FOR PECUNIARY PROFIT AND SHALL HAVE NO CAPITAL STOCK.

ARTICLE IV - SUCCESSION

THIS ASSOCIATION SHALL HAVE PERPETUAL SUCCESSION.

ARTICLE V - PURPOSE

THE PURPOSE FOR WHICH THIS ASSOCIATION IS FORMED IS:

- 1. TO STIMULATE INTEREST IN, TO ENCOURAGE, IMPROVE, AND GOVERN ORGANIZED AMATEUR HOCKEY WITHIN PNAHA.
- 2. TO DEVELOP, PROMOTE AND ENCOURAGE THE SOCIAL, PHYSICAL AND MENTAL WELFARE OF ALL PLAYERS.
- 3. TO CONDUCT ICE HOCKEY TOURNAMENTS AND TO SELECT REPRESENTATIVE TEAMS FOR COMPETITION IN PNAHA, REGIONAL AND NATIONAL CHAMPIONSHIPS,
- 4. TO ENCOURAGE AND AID IN THE DEVELOPMENT OF HIGH SCHOOL AND COLLEGE HOCKEY.
- 5. TO ASSOCIATE WITH THE USA HOCKEY AND OTHER ICE HOCKEY ASSOCIATIONS AS SANCTIONED BY USA HOCKEY.

ARTICLE VI - GOVERNMENT STRUCTURE AND TENURE

SECTION 1 ELECTED OFFICERS

THE OFFICERS OF THIS ASSOCIATION SHALL BE ELECTED BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS. THEY SHALL BE A PRESIDENT, FIRST VICE PRESIDENT, SECOND VICE PRESIDENT AND A SECRETARY/TREASURER. ALL ELECTED OFFICERS OF THIS ASSOCIATION SHALL SERVE FOR A TERM OF TWO (2) YEARS, UNLESS REMOVED FOR CAUSE. ALL ELECTED OFFICERS SHALL ASSUME OFFICE UPON ELECTION.

SECTION 2 BOARD OF DIRECTORS

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS SHALL BE COMPOSED OF A DIRECTOR ELECTED BY THE REGISTERED TEAMS IN EACH QUALIFIED MEMBER ASSOCIATION. (SEE BY-LAWS ARTICLE VI FOR QUALIFIED PROCEDURES). EACH DIRECTOR SHALL SERVE IN THAT CAPACITY FOR A PERIOD OF ONE (1) YEAR.

A. IN THE EVENT THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS RECOMMENDS AN AFFILIATE REFEREE-IN-CHIEF, HIS/HER TERM OF OFFICE SHALL COINCIDE WITH THAT OF THE ELECTED OFFICERS.

- B. IN THE EVENT THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS RECOMMENDS AN AFFILIATE REGISTRAR, HIS/HER TERM OF OFFICE SHALL COINCIDE WITH THAT OF THE ELECTED OFFICERS.
- C. In the event the Board of Directors recommends an Affiliate Coaching Director, his/her term of office shall coincide with that of the elected Officers.

SECTION 3 USA HOCKEY OFFICERS

SHOULD ANY OFFICERS OF USA HOCKEY RESIDE WITHIN THE GEOGRAPHICAL BOUNDARIES OF THE PNAHA THEY SHALL AUTOMATICALLY BECOME MEMBER OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS. (NON-VOTING).

ARTICLE VII - MEMBERSHIP

SECTION 1 QUALIFICATION AND REVUE

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS MAY DETERMINE THE QUALIFICATIONS AND MANNER IN WHICH ANY ASSOCIATION, LEAGUE, TEAM, INDIVIDUAL, GROUP OR ANY OTHER ORGANIZATION MAY BECOME A MEMBER OF THE PNAHA. THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS SHALL HAVE THE POWER AND DUTY TO REVIEW ALL APPLICATIONS FOR MEMBERSHIP BY ANY ASSOCIATION, LEAGUE, TEAM, INDIVIDUAL, GROUP OR ANY OTHER ORGANIZATION AT ITS DISCRETION.

SECTION 2 COMPLIANCE

Any association, league, team, individual, group or any other organization admitted to the PNAHA, shall by their admission indicate their willingness to comply with the Constitution, By-Laws and Rules and Regulations of the PNAHA as well as those of USA Hockey.

SECTION 3 COURT ACTION - RESOLUTION OF DISPUTES

A. PROCEDURE FOR ARBITRATION OF DISPUTES

SEE THE CURRENT USA HOCKEY ANNUAL GUIDE.

B. EXCLUSIVE REMEDY

FOR THOSE CONTROVERSIES OR DISPUTES WHICH FALL WITHIN THE JURISDICTION OF THESE BY-LAWS, THE PROCEDURE SET FORTH HEREIN SHALL CONSTITUTE THE SOLE AND EXCLUSIVE REMEDY FOR MEMBERS OF THIS ASSOCIATION OR ANY OF ITS MEMBER ORGANIZATIONS. FAILURE TO FOLLOW AND ABIDE BY THE PROVISIONS OF THIS BY-LAW SHALL SUBJECT THE OFFENDING MEMBER OR MEMBER ORGANIZATION TO THE FOLLOWING:

1. LIABILITY OF EXPENSES

LIABILITY FOR ANY AND ALL EXPENSES, INCLUDING REASONABLE ATTORNEY FEES, INCURRED BY THIS ASSOCIATION AS A RESULT OF THE OFFENDING CONDUCT OF THE MEMBER ORGANIZATION OR MEMBER.

2. SANCTIONS

IMMEDIATE SUSPENSION AND/OR DISQUALIFICATION FROM MEMBERSHIP IN THIS ASSOCIATION OR ANY OF ITS MEMBER ORGANIZATIONS.

SECTION 4 SUSPENSION

ALL PLAYERS, TEAMS, LEAGUES, INDIVIDUALS, GROUPS OR OTHER ORGANIZATIONS SUSPENDED BY USA HOCKEY, SHALL BE AUTOMATICALLY SUSPENDED BY THE PNAHA, AND SHALL REMAIN SUSPENDED UNTIL SUCH SUSPENSION IS LIFTED BY USA HOCKEY.

ARTICLE VIII - ELECTIONS

SECTION 1 OFFICERS

THE PRESIDENT, FIRST VICE-PRESIDENT, SECOND VICE-PRESIDENT AND THE SECRETARY/TREASURER SHALL BE ELECTED FOR A TERM OF TWO YEARS. THE ELECTION SHALL TAKE PLACE AT THE SPRING/SUMMER GENERAL MEETING OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS. IF A SPRING/SUMMER GENERAL MEETING IS NOT HELD, THEN THE ELECTION SHALL TAKE PLACE AT THE ANNUAL FALL MEETING. THE PRESIDENT AND 2ND VICE PRESIDENT WILL BE ELECTED IN ODD NUMBERED YEARS. THE SECRETARY-TREASURER AND 1ST VICE PRESIDENT WILL BE ELECTED IN EVEN NUMBERED YEARS. (THE ELECTED OFFICERS OF THE PNAHA SHALL BE NOMINATED AND ELECTED BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS, BUT NOT REQUIRED TO BE A MEMBER OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OR ANY ASSOCIATION OF PNAHA) VACANCIES IN THE ELECTED OFFICES SHALL BE FILLED UPON APPOINTMENT BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS. SUCH APPOINTEE(S) NEED NOT BE A MEMBER OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND SUCH APPOINTMENT SHALL FULFILL THE REMAINDER OF THE TERM OF THE VACATED OFFICE.

SECTION 2 DIRECTORS

A DIRECTOR AND ALTERNATE SHALL BE ELECTED BY A DEMOCRATIC PROCESS BY THE REGISTERED TEAMS IN A QUALIFIED MEMBER ASSOCIATION WITH WHOM THEY ARE A MEMBER AND CERTIFIED BY THE PRESIDENT AND SECRETARY OF THAT ASSOCIATION. (SEE BY-LAWS ARTICLE VI FOR QUALIFICATIONS.) A DIRECTOR AND ALTERNATE ELECTED BY A MEMBER ASSOCIATION SHALL SERVE A TERM OF ONE (1) YEAR. IN THE EVENT OF VACANCY, THE AFFECTED ASSOCIATION SHALL APPOINT A SUCCESSOR FOR THE REMAINDER OF THE TERM.

ARTICLE IX – MEETINGS

AT LEAST THREE (3) MEETINGS OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS SHALL BE ACCOMPLISHED IN EACH CALENDAR YEAR.

SECTION 1 ANNUAL MEETING

THE ANNUAL MEETING OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS SHALL BE HELD DURING THE MONTH OF SEPTEMBER (ANNUAL FALL MEETING) OF EACH YEAR.

SECTION 2 GENERAL MEETINGS

A GENERAL MEETING OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS SHALL BE HELD DURING THE MONTHS OF JANUARY (WINTER MEETING) AND JUNE (SPRING/SUMMER MEETING) EACH YEAR.

SECTION 3 SPECIAL MEETINGS

Special meeting(s) of the Board of Directors may be called by the President and/or majority of members of the Board of Directors. 1. Notice of any special meetings of the Board of Directors shall be communicated by at least five (5) days prior to the meeting.

SECTION 4 DATE, TIME AND PLACE

The date, time and place of any annual or general meeting shall be established by the President and communicated to the membership by the Secretary/Treasurer no later than thirty (30) days prior to the meeting.

SECTION 5 MANNER OF ACTING

THE ACT OF A MAJORITY OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS PRESENT AT A MEETING AT WHICH A QUORUM IS PRESENT, SHALL BE THE ACT OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS, EXCEPT WHERE OTHERWISE PROVIDED BY LAW OR BY THE BY-LAWS OF THIS ASSOCIATION.

SECTION 6 QUORUM

TWO-THIRDS OF THE MEMBERS OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS SHALL CONSTITUTE A QUORUM IN THE TRANSACTION OF BUSINESS AT ANY MEETING OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS, PROVIDED THAT IF LESS THAN TWO-THIRDS OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS ARE PRESENT, THEY MAY ADJOURN THE MEETING.

SECTION 7 AGENDA

ITEMS TO BE PLACED ON THE AGENDA AT THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS MEETING MUST BE PRESENTED TO THE PNAHA
PRESIDENT IN WRITING, NOT LATER THAN THREE (3) WEEKS PRIOR TO THE DATE OF THE MEETING. 1. ITEMS SUBMITTED
MUST INCLUDE THE SPECIFIC WORDING OF THE PROPOSAL. 2. THE COMPLETE AGENDA WILL BE PUBLISHED AND SENT TO ALL
MEMBERS OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS NOT LATER THAN TWO (2) WEEKS PRIOR TO THE DATE OF THE MEETING.

SECTION 8 PROXY VOTING

VOTING BY PROXY SHALL NOT BE ALLOWED.

SECTION 9 VOTING RIGHTS

AT ANY MEETING OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS, SPECIAL COMMITTEE, VOTING SHALL BE BY A SHOW OF HANDS UNLESS THE MEETING DECIDES UPON A BALLOT. DECISION SHALL BE MADE BY A SIMPLE MAJORITY OF THE VOTES CAST, UNLESS OTHERWISE STATED IN THE CONSTITUTION, BY-LAWS, RULES AND REGULATIONS OF THIS ASSOCIATION. THE VICE-PRESIDENTS, SECRETARY/TREASURER AND DIRECTORS SHALL EACH HAVE ONE (1) VOTE. THE PRESIDENT SHALL NOT VOTE EXCEPT IN CASE OF A TIE.

ARTICLE X – AMENDMENTS

AMENDMENTS OR ALTERATIONS TO THIS CONSTITUTION SHALL BE BY A TWO-THIRDS (2/3) VOTE OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS PRESENT. THE SECRETARY/TREASURER SHALL NOTIFY ALL MEMBERS OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF ANY CHANGES IN THE CONSTITUTION, BY-LAWS, RULES AND REGULATIONS OF THIS ASSOCIATION WITHIN THIRTY (30) DAYS OF THE DATE OF THE CHANGE.

SECTION 1 NOTIFICATION OF INTENT TO AMEND

THE SECRETARY-TREASURER SHALL NOTIFY ALL ASSOCIATION MEMBERS OF ANY INTENTIONS TO AMEND THE BY-LAWS OR CONSTITUTION OF PNAHA. This notification shall be in writing, stating the suggested wording of the proposal, 45 days prior to the meeting at which the proposal will be voted on. Any individual or association wishing to amend the By-Laws or Constitution must submit its suggestion, in the proper format, 60 days prior to the meeting at which the proposal will be voted on.

ARTICLE XI - POLICIES SECTION

SECTION 1 ZERO TOLERANCE POLICY (REFERENCE FROM USA HOCKEY ANNUAL GUIDE 21-22)

USA HOCKEY IS COMMITTED TO CREATING A SAFE AND FAIR ENVIRONMENT FOR ALL PARTICIPANTS. RESPECT FOR THE GAME, THE OPPONENTS, COACHES AND OFFICIALS IS A CRITICAL PART OF THE ENVIRONMENT THAT IS CREATED. THIS ZERO TOLERANCE POLICY SUMMARIZES REQUIRED ACTIONS TO BE TAKEN WHEN VIOLATIONS OCCUR.

ALL PLAYERS, COACHES, OFFICIALS, TEAM OFFICIALS AND ADMINISTRATORS AND PARENTS/ SPECTATORS ARE REQUIRED TO MAINTAIN A SPORTSMANLIKE AND EDUCATIONAL ATMOSPHERE BEFORE, DURING AND AFTER ALL USA HOCKEY-SANCTIONED GAMES. THUS, THE FOLLOWING POINTS OF EMPHASIS MUST BE IMPLEMENTED BY ALL USA HOCKEY PARTICIPANTS AND SPECTATORS.

PLAYERS

A MINOR PENALTY FOR UNSPORTSMANLIKE CONDUCT (ZERO TOLERANCE) SHALL BE ASSESSED WHENEVER A PLAYER:

- 1. OPENLY DISPUTES OR ARGUES ANY DECISION BY AN OFFICIAL.
- 2. TAUNTS OR INCITES AN OPPONENT.
- 3. VISUALLY CREATES A DISTURBANCE DURING THE GAME.

ANY TIME THAT A PLAYER PERSISTS IN ANY OF THESE ACTIONS, THEY SHALL BE ASSESSED A MISCONDUCT PENALTY. A GAME MISCONDUCT SHALL RESULT IF THE PLAYER CONTINUES SUCH ACTION.

COACHES

A MINOR PENALTY FOR UNSPORTSMANLIKE CONDUCT (ZERO TOLERANCE) SHALL BE ASSESSED WHENEVER A COACH:

- 1. OPENLY DISPUTES OR ARGUES ANY DECISION BY AN OFFICIAL.
- 2. USES OBSCENE, PROFANE OR ABUSIVE LANGUAGE TO ANYONE AT ANY TIME.
- 3. VISUALLY DISPLAYS ANY SIGN OF DISSATISFACTION WITH AN OFFICIAL'S DECISION INCLUDING STANDING ON THE BOARDS OR STANDING IN THE BENCH DOORWAY WITH THE INTENT OF INCITING THE OFFICIALS, PLAYERS OR SPECTATORS.

ANY TIME THAT A COACH PERSISTS IN ANY OF THESE ACTIONS, THEY SHALL BE ASSESSED A GAME MISCONDUCT PENALTY.

In addition, any player/coach who uses language that is hateful, or discriminatory in nature anywhere in the rink before, during or after the game shall be penalized under Rule 601(e.3) resulting in a match penalty. Such behavior is reprehensible and has absolutely no place in our game. The offender shall be immediately suspended until a hearing is conducted by the governing USA Hockey Affiliate or Junior League.

OFFICIALS

EVERY ATTEMPT SHOULD BE MADE BY THE LOCAL OFFICIALS ASSOCIATION TO TRAIN AND SCHEDULE OFFICIALS OF THE APPROPRIATE LEVEL AND COMPETENCE FOR EACH GAMES LEVEL AND AGE OF PLAY.

OFFICIALS ARE REQUIRED TO CONDUCT THEMSELVES IN A BUSINESSLIKE, SPORTSMANLIKE, IMPARTIAL AND CONSTRUCTIVE MANNER AT ALL TIMES. THE ACTIONS OF AN OFFICIAL MUST BE ABOVE REPROACH. ACTIONS SUCH AS "BAITING" OR INCITING PLAYERS OR COACHES ARE STRICTLY PROHIBITED.

OFFICIALS ARE STRONGLY ENCOURAGED TO INTRODUCE THEMSELVES TO THE COACHES PRIOR TO THE GAME TO ESTABLISH A BASIS OF MUTUAL RESPECT AND TO FACILITATE/DEFINE IN-GAME COMMUNICATION.

OFFICIALS ARE AMBASSADORS OF THE GAME AND MUST ALWAYS CONDUCT THEMSELVES WITH THIS RESPONSIBILITY IN MIND.

PARENTS/SPECTATORS

PARENTS ARE EXPECTED TO BE A POSITIVE ROLE MODEL BY TREATING ALL PLAYERS, COACHES, OFFICIALS AND FELLOW SPECTATORS WITH RESPECT AND SUPPORT.

THE GAME WILL BE STOPPED BY GAME OFFICIALS WHEN PARENTS/SPECTATORS DISPLAYING INAPPROPRIATE AND DISRUPTIVE BEHAVIOR INTERFERE WITH OTHER SPECTATORS OR THE GAME. THE GAME OFFICIALS WILL IDENTIFY VIOLATORS TO THE COACHES FOR THE PURPOSE OF REMOVING PARENTS/SPECTATORS FROM THE SPECTATOR'S VIEWING AND GAME AREA.

ONCE REMOVED, PLAY WILL RESUME. LOST TIME WILL NOT BE REPLACED AND VIOLATORS MAY BE SUBJECT TO FURTHER DISCIPLINARY ACTION BY THE LOCAL GOVERNING BODY. THIS INAPPROPRIATE AND DISRUPTIVE BEHAVIOR SHALL INCLUDE:

- 1. USE OF OBSCENE, PROFANE OR ABUSIVE LANGUAGE TO ANYONE AT ANY TIME.
- 2. TAUNTING OF PLAYERS, COACHES, OFFICIALS OR OTHER SPECTATORS BY MEANS OF BAITING, RIDICULING, THREAT OF PHYSICAL VIOLENCE OR PHYSICAL VIOLENCE.
- 3. THROWING OF ANY OBJECT IN THE SPECTATORS VIEWING AREA, PLAYERS BENCH, PENALTY BOX OR ON ICE SURFACE, DIRECTED IN ANY MANNER AS TO CREATE A SAFETY HAZARD.

USA HOCKEY STRONGLY RECOMMENDS THAT EACH LOCAL YOUTH HOCKEY REGISTERED TEAM DESIGNATE A VOLUNTEER TO SERVE AS A PARENT/SPECTATOR MONITOR DURING ALL TEAM GAMES. THIS MONITOR WILL, IDEALLY, ADDRESS INAPPROPRIATE SPECTATOR BEHAVIOR PRIOR TO THE SITUATION ESCALATING TO THE POINT IT HAS AN IMPACT ON THE GAME. THIS DESIGNATED MONITOR SHALL HAVE THE FULL SUPPORT OF THE YOUTH HOCKEY ASSOCIATION AND THE ARENA MANAGEMENT TO REMOVE ANY SPECTATOR IN VIOLATION OF THE ZERO TOLERANCE POLICY.

ADMINISTRATORS

ADMINISTRATORS ARE THE KEY TO BUILDING A POSITIVE, GROWING AND SAFE USA HOCKEY COMMUNITY. CREATE A CULTURE THAT IS:

- 1. WELCOMING
- 2. PROTECTED
- 3. RESPECTED
- 4. CONNECTED
- 5. VALUED

ADMINISTRATORS ARE RESPONSIBLE FOR ENFORCING THE RULES AND POLICIES ESTABLISHED AND APPROVED BY USA HOCKEY, THEIR AFFILIATE, AND THEIR ASSOCIATION OR CLUB. THIS INCLUDES TAKING DISCIPLINARY ACTION, AS DEEMED APPROPRIATE, TOWARDS ANY PARENT/SPECTATOR REMOVED FROM A GAME AS A RESULT OF A VIOLATION OF THE ZERO TOLERANCE POLICY.

SECTION 2 SAFE SPORT (REFERENCE www.usahockey.com/SafeSportprogram)

THE SAFETY OF ITS PARTICIPANTS IS OF PARAMOUNT IMPORTANCE TO USA HOCKEY. USA HOCKEY SAFE SPORT IS THE ORGANIZATION'S PROGRAM RELATED TO OFF-ICE SAFETY.

USA HOCKEY HAS LONG HAD SYSTEMS IN PLACE TO PROTECT ITS PARTICIPANTS FROM PHYSICAL ABUSE, SEXUAL ABUSE AND OTHER TYPES OF ABUSE AND MISCONDUCT THAT CAN BE HARMFUL TO YOUTH HOCKEY PLAYERS AND OTHER PARTICIPANTS. THESE INCLUDE WITHOUT LIMITATION PHYSICAL ABUSE, SEXUAL ABUSE, SCREENING, LOCKER ROOM SUPERVISION AND HAZING POLICIES, IN ADDITION TO CODES OF CONDUCT APPLICABLE TO ADMINISTRATORS, COACHES, OFFICIALS, PARENTS, PLAYERS AND SPECTATORS. THE USA HOCKEY SAFE SPORT HANDBOOK IS INTENDED TO UPDATE AND COLLECT USA HOCKEY'S VARIOUS POLICIES TO PROTECT ITS PARTICIPANTS FROM ALL TYPES OF MISCONDUCT AND ABUSE.

SECTION 3 SCREENING POLICY

PLEASE REFER TO THE USA HOCKEY NATIONAL LEVEL BACKGROUND SCREENING POLICY WWW.USAHOCKEY.COM/BACKGROUNDSCREEN

SECTION 4 RECORDS RETENTION POLICY (POLICY ADOPTED 2011 ADDED TO GUIDEBOOK SEPTEMBER 2023)

THE PNAHA ("PACIFIC NORTHWEST AMATEUR HOCKEY ASSOCIATION"), USA HOCKEY SHALL RETAIN RECORDS IN AN ORDERLY FASHION FOR TIME PERIODS THAT COMPLY WITH LEGAL AND GOVERNMENT REQUIREMENTS.

RECORD RETENTION GUIDELINES. THE FOLLOWING HOLDING PERIODS SHALL BE USED FOR THE MAINTENANCE OF THE DOCUMENTS LISTED BELOW:

ACCOUNTING RECORDS

	ACCOUNTS PAYABLE	7 YEARS
•	ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE	7 YEARS
•	AUDIT REPORTS	PERMANENT
•	CHART OF ACCOUNTS	PERMANENT
•	DEPRECIATION SCHEDULES	PERMANENT
	EXPENSE REPORTS	7 YEARS

•	FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (ANNUAL)	PERMAN	IENT
•	FIXED ASSET PURCHASES	PERMAN	IENT
•	GENERAL LEDGER AND GENERAL JOU	RNALS	PERMANENT
•	LOAN PAYMENT SCHEDULE		7 YEARS
•	Purchase Orders & Corresponde	NCE	7 YEARS
•	Purchase Requisitions		2 YEARS
•	TAX RETURNS AND WORKING PAPERS	S	PERMANENT
•	TRIAL BALANCES (ANNUAL)		PERMANENT

BANK RECORDS

	Bank Reconciliations	3 YEARS
•	BANK STATEMENTS	7 YEARS
•	CANCELED CHECKS	7 YEARS
•	CHECKS FOR CAPITAL PURCHASE &	
	IMPORTANT CONTRACTS	PERMANENT
•	ELECTRONIC PAYMENT RECORDS	7 YEARS
	PETTY CASH VOUCHERS	3 YEARS

CORPORATE RECORDS

	BOARD MINUTES	PERMANENT
•	Bylaws, Articles of Incorporation	PERMANENT
•	BUSINESS LICENSES	PERMANENT
•	Contracts – Major	PERMANENT
•	Legal & Tax Correspondence	PERMANENT
•	Contracts – Minor	LIFE + 4 YEARS
•	INSURANCE POLICIES, ACCIDENT, CLAIMS	LIFE + 4 YEARS

SECTION 5 ELECTRONIC COMMUNICATIONS POLICY (POLICY ADDED SEPTEMBER 2023)

This policy is designed to provide guidelines for the appropriate use of electronic communication tools within PNAHA, ensuring security, confidentiality, and effective communication of information. Effective immediately, all employees, contractors, and volunteers of PNAHA will be required to adhere to the following guidelines:

1) ACCEPTABLE USE:

- a) ALL ELECTRONIC COMMUNICATION TOOLS PROVIDED BY THE ORGANIZATION, INCLUDING EMAIL, INSTANT MESSAGING, AND COLLABORATION PLATFORMS, ARE TO BE USED SOLELY FOR BUSINESS-RELATED PURPOSES.
- b) EMPLOYEES, CONTRACTORS AND/OR VOLUNTEERS ARE EXPECTED TO USE PROFESSIONAL LANGUAGE AND MAINTAIN A RESPECTFUL TONE IN ALL ELECTRONIC COMMUNICATIONS, ADHERING TO OUR ORGANIZATION'S CODES OF CONDUCT.

2) SECURITY:

- a) PASSWORD PROTECTION: EMPLOYEES, CONTRACTORS AND/OR VOLUNTEERS ARE RESPONSIBLE FOR MAINTAINING THE SECURITY OF THEIR LOGIN CREDENTIALS AND MUST NOT SHARE THEIR PASSWORDS WITH OTHERS.
- b) Phishing Awareness: All employees, contractors and/or volunteers should be vigilant against phishing attempts and report any suspicious emails or messages to PNAHA's Secretary immediately.
- c) VIRUS AND MALWARE PROTECTION: ALL ELECTRONIC DEVICES USED FOR COMMUNICATION MUST HAVE UP-TO DATE ANTIVIRUS AND MALWARE PROTECTION.

3) CONFIDENTIALITY:

- a) CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION: EMPLOYEES, CONTRACTORS AND/OR VOLUNTEERS MUST NOT SHARE ANY CONFIDENTIAL OR SENSITIVE INFORMATION OUTSIDE THE ORGANIZATION WITHOUT PROPER AUTHORIZATION.
- b) Data Encryption: When transmitting sensitive data via electronic communication, encryption must be used to safeguard the information from unauthorized access.

4) Personal Use:

- a) LIMITED PERSONAL USE: INCIDENTAL AND OCCASIONAL PERSONAL USE OF ELECTRONIC COMMUNICATION TOOLS MAY BE ALLOWED, BUT IT SHOULD NOT INTERFERE WITH WORK OR VOLUNTEER DUTIES OR VIOLATE OTHER POLICIES.
- b) Prohibited Content: Employees, contractors and/or volunteers must not access, transmit, or store any illegal, offensive, or inappropriate content through the organization's communication resources.
- 5) PROFESSIONAL CONDUCT: EMPLOYEES, CONTRACTORS AND/OR VOLUNTEERS ARE EXPECTED TO USE PROFESSIONAL LANGUAGE AND MAINTAIN A RESPECTFUL TONE IN ALL EMAIL COMMUNICATIONS. HARASSMENT, DISCRIMINATION, OFFENSIVE LANGUAGE, OR ANY FORM OF UNETHICAL CONDUCT THROUGH EMAIL IS STRICTLY PROHIBITED.
- 6) EMAIL SIGNATURES: ALL EMPLOYEES, CONTRACTORS AND/OR VOLUNTEERS MUST USE AN APPROPRIATE AND STANDARDIZED EMAIL SIGNATURE THAT INCLUDES THEIR NAME, POSITION, AND CONTACT INFORMATION. SIGNATURES SHOULD BE PROFESSIONAL AND CONSISTENT WITH ANY PNAHA BRANDING GUIDELINES.

7) RETENTION AND DISPOSAL:

- a) EMAILS AND ELECTRONIC RECORDS SHOULD BE RETAINED ACCORDING TO OUR ORGANIZATION'S EMAIL RETENTION POLICY AND RECORDS MANAGEMENT POLICY.
- b) Obsolete electronic communication should be securely deleted to prevent unauthorized access and potential data breaches.
- 8) ACCOUNT DEACTIVATION: UPON RECEIVING NOTICE OF AN EMPLOYEE, CONTRACTOR AND/OR VOLUNTEER'S REMOVAL FROM A PNAHA POSITION (EITHER BY TERMINATION, ELECTION, OR VOLUNTARY SEPARATION), THE SECRETARY WILL PROMPTLY DEACTIVATE THE EMAIL ACCOUNT TO PREVENT UNAUTHORIZED ACCESS TO SENSITIVE INFORMATION.
 - a) EMAIL FORWARDING: IN CASES WHERE IT IS NECESSARY FOR BUSINESS CONTINUITY OR KNOWLEDGE TRANSFER, THE EMPLOYEE, CONTRACTOR AND/OR VOLUNTEER'S EMAIL ACCOUNT MAY BE SET UP TO FORWARD INCOMING EMAILS TO THE RELEVANT SUPERVISOR OR TEAM MEMBER.
 - b) Email Retention: Emails sent or received by the employee, contractor and/or volunteer during their tenure are subject to the organization's Email Retention Policy. The relevant retention periods will apply to these emails, and the Secretary will ensure compliance with this policy during the account deactivation process.
- 9) POLICY REVIEW: THIS POLICY WILL BE PERIODICALLY REVIEWED AND UPDATED AS NECESSARY TO REFLECT CHANGES IN TECHNOLOGY, SECURITY THREATS, OR ORGANIZATIONAL NEEDS.

SECTION 6 EMAIL RETENTION POLICY (POLICY ADDED SEPTEMBER 2023)

TO ENSURE THE PROPER MANAGEMENT, SECURITY, AND COMPLIANCE OF PNAHA'S ELECTRONIC COMMUNICATIONS, ALL PNAHA OFFICERS AND DIRECTORS SHALL ABIDE BY AN EMAIL RETENTION POLICY. THIS POLICY WILL OUTLINE THE GUIDELINES FOR THE RETENTION AND DISPOSAL OF EMAIL COMMUNICATIONS WITHIN OUR ORGANIZATION. IT IS IMPORTANT FOR US TO HAVE A STRUCTURED APPROACH TO MANAGING EMAILS, BOTH FOR OPERATIONAL EFFICIENCY AND LEGAL REQUIREMENTS.

EFFECTIVE IMMEDIATELY, ALL EMPLOYEES, CONTRACTORS, AND VOLUNTEERS OF PNAHA WILL BE REQUIRED TO ADHERE TO THE FOLLOWING GUIDELINES:

- 1. EMAIL CLASSIFICATION: ALL EMAILS SENT AND RECEIVED WITHIN OUR ORGANIZATION SHALL BE CLASSIFIED INTO ONE OF THE FOLLOWING CATEGORIES:
 - a. Transitory: Emails of short-term value, such as notifications, meeting requests, and other temporary communications.
 - b. Reference: Emails that contain important information, decisions, or agreements, which may be useful for future reference.
 - c. Records: Emails that meet the criteria for official records as defined by our organization's Records Retention Policy.

2. RETENTION PERIODS:

- a. Transitory Emails: Transitory emails should be deleted once their immediate purpose is fulfilled or within 10 days of receipt, whichever comes first.
- b. Reference Emails: Reference emails will be kept for a period of 7 years or as deemed necessary for future reference.
- c. Records: Emails classified as official records shall be retained in accordance with the requirements outlined in our Records Retention Policy.
- 3. ARCHIVING: TO PREVENT MAILBOX CLUTTER AND IMPROVE SYSTEM PERFORMANCE, EMPLOYEES, CONTRACTORS AND/OR VOLUNTEERS ARE ENCOURAGED TO REGULARLY ARCHIVE THEIR EMAILS, PARTICULARLY THOSE FALLING UNDER THE "REFERENCE" CATEGORY. ARCHIVED EMAILS SHOULD BE STORED IN AN ORGANIZED AND EASILY ACCESSIBLE MANNER.
- 4. DISPOSAL: ALL EMAILS THAT HAVE REACHED THE END OF THEIR RETENTION PERIOD, AS SPECIFIED IN THIS POLICY, SHOULD BE SECURELY AND PERMANENTLY DELETED FROM THE EMAIL SYSTEM TO MINIMIZE DATA SECURITY RISKS, AND COMPLY WITH RELEVANT DATA PROTECTION LAWS.
- 5. EXCEPTIONS: EXCEPTIONS TO THE STANDARD EMAIL RETENTION PERIODS MAY BE GRANTED IN CASES OF ONGOING LITIGATION, AUDITS, INVESTIGATIONS, OR OTHER LEGAL MATTERS. SUCH EXCEPTIONS MUST BE APPROVED BY THE PNAHA PRESIDENT.
- 6. COMPLIANCE: IT IS THE RESPONSIBILITY OF ALL EMPLOYEES, CONTRACTORS, AND VOLUNTEERS TO COMPLY WITH THIS EMAIL RETENTION POLICY.
- 7. POLICY REVIEW: THIS POLICY WILL BE REVIEWED AND UPDATED, AS NEEDED, TO REFLECT CHANGES IN LEGAL REQUIREMENTS, ORGANIZATIONAL NEEDS, OR TECHNOLOGICAL ADVANCEMENTS. ANY REVISIONS TO THE POLICY WILL BE COMMUNICATED TO ALL RELEVANT PARTIES.

SECTION 7 APPROVED ELECTRONIC SCOREKEEPING POLICY

ALL REQUIRED PNAHA QUALIFYING OR LEAGUE GAMES, INCLUDING TIERING, REGULAR SEASON, AND PNAHA STATE TOURNAMENT AND FESTIVAL GAMES, SHALL BE SCORED USING THE APPROVED ELECTRONIC SCOREKEEPING SYSTEM. ELECTRONIC SCORESHEETS MUST BE COMPLETED ACCURATELY AT THE TIME OF THE GAME AND SHALL INCLUDE THE APPROPRIATE COACH AND REFEREE SIGNATURES. PNAHA WILL BEAR THE COST OF THE SOFTWARE FOR THESE GAMES.

IN THE EVENT OF A SYSTEM FAILURE WITHIN THE ELECTRONIC SCOREKEEPING PLATFORM, REQUIRED GAMES MAY BE TEMPORARILY SWITCHED TO PAPER SCORESHEETS AS AN ALTERNATIVE METHOD FOR RECORDING GAMES. WHEN SUCH A SITUATION ARISES, IT IS THE RESPONSIBILITY OF THE HOST ASSOCIATION TO PROMPTLY NOTIFY THE PNAHA LEAGUE COMMISSIONER OF THE SYSTEM FAILURE AND PROVIDE A COPY OF EACH COMPLETED PAPER SCORESHEET.

TO ENSURE CONSISTENCY IN THE SCOREKEEPING PROCESS, IT IS STRONGLY ENCOURAGED THAT ALL OTHER GAMES PLAYED IN PNAHA, INCLUDING BUT NOT LIMITED TO; EXHIBITION GAMES BETWEEN PNAHA TEAMS, EXHIBITION GAMES AGAINST NON-PNAHA TEAMS, TOURNAMENTS, C LEAGUES, ADULT LEAGUES, ETC., ALSO ADOPT THE APPROVED ELECTRONIC SCOREKEEPING SYSTEM. THE LEAGUE OR HOST ASSOCIATION FOR THESE GAMES MAYBE REQUIRED TO REIMBURSE PNAHA FOR THE COST OF THE SOFTWARE FOR THESE GAMES. PNAHA SHALL CONFIRM THE APPROVED ELECTRONIC SCOREKEEPING SYSTEM AT THE ANNUAL PNAHA SUMMER MEETING AND PROVIDE THE COST FOR ITS USAGE.

RESPONSIBILITIES:

- A. THE PNAHA LEAGUE COMMISSIONER SHALL HAVE THE PRIMARY RESPONSIBILITY FOR ADMINISTERING THE SOFTWARE PLATFORM, INCLUDING THE SETUP OF TEAMS, AND PROVIDING NECESSARY INFORMATION TO ASSOCIATIONS ON ITS USAGE FOR ALL REQUIRED GAMES.
- B. THE PNAHA LEAGUE SCHEDULER SHALL HANDLE THE ADMINISTRATION OF THE REQUIRED PNAHA GAME SCHEDULES FOR ALL APPROVED GAMES.
- C. At their discretion, the Commissioner may choose to select a designated volunteer to oversee and assist with the management of the approved electronic scorekeeping system. In such cases, the designated volunteer will work closely with the Commissioner and/or Scheduler and act under their guidance to ensure the system's smooth and effective functioning.
- D. ALL ADMINISTRATION OF NON-REQUIRED GAMES AND SCHEDULING SHALL BE THE RESPONSIBILITY OF THE RESPECTIVE LEAGUE OR HOST ASSOCIATION. THE PNAHA COMMISSIONER AND SCHEDULER, OR THEIR DESIGNATED VOLUNTEER, ARE GRANTED PERMISSION TO PROVIDE ASSISTANCE TO THE LEAGUE OR HOST ASSOCIATION.

AT THE CONCLUSION OF EACH HOCKEY SEASON, THE PNAHA LEAGUE COMMISSIONER AND PNAHA TREASURER SHALL CONDUCT AN AUDIT OF ALL GAMES SCORED IN THE SYSTEM. AN INVOICE SHALL BE PROVIDED TO EACH LEAGUE OR ASSOCIATION, DETAILING THE NUMBER OF NON-REQUIRED GAMES HOSTED IN THE SOFTWARE AND THEIR TOTAL DUE NO LATER THAN MAY 1. LEAGUES AND ASSOCIATIONS ARE RESPONSIBLE FOR REIMBURSING PNAHA NO LATER THAN THE ANNUAL PNAHA WINTER MEETING.

PNAHA BYLAWS

NOTES:	

ARTICLE I - USA HOCKEY PREEMINENCE

THE PACIFIC NORTHWEST AMATEUR HOCKEY ASSOCIATION ("PNAHA"), AN AFFILIATE ASSOCIATION OF USA HOCKEY, INC. IN ACCORDANCE WITH ITS AFFILIATE AGREEMENT WITH USA HOCKEY, SHALL ABIDE BY AND ACT IN ACCORD WITH THE ARTICLES OF INCORPORATION, BY-LAWS, RULES AND REGULATIONS, AND THE DECISIONS OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF USA HOCKEY, WHOSE GOVERNING DOCUMENTS AND/OR DECISIONS SHALL TAKE PRECEDENCE OVER AND SUPERSEDE ALL SIMILAR GOVERNING DOCUMENTS AND/OR DECISIONS OF PNAHA. FURTHER, PNAHA (I) SHALL ASSIST IN THE ADMINISTRATION AND ENFORCEMENT OF THE PROVISIONS OF THE ARTICLES OF INCORPORATION, BY-LAWS, RULES AND REGULATIONS, PLAYING RULES AND DECISIONS OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF USA HOCKEY, WITHIN AND UPON ITS MEMBERS AND/OR WITHIN ITS JURISDICTION AND (II) AGREES TO BE GUIDED BY THE FOLLOWING CORE VALUES OF USA HOCKEY:

SPORTSMANSHIP - FOREMOST OF ALL VALUES IS TO LEARN A SENSE OF FAIR PLAY. BECOME HUMBLE IN VICTORY, GRACIOUS IN DEFEAT. WE WILL FOSTER FRIENDSHIP WITH TEAMMATES AND OPPONENTS ALIKE.

RESPECT FOR THE INDIVIDUAL - TREAT ALL OTHERS AS YOU EXPECT TO BE TREATED.

INTEGRITY - WE SEEK TO FOSTER HONESTY AND FAIR PLAY BEYOND MERE STRICT INTERPRETATION OF THE RULES AND REGULATIONS OF THE GAME.

PURSUANT OF EXCELLENCE AT THE INDIVIDUAL, TEAM, AND ORGANIZATION LEVELS - EACH MEMBER OF THE ORGANIZATION, WHETHER PLAYER, VOLUNTEER OR STAFF, SHOULD SEEK TO PERFORM EACH ASPECT OF THE GAME TO THE HIGHEST LEVEL OF HIS OR HER ABILITY.

ENJOYMENT - IT IS IMPORTANT FOR THE HOCKEY EXPERIENCE TO BE FUN, SATISFYING AND REWARDING FOR THE PARTICIPANT.

LOYALTY - WE ASPIRE TO TEACH LOYALTY TO THE IDEALS AND FELLOW MEMBERS OF THE SPORT OF HOCKEY.

TEAMWORK - WE VALUE THE STRENGTH OF LEARNING TO WORK TOGETHER. THE USE OF TEAMWORK IS REINFORCED AND REWARDED BY SUCCESS IN THE HOCKEY EXPERIENCE.

ARTICLE II – INTERPRETATION

SUBJECT TO ARTICLE I AND THE PROVISIONS RESPECTING THE PRE-EMINENCE IF USA HOCKEY'S GOVERNING DOCUMENTS AND DECISIONS OVER ALL SIMILAR GOVERNING DOCUMENTS AND DECISIONS OF PNAHA, THESE BYLAWS SHALL ALSO BE SUBJECT TO THE PNAHA CONSTITUTION AND PNAHA'S ARTICLES OF INCORPORATION, BUT SHALL TAKE PRECEDENCE OVER THE PNAHA RULES AND REGULATIONS. TO THE EXTENT THERE IS ANY CONFLICT AMONG THE PNAHA GOVERNING DOCUMENTS, THE ARTICLES OF INCORPORATION SHALL TAKE PRECEDENCE OVER THE PNAHA CONSTITUTION, WHICH SHALL TAKE PRECEDENCE OVER THESE BYLAWS, WHICH SHALL TAKE PRECEDENCE OVER THE PNAHA RULES AND REGULATIONS.

ARTICLE III – INDEMNITY

SECTION 1: USA HOCKEY

PNAHA, AN AFFILIATE ASSOCIATION OF USA HOCKEY, SHALL INDEMNIFY AND HOLD HARMLESS USA HOCKEY, THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF USA HOCKEY AND EACH MEMBER THEREOF, THE EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE AND EACH MEMBER THEREOF, THE COUNCILS AND COMMITTEES OF USA HOCKEY AND EACH MEMBER THEREOF, AND ALL OTHER ELECTED, APPOINTED, EMPLOYED OR VOLUNTEER REPRESENTATIVES OF USA HOCKEY FROM ANY AND ALL CLAIMS LIABILITY,

JUDGMENTS, COSTS, ATTORNEYS' FEES CHARGES AND EXPENSES WHATSOEVER, ARISING FROM THE ACTS AND OMISSIONS OF PNAHA, EXCEPT TO THE EXTENT (I) THAT USA HOCKEY OR ITS AFORE DESCRIBED REPRESENTATIVES CAUSED SUCH CLAIMS, LIABILITY, JUDGMENTS, COSTS, ATTORNEYS' FEES, CHARGES OR EXPENSES BY THEIR OWN INTENTIONAL NEGLECT OR DEFAULT OR (II) THAT SUCH ACTS OR OMISSIONS WERE THE DIRECT RESULT OF COMPLIANCE WITH THE ARTICLES OF INCORPORATION, BYLAWS, RULES AND REGULATIONS, PLAYING RULES OR DECISIONS OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF USA HOCKEY. FURTHER, PNAHA UNDERSTANDS AND ACKNOWLEDGES THAT USA HOCKEY AND ITS AFORE DESCRIBED REPRESENTATIVES HAVE ASSUMED SUCH ASSIGNMENT, FUNCTION, OFFICE OR CAPACITY UPON THE EXPRESS UNDERSTANDING, AGREEMENT AND CONDITION THAT THEY BE SO INDEMNIFIED AND HELD HARMLESS TO THE EXTENT DESCRIBED IN THIS BYLAW.

SECTION 2: PNAHA

PNAHA HEREBY CONSENTS AND DECLARES THAT EACH OF ITS OFFICERS, MEMBERS OF ITS BOARD OF DIRECTORS, AND ALL CHAIRPERSONS AND MEMBERS OF ALL PNAHA COMMITTEES AND ALL ELECTED OR APPOINTED PNAHA OR USA HOCKEY OFFICIALS IN ANY CAPACITY SHALL BE DEEMED TO HAVE ASSUMED OFFICE OR ASSIGNMENT ON THE EXPRESS UNDERSTANDING, AGREEMENT AND CONDITION THAT EACH ONE OF THEM AND THEIR HEIRS, EXECUTORS AND ADMINISTRATORS, ESTATE AND EFFECT RESPECTIVELY SHALL FROM TIME TO TIME AND AT ALL TIMES BE INDEMNIFIED AND SAVED HARMLESS FROM AND AGAINST ALL LIABILITIES, JUDGMENTS, COSTS, CHARGES, AND EXPENSES WHATSOEVER WHICH SUCH MEMBER SUSTAINS OR INCURS IN OR ABOUT ANY ACTION, SUIT OR PROCEEDING WHICH IS BROUGHT, COMMENCED OR PROSECUTED AGAINST THEM IN RESPECT OF ANY ACT, DEED, MATTER OR THING WHATSOEVER MADE, DONE OR PERMITTED BY THEM OR ABOUT THE EXECUTION OF THE DUTIES OF THEIR OFFICE AND ALSO FROM AND AGAINST ALL OTHER COSTS, CHARGES AND EXPENSES WHICH THEY SUSTAIN OR INCUR OR ABOUT OR IN RELATION TO THE AFFAIRS THEREOF, EXCEPT SUCH COSTS, CHARGES OR EXPENSES AS ARE OCCASIONED BY THEIR OWN WILLFUL NEGLECT OR DEFAULT.

ARTICLE IV – JURISDICTION/RESOLUTION OF DISPUTES

PNAHA SHALL HAVE FULL AND FINAL JURISDICTION OVER THE MEMBERS AS WELL AS OVERALL ICE HOCKEY AND RELATED ACTIVITIES WITHIN THE GEOGRAPHICAL BOUNDARIES OF PNAHA AS DEFINED BY USA HOCKEY AND OF ICE HOCKEY AND RELATED ACTIVITIES OF THOSE INDIVIDUALS OR ORGANIZATIONS BELONGING TO PNAHA. ANY APPEAL OF SUCH JURISDICTION OR A DECISION OR ACTION BY PNAHA MUST BE MADE TO USA HOCKEY PURSUANT TO USA HOCKEY'S BY-LAWS.

In the event any controversy or dispute involves a suspension or expulsion of any party which under USA HOCKEY By-Law 10 must be decided in accordance with the provision of USA HOCKEY By Law 10, then the provisions and procedures of USA HOCKEY By-Law 10 shall apply and take precedence over the procedures contained in this By-Law.

In the event a controversy or dispute arises regarding the construction, interpretation and/or application of the Constitution, By-Laws, Rules and Regulations or decisions of PNAHA, and/or of its Member Organizations or any of its memberships, or the membership of its Member Organizations, by and between or involving PNAHA or its Member Organizations, which controversy or dispute does not involve a suspension or expulsion which under USA Hockey Bylaw 10 must be decided in accordance with USA Hockey Bylaw 10, such dispute or controversy shall first be submitted to the Board of Directors of the appropriate Member Organization or its designated body for resolution. The Board of Directors of the Member Organization, or its designee, shall submit its/their decision, in writing to the affected parties, no more than ten (10) days from the date the Board is formally advised in writing of the existence of the dispute or controversy by either party. The decision of the Board of the Member Organization shall be final, unless either party shall, within seven (7) days from the date of the Board action, initiate arbitration as hereinafter provided.

A. SCOPE

THE PROCEDURES AUTHORIZED BY THIS BY-LAW SHALL BE THE SOLE MECHANISM FOR THE RESOLUTION OF ANY CONTROVERSY, QUESTION OR DISPUTE REGARDING OR HAVING AN IMPACT ON AMATEUR HOCKEY OR AMATEUR HOCKEY PLAYERS ("DISPUTE") WITHIN THE SUBJECT MATTER DESCRIBED IN THIS BY-LAW.

IT IS THE SPECIFIC PURPOSE OF THIS BY-LAW, IN CONJUNCTION WITH ANY RULES AND REGULATIONS ESTABLISHED BY PNAHA'S BOARD OF DIRECTORS, TO PROVIDE FOR AN EFFICIENT, ORDERLY AND UNIFORM METHOD OF RESOLVING ALL DISPUTES WHICH UTILIZES THE SPECIFIC SKILLS, EXPERTISE AND BACKGROUND OF PEOPLE EXPERIENCED IN HOCKEY AND SPORTS ADMINISTRATION MATTERS ("DISPUTE RESOLUTION PROCEDURE"). IT IS THE FURTHER PURPOSE OF THIS BY-LAW TO PROVIDE AN ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEDURE THAT IS A FULL AND COMPLETE SUBSTITUTE FOR ANY COURT PROCEEDINGS. ANY ACTION, REGARDLESS OF INTENT, WHICH MAY HAVE THE EFFECT OF AVOIDING OR IMPAIRING ANY ASPECT OF THE DISPUTE RESOLUTION PROCEDURE IN THIS BY-LAW OR THAT AUTHORIZED BY A MEMBER ORGANIZATION, AND SPECIFICALLY INCLUDING ANY ACTION IN RESORTING TO A COURT OR FORUM OTHER THAN AS ESTABLISHED IN THIS PROCEDURE, IS PROHIBITED AND SHALL BE GROUNDS FOR SUSPENSION BY PNAHA AND THE APPROPRIATE GOVERNING BODY OF ALL PARTIES, PERSONS OR ENTITIES PARTICIPATING IN OR AIDING SUCH ACTION.

EACH PERSON AND ENTITY WITHIN THE JURISDICTION OF THE CORPORATION (INCLUDING EACH REGISTERED TEAM MEMBER, ALLIED CORPORATION (INCLUDING EACH REGISTERED TEAM MEMBER, ALLIED MEMBER, MEMBER ORGANIZATION, MEMBER TEAM,, PLAYER, COACH, OFFICIAL, REFEREE, PARENT, GUARDIAN, AGENT OR OTHER PERSON, AND EACH ASSOCIATION, LEAGUE, CLUB, SPONSOR, FACILITY OR OTHER GROUP OR ORGANIZATION AGREES TO ABIDE BY THE DISPUTE RESOLUTION PROCEDURE BY VIRTUE OF THEIR MEMBERSHIP, AFFILIATION OR PARTICIPATION AT ANY TIME IN PNAHA OR A PNAHA GAME OR PROGRAM, AND AGREES TO COMPLETELY FOREGO ANY REMEDY AND ANY RECOURSE TO COURT REGARDING THE MATTERS EXPRESSLY OR IMPLIEDLY COVERED BY THE DISPUTE RESOLUTION PROCEDURE.

B. SUBJECT MATTER

THE DISPUTE RESOLUTION PROCEDURE SHALL APPLY TO:

- 1. THE CONSTRUCTION, INTERPRETATION AND/OR APPLICATION OF THE CONSTITUTION, BYLAWS AND RULES AND REGULATIONS OF PNAHA, AND COMPARABLE DOCUMENTS OF ITS MEMBER ORGANIZATIONS, MEMBER TEAMS OR ALLIED MEMBERS, AND ITS OR THEIR LOCAL ASSOCIATIONS OR LEAGUES;
- 2. The decisions or actions of any Board of Directors, director, officer, employee, agent or other duly authorized representative or committee of PNAHA, its Member Organizations, Member Teams or Allied Members. Or their local association or leagues (each. a "Governing Body"):
- 3. THE RELATIONSHIPS AND ARRANGEMENTS BETWEEN PNAHA AND ANY MEMBER ORGANIZATION, MEMBER TEAM, REGISTERED TEAM MEMBER, ALLIED MEMBER OR LOCAL ASSOCIATION OR LEAGUE;
- 4. THE AUTHORITY, RELATIONSHIPS AND ARRANGEMENTS BY OR AMONG ANY REGISTERED TEAM MEMBER, ALLIED MEMBER, LOCAL ASSOCIATION OR LEAGUE, AND THE MEMBERS OR CONSTITUENTS OF ANY OF THE FOREGOING; AND
- 5. CLAIMS OR DEMANDS FOR MONETARY COMPENSATION BETWEEN MEMBERS IN ANY WAY ARISING OUT OF OR RELATING TO PARTICIPATION IN THE SPORT OF HOCKEY.

NOTWITHSTANDING ANYTHING TO THE CONTRARY CONTAINED IN ITEMS 1 THROUGH 5 OF THIS SECTION B OF ARTICLE IV, THIS ARTICLE IV SHALL NOT APPLY TO ANY DECISION OR ACTION INVOLVING THE SUSPENSION OR EXPULSION OF ANY MEMBER WHICH

UNDER USA HOCKEY BY-LAW 10 MUST BE DECIDED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE PROVISIONS AND PROCEDURES SET FORTH IN USA HOCKEY BY-LAW 10.

C. COMMENCEMENT OF ARBITRATION: REQUIREMENTS

IT IS NECESSARY PRECONDITION TO INITIATION OF ARBITRATION THAT THE APPLICABLE GOVERNING BODY ADMINISTRATIVE DISPUTE RESOLUTION PROCESS, INCLUDING ANY ADMINISTRATIVE APPEAL, BE FULLY AND COMPLETELY EXHAUSTED. A WAIVER OF, OR FAILURE TO EXERCISE OR PARTICIPATE IN ANY SUCH DISPUTE RESOLUTION PROCESS OR ADMINISTRATIVE REMEDY ("WAIVER") IS NOT AN EXHAUSTION OF REMEDIES. A PARTY'S WAIVER (INCLUDING RESORT TO A COURT OR FORUM OTHER THAN AS ESTABLISHED IN THIS PROCEDURE) SHALL NOT DIMINISH OR ALTER THE REQUIREMENTS OR AUTHORITY OF THIS BY-LAW. THE LAST DECISION OF A GOVERNING BODY WHICH EXHAUSTS THAT GOVERNING BODY'S DISPUTE PROCESS SHALL BE FINAL AND BINDING ON THE PARTIES UNLESS ARBITRATION IS TIMELY COMMENCED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THIS BY-LAW.

ARBITRATION SHALL BE COMMENCED BY THE PARTY SEEKING RELIEF ("PETITIONER") FILING A WRITTEN STATEMENT WITH THE PRESIDENT OF PNAHA ("PETITION FOR ARBITRATION" OR "PETITION") CONTAINING:

- 1. THE NAME OF THE GOVERNING BODY WHOSE ADMINISTRATIVE DECISION IS BEING APPEALED;
- 2. THE DATE OF THE DECISION FROM WHICH AN APPEAL IS SOUGHT;
- 3. THE CONCISE STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE(S) TO BE ARBITRATED;
- 4. A CONCISE STATEMENT OF THE REASON(S) WHY THE DECISION APPEALED FROM SHOULD BE REVERSED;
- 5. CITATION TO EACH SPECIFIC SECTION OF THE APPROPRIATE GOVERNING BODY CONSTITUTION, BY-LAW, RULE, REGULATION, DECISION OR OTHER DOCUMENT RELATING TO "3" AND "4" ABOVE; AND
- 6. THE SPECIFIC RELIEF SOUGHT

IF THE DECISION APPEALED FROM IS IN WRITING AND HAS BEEN DELIVERED TO THE PETITIONER, A COPY MUST ACCOMPANY THE PETITION FOR ARBITRATION. A NOTICE OF INTENT TO PURSUE ARBITRATION, OR ANY OTHER STATEMENT LACKING THE DETAIL SET FORTH ABOVE, SHALL BE INSUFFICIENT TO SATISFY THE APPLICABLE TIME REQUIREMENTS OR INITIATE THE ARBITRATION PROCESS.

THE PETITION FOR ARBITRATION SHALL BE FILED WITH PNAHA'S PRESIDENT WITHIN SEVEN (7) DAYS FROM THE DATE OF THE DECISION FROM WHICH RELIEF IS SOUGHT, WITH AN EXACT COPY CONCURRENTLY PROVIDED TO EACH PERSON AND/OR GOVERNING BODY NAMED IN THE PETITION. FOR PURPOSES OF THIS PARAGRAPH C, "FILING" SHALL BE DEEMED TO HAVE OCCURRED UPON RECEIPT BY THE ELECTED PRESIDENT.

IF THE PRESIDENT IS NAMED AS A PARTY IN THE PETITION FOR ARBITRATION OR BELIEVES HE/SHE CANNOT ACT IMPARTIALLY, HE/SHE SHALL SO ADVISE THE PNAHA BOARD OF DIRECTORS, WHO SHALL PROMPTLY APPOINT A MEMBER OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS, OR ANOTHER DISINTERESTED PERSON, TO FULFILL THE REQUIRED DUTIES, IN WHICH CASE ALL FURTHER REFERENCES IN THIS ARTICLE IV TO THE "PRESIDENT' SHALL REFER TO SUCH APPOINTED PERSON.

The elected President shall supervise, but not take part in, the arbitration. If the President determines that an additional person or Governing Body should receive notice of the Petition for Arbitration, the President shall so advise the Petitioner, who shall promptly serve the Petition on all those named by the President. Thereafter, each additional person and Governing Body shall be allowed to participate fully in accordance with these provisions. If the President determines that any person or Governing Body is not a necessary party to the proceeding or that they may have been named to obtain a tactical advantage for Petitioner, the President shall exclude that person or Governing Body from naming a Partisan Arbitrator and participating in the selection of the Neutral Arbitrator(s)

Any party responding to a Petition for Arbitration ("Respondent") shall have seven (7) days after receipt of said Petition within which to file with the President, and serve on Petitioner(s) a written response stating its version of matters set forth on the Petition ("Response").

UPON RECEIPT OF A PETITION FOR ARBITRATION AND ANY RESPONSE THERETO, THE PRESIDENT SHALL PROMPTLY REVIEW THESE AND DETERMINE WHETHER THE MATTER IS PROPERLY ARBITRABLE UNDER THIS BY-LAW AND WHETHER ALL REQUIREMENTS HAVE BEEN COMPLIED WITH. IF THE PETITION AND RESPONSE ARE ACCEPTED BY THE PRESIDENT, A DATED WRITTEN NOTICE SHALL BE GIVEN TO ALL PARTIES AND THE ARBITRATION SHALL COMMENCE ("INITIATION DATE"). IF ANY SUBMISSION TO THE PRESIDENT IS INCOMPLETE, THE PARTY RESPONSIBLE SHALL BE NOTIFIED AND SHALL HAVE FIVE (5) DAYS TO REMEDY ALL SUCH DEFECTS AND FILE SUCH REVISION WITH THE PRESIDENT. IF THE PETITION AND RESPONSE ARE ACCEPTED BY THE PRESIDENT, A DATED, WRITTEN NOTICE SHALL BE GIVEN TO ALL PARTIES AND THE ARBITRATION SHALL COMMENCE ("INITIATION DATE"). IF ANY SUBMISSION TO THE PRESIDENT IS INCOMPLETE, THE PARTY RESPONSIBLE SHALL BE NOTIFIED (AND ALL OTHER PARTIES COPIED ON THAT NOTICE) AND SHALL HAVE FIVE (5) DAYS TO REMEDY ALL SUCH DEFECTS AND FILE SUCH REVISION WITH THE PRESIDENT. THE PARTY REMEDYING THE INCOMPLETE FILING SHALL SUBMIT THE REMEDIED DOCUMENTS TO THE PRESIDENT AND ALL PARTIES. IF THE REVISED PETITION AND/OR RESPONSE ARE ACCEPTED BY THE PRESIDENT, A DATED, WRITTEN NOTICE SHALL BE GIVEN TO ALL PARTIES AND THE ARBITRATION SHALL COMMENCE ("INITIATION DATE"). IF THE PARTY FAILS TO REMEDY THE INCOMPLETE FILING IN A TIMELY MANNER, THE PRESIDENT MAY TAKE SUCH ACTION AS THE PRESIDENT DEEMS APPROPRIATE, INCLUDING DECIDING THE ARBITRATION AGAINST THE PARTY NOT REMEDYING THE INCOMPLETENESS. PRIOR TO THE SELECTION OF ARBITRATORS, THE PRESIDENT MAY, AT HIS/HER DISCRETION, REALIGN THE PARTIES TO MORE ACCURATELY REFLECT THE INTERESTS AT ISSUE, AND THEREAFTER THE NUMBER AND SELECTION OF PARTISAN AND NEUTRAL ARBITRATORS SHALL BE IN ACCORD WITH THAT REALIGNMENT. THE PRESIDENT MAY, AT HIS/HER DISCRETION (I) RESTATE, MODIFY, DELETE OR ADD ANY ISSUE(S) TO BE PRESENTED FOR ARBITRATION, AND HIS/HER DETERMINATION SHALL BE BINDING ON THE ARBITRATOR AND (II) MAKE ANY OTHER DECISION OR TAKE ANY OTHER ACTION OTHERWISE PERMITTED BY THESE BYLAWS DESPITE THE FACT THAT ANY PARTY HAS FAILED TO COMPLY WITH ANY REQUIREMENT OF THE ARBITRATION PROCESS SPECIFIED HEREIN. IN PERFORMING ANY DUTY, THE PRESIDENT MAY DESIGNATE OTHER MEMBERS OF THE PNAHA'S BOARD OF DIRECTORS, OR PNAHA'S OUTSIDE LEGAL COUNSEL TO ASSIST HIM/HER. ANY DECISION OF THE PRESIDENT THAT THE MATTER IS NOT ARBITRABLE, OR IN ANY OTHER WAY TERMINATES THE ENTIRE PROCEEDING, SHALL BE IMMEDIATELY APPEALABLE TO THE PNAHA BOARD OF DIRECTORS. FAILURE TO TIMELY COMPLY WITH THE PRESIDENT'S DIRECTIONS AND/OR FILE AN APPEAL WITH THE PNAHA BOARD OF DIRECTORS SHALL TERMINATE THE ARBITRATION PROCEDURE AND THE IMMEDIATELY PRECEDING ADMINISTRATIVE DECISION SHALL BE FINAL AND BINDING ON ALL PARTIES.

D. SELECTION OF ARBITRATORS: TIME LIMIT; QUALIFICATIONS

EACH PARTY TO THE ARBITRATION SHALL, WITHIN FIVE (5) DAYS OF THE INITIATION DATE, ADVISE EACH OTHER PARTY AND THE PNAHA PRESIDENT IN WRITING OF THE IDENTITY OF ITS ARBITRATOR (WHO CANNOT BE THE PETITIONER) ("PARTISAN ARBITRATOR"). WITHIN SEVEN (7) DAYS AFTER NOTIFICATION OF SUCH SELECTION, OR AFTER EXPIRATION OF THE TIME FOR SELECTING SAID PARTISAN ARBITRATOR, EACH PARTISAN ARBITRATOR SHALL IDENTIFY ITS SIDE'S CANDIDATE FOR THE "NEUTRAL ARBITRATOR" AND PROVIDE INFORMATION ABOUT THAT INDIVIDUAL'S QUALIFICATIONS TO THE OTHER PARTISAN ARBITRATOR(S). WITHIN SEVEN (7) DAYS AFTER THE DATE REQUIRING IDENTIFICATION OF THE CANDIDATES FOR NEUTRAL ARBITRATOR(S), THE PARTISAN ARBITRATORS SHALL COMPLETE SELECTION OF THE NEUTRAL ARBITRATOR(S). THE TOTAL NUMBER OF ARBITRATORS SHALL BE AN ODD NUMBER. IN THOSE CASES WHERE THERE ARE MORE THAN TWO PARTIES, A NUMBER OF NEUTRAL ARBITRATORS SHALL BE SELECTED SO THAT NO PARTY, OR COMBINATION OF PARTIES, TO THE DISPUTE CAN CONTROL THE DECISION IN THE ABSENCE OF THE VOTE OF THE NEUTRAL ARBITRATORS. ANY QUESTION AS TO THE NUMBER OF ARBITRATORS SHALL BE DETERMINED BY THE PRESIDENT.

THE PARTISAN ARBITRATORS, CONSISTENT WITH THE PURPOSE AND INTENT OF THIS BY-LAW, MAY SELECT AS NEUTRAL ARBITRATORS, ONLY INDIVIDUALS WHO ARE GENERALLY EXPERIENCED AND KNOWLEDGEABLE ABOUT AMATEUR HOCKEY AND SPORTS ADMINISTRATION CONCEPTS THAT PERTAIN TO THE ISSUE(S) TO BE ARBITRATED. HOWEVER, OFFICERS, DIRECTORS OR EMPLOYEES OF PNAHA MAY NOT SERVE AS NEUTRAL ARBITRATORS. THE PARTISAN ARBITRATORS SHALL HAVE THE JOINT

RESPONSIBILITY OF PROMPTLY NOTIFYING THE PRESIDENT OF THE NAME, ADDRESS AND QUALIFICATIONS OF EACH CANDIDATE FOR NEUTRAL ARBITRATOR, AND A REPRESENTATION OF THEIR WILLINGNESS TO SERVE. THE SELECTION OF EACH NEUTRAL ARBITRATOR SHALL BE SUBJECT TO THE APPROVAL OF THE PRESIDENT, EXCEPT IN THOSE MATTERS WHERE PNAHA IS A PROPERLY NAMED PARTY TO THE ARBITRATION. IF THE PARTISAN ARBITRATORS ARE UNABLE TO SELECT THE NEUTRAL ARBITRATOR(S) WITHIN THE TIME PERIOD PROVIDED. EACH PARTISAN ARBITRATOR SHALL HAVE FIVE (5) DAYS WITHIN WHICH TO FILE WITH THE PRESIDENT A LIST OF CANDIDATES, NOT EXCEEDING TWO FOR EACH NEUTRAL ARBITRATOR TO BE SELECTED, TOGETHER WITH A RESUME OF EACH PERSON'S QUALIFICATIONS. THE PRESIDENT SHALL THEN SELECT THE NEUTRAL ARBITRATOR(S), BUT IN DOING SO IS NOT LIMITED TO THE NAMES SUBMITTED BY THE PARTISAN ARBITRATORS. A PARTY'S REFUSAL OR FAILURE TO NOMINATE OR SELECT A PARTISAN OR NEUTRAL ARBITRATOR WITHIN THE TIME PERIOD PROVIDED SHALL FORFEIT THAT PARTY'S RIGHT TO SUCH SELECTION; HOWEVER, THE ARBITRATION SHALL PROCEED, AND THE REMAINING ARBITRATORS SELECTED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE PROVISIONS HEREIN SHALL DETERMINE THE MATTER IN DISPUTE AS THOUGH THEY WERE APPOINTED BY ALL OF THE PARTIES FOR SUCH PURPOSE. AFTER APPROVAL OR SELECTION OF THE NEUTRAL ARBITRATOR(S), THE PRESIDENT SHALL ADVISE THE PARTISAN ARBITRATORS AND EACH NEUTRAL ARBITRATOR SHALL BE PROMPTLY NOTIFIED OF HIS/HER SELECTION BY THE PARTISAN ARBITRATORS. THE PRESIDENT SHALL PROVIDE THE NEUTRAL ARBITRATOR WITH THE LIST OF ISSUES, THE PETITION TO ARBITRATE AND THE RESPONSES, ALL OTHER DOCUMENTS RECEIVED BY THE PRESIDENT THAT THE PRESIDENT BELIEVES ARE RELEVANT. THE USA HOCKEY ANNUAL GUIDE AND ANY OTHER ADVICE IN ORDER TO BE ABLE TO ARBITRATE THE MATTER.

E. ARBITRATOR'S AUTHORITY; BURDEN OF PROOF

In all instances, except where the arbitration hereunder is the initial administrative proceeding on that matter at any level ("Original Administrative Proceeding"), the Arbitrator's authority shall be strictly limited to a determination of whether there was:

- 1. An abuse of discretion by the decision maker in the prior administrative decision in interpreting the Constitution, By-Laws, Rules and Regulations, procedures or decisions applicable to the issue(s); and /or
- 2. ANY ARBITRARY OR CAPRICIOUS ACTION IN THE DECISION MAKING PROCESS OF THE PRIOR ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDING WHICH WOULD HAVE PRODUCED A DIFFERENT DECISION WERE SUCH BEHAVIOR NOT PRESENT.

IF THE BURDEN OF PROOF IS NOT MET AS TO WHICHEVER OF THESE ITEMS APPLIES, THEN THE DECISION OF THE ARBITRATORS MUST UPHOLD THE PRIOR ADMINISTRATIVE RULING.

IN MAKING THEIR DETERMINATION, THE ARBITRATORS:

- 1. SHALL NOT CONDUCT A DE NOVO INVESTIGATION OR HEARING (EXCEPT IN ORIGINAL ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDING);
- 2. ARE LIMITED TO THOSE ISSUES PRESENTED IN WRITING AS PROVIDED HEREIN;
- 3. SHALL NOT STRIKE, AMEND, MODIFY, IGNORE OR ADD TO THE BY-LAWS, RULES AND REGULATIONS OR PROCEDURES OR DECISIONS OF USA HOCKEY, PNAHA, OR COMPARABLE DOCUMENTS OF ANY GOVERNING BODY, EXCEPT WHERE SUCH DOCUMENTS OF SUCH GOVERNING BODY ARE IN CONFLICT WITH THOSE OF USA HOCKEY OR PNAHA.
- 4. Shall defer to the construction and interpretation made by a Governing Body's duly authorized personnel with respect to that Governing Body's Constitution, By-Laws, Rules and Regulations, PROCEDURES AND DECISIONS.
- 5. SHALL NOT SUBSTITUTE THEIR OWN CONSTRUCTION OR INTERPRETATION OF THE FOREGOING; WHEN THERE IS A CONFLICT BETWEEN GOVERNING BODIES AS TO WHICH CONSTITUTION, BY-LAW, RULE OR REGULATION MAY APPLY, THEY SHALL BE GIVEN PRECEDENCE IN THE FOLLOWING ORDER; NATIONAL, DISTRICT, PNAHA AND THEN LOCAL.

6. Shall not make any finding or decision based on the fact that another inference or interpretation may exist which is reasonable, but different than that of the Governing Body's.

THE BURDEN OF PRESENTATION AND PERSUASION RESTS WITH THAT PARTY SEEKING TO OVERTURN THE FINDING OR DECISION OF THE PRIOR ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDINGS ON THAT PARTICULAR ISSUE. INFERENCES OR CONCLUSIONS MAY BE DRAWN FROM THE FAILURE TO PRODUCE AVAILABLE INFORMATION, MATERIALS OR WITNESSES. THE BURDEN OF PROOF SHALL BE THE EQUIVALENT OF THE HIGHEST DEGREE OF PROOF REQUIRED IN ANY CIVIL PROCEEDING.

F. HEARING PROCEDURE

The arbitrators may render their decision based on the written submissions of the parties and/or the evidence taken as part of the hearing. The arbitrators may, in their discretion, hold formal or informal hearings (including by phone or other reasonable means), require the testimony or attendance of witnesses and production of documents, and take testimony and receive evidence they believes is relevant to the issue(s) before it, place limits on time, evidence and documentation, establish other hearing rules and the Rules of Evidence in Judicial Proceedings shall not apply to this hearing. It is also permissible for the arbitrators to not require any further submissions or evidence than the Petition and Responses or other written submissions. The arbitrators shall render their decision within twenty (20) days from the date the matter is deemed submitted, unless agreed to by a majority of arbitrators. The decision shall be in writing, dated and set forth findings of fact, along with the reasoning and conclusion of the arbitrators. Copies of the decision shall be provided to all parties and to the President.

G. APPEAL; FINALITY

THE DECISION OF THE ARBITRATORS AND/OR PRESIDENT SHALL BE FINAL AND BINDING ON ALL PARTIES AND THERE SHALL BE NO APPEAL OF THE DECISION UNLESS THE DECISION IS APPEALABLE UNDER THE USA HOCKEY BYLAWS, IN WHICH CASE AN APPEAL MAY BE MADE TO THE APPROPRIATE PARTY FOR SUCH APPEAL (PER USA HOCKEY BYLAW 10).

H. EXPENSES

A BOND OF \$500.00 IN THE FORM OF A CERTIFIED CHECK PAYABLE TO PNAHA (OR SUCH OTHER AMOUNT AS THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS MAY FROM TIME TO TIME ESTABLISH) SHALL BE POSTED BY PETITIONER AT THE TIME OF FILING THE PETITION FOR ARBITRATION. THE PRESIDENT SHALL HAVE THE DISCRETION OF SETTING A BOND FOR ANY RESPONDENT IN AN AMOUNT THAT MAY BE LESS THAN THAT REQUIRED OF PETITIONER, OR OF WAVING SAID BOND ENTIRELY. THE RESPONDENT'S BOND SHALL BE POSTED AT THE TIME OF SELECTION OF THAT RESPONDENT'S PARTISAN ARBITRATOR. REGARDLESS OF THE AMOUNT OF ANY BOND POSTED, A PARTY SHALL BE LIABLE IN FULL FOR THOSE COSTS ASSESSED PURSUANT TO THIS BY-LAW.

THE COST INCURRED FOR THE SERVICES OF ALL ARBITRATORS, AND ANY OUTSIDE COUNSEL CONSULTED BY PNAHA OR ITS OFFICERS OR BOARD OF DIRECTORS, INCLUDING PER DIEM EXPENSES, ACTUAL AND NECESSARY TRAVEL, AND ALL OTHER COSTS SHALL BE BORNE BY THE PARTY WHO DOES NOT PREVAIL IN THE ARBITRATION. THE ARBITRATORS MAY ALSO IMPOSE AGAINST A PARTY WHO DOES NOT PREVAIL, THE COSTS OF THE PREVAILING PARTIES UPON A SHOWING OF SUCH PROOF AS THE ARBITRATORS MAY REASONABLY REQUEST. GENERALLY, THE DEFINITION OF "PREVAILING PARTY" SHALL BE, IF THE PETITIONER HAD (I) THE DECISION, IN ITS ENTIRETY REVERSED OR MODIFIED OR (II) EACH OF ITS ISSUES DECIDED IN ITS FAVOR, AND IF THE RESPONDENT, HAD (III) THE DECISION IN ITS ENTIRETY UPHELD OR (IV) EACH OF THE ISSUES OF THE PETITIONER DECIDED IN ITS FAVOR. COST SHALL INCLUDE THE FEES AND EXPENSES IN OBTAINING OR PRODUCING MATERIALS AND WITNESSES, AND THOSE ASSOCIATED WITH EACH PERSON WORKING ON THIS MATTER ON BEHALF OF THE PREVAILING PARTY. IN LIGHT OF THE VITAL SERVICES PROVIDED BY VOLUNTEERS IN ALL PHASES OF HOCKEY, "COST" AS USED HEREIN SHALL ALSO INCLUDE THE VALUE OF A VOLUNTEER'S TIME AS MEASURED BY THAT INDIVIDUAL'S CUSTOMARY WORK POSITION OR THE NATURE OF THE SERVICES

ACTUALLY RENDERED, WHICHEVER IS GREATER. ALL COSTS DETERMINED HEREIN SHALL BE DEDUCTED FROM THE BOND AND PAID WITHIN FOURTEEN (14) DAYS. THE UNUSED PORTION OF ANY BOND REQUIRED HEREIN SHALL BE MAINTAINED BY THE CORPORATION TO COVER INDIRECT EXPENSES RELATED TO THE ADMINISTRATION OF THE DISPUTE RESOLUTION PROCEDURE.

I. EXCLUSIVE REMEDY

FOR THOSE DISPUTES WHICH FALL WITHIN THE JURISDICTION OF THIS BY-LAW, THE PROCEDURE ESTABLISHED HEREIN SHALL CONSTITUTE THE SOLE AND EXCLUSIVE REMEDY. FAILURE TO FOLLOW AND ABIDE BY THESE PROVISIONS SHALL SUBJECT A PARTY, AND ANY PERSON OR ENTITY REPRESENTING, PARTICIPATING WITH OR AIDING SUCH PARTY, TO THE FOLLOWING:

- 1. LIABILITY FOR ANY AND ALL EXPENSES AND COSTS, DIRECT AND INDIRECT, AND INCLUDING REASONABLE ATTORNEY FEES AND THE VALUE OF VOLUNTEER TIME, INCURRED BY PNAHA OR ANY OTHER GOVERNING BODY; AND
- 2. IMMEDIATE SUSPENSION AND/OR DISQUALIFICATION FROM MEMBERSHIP AND FORFEITURE OF THE RIGHT TO PARTICIPATE IN PNAHA OR ANY OF ITS SANCTIONED EVENTS OR ANY OF ITS MEMBER ORGANIZATIONS OR MEMBER TEAMS.

J. COURT PROCEEDINGS

In the event of recourse to the courts of any jurisdiction on any matter and for any reason and without adhering to these Bylaws (and without altering prohibition against such recourse stated in these By-Laws), the following principles shall prevail:

- 1. THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF [COLORADO] SHALL GOVERN;
- 2. THE CONSTRUCTIONS, INTERPRETATIONS, RULINGS, PROCEDURES, DECISION AND OPINIONS OF A GOVERNING BODY, AND ITS DIRECTORS, OFFICERS AND OTHER DULY AUTHORIZED PERSONNEL, SHALL BE DEFERRED TO AS BEING THE PRODUCT OF ITS EXPERIENCE AND JUDGMENTAL EXPERTISE IN AMATEUR HOCKEY AND IN THE ADMINISTRATION THEREOF. IN THE EVENT OF A CONFLICT IN CONSTRUCTION, INTERPRETATIONS, RULINGS, DECISIONS AND OPINIONS BETWEEN GOVERNING BODIES, THEY SHALL BE GIVEN PRECEDENCE IN THE FOLLOWING ORDER: USA HOCKEY, DISTRICT, PNAHA AND THEN LOCAL, WITH USA HOCKEY BEING CONSIDERED THE ORIGINAL GOVERNING BODY.
- 3. THE FACT THAT ANOTHER REASONABLE INFERENCE OR INTERPRETATION COULD BE MADE WILL NOT BE GROUNDS FOR OVERRULING OR MODIFYING A DECISION OF A GOVERNING BODY (INCLUDING ITS DULY AUTHORIZED PERSONNEL);
- 4. ONLY THE EVIDENCE AND THEORIES EXPLICITLY PRESENTED TO THE HIGHEST GOVERNING BODY FOR ITS CONSIDERATION PRIOR TO THE RENDERING OF ANY DECISION BY THAT GOVERNING BODY SHALL BE PRESENTED OR CONSIDERED IN COURT;
- 5. THE BURDEN OF PROOF SHALL BE ON THE PARTY ATTEMPTING TO HAVE ANY DECISION OR ACTION OF A GOVERNING BODY OR PNAHA (INCLUDING EITHER OF THEIR DULY AUTHORIZED PERSONNEL) REVERSED, MODIFIED OR CHANGED IN ANY WAY, AND SAID BURDEN SHALL BE THE EQUIVALENT OF THE HIGHEST DEGREE OF PROOF REQUIRED IN ANY CIVIL PROCEEDING;
- 6. GIVEN THE FACT THAT PNAHA AND THE GOVERNING BODIES ARE NOT-FOR-PROFIT ORGANIZATIONS ADMINISTERED BY VOLUNTEER EFFORT, EACH PARTY NOT SUCCESSFUL IN OVERTURNING IN ITS ENTIRETY A PROCEDURE, RULING OR OTHER DECISION OF A GOVERNING BODY, SHALL PAY FOR ANY AND ALL FEES, EXPENSES AND OTHER COSTS OF PNAHA AND OF THE GOVERNING BODY WITH RESPECT TO THAT MATTER (INCLUDING, BUT NOT LIMITED TO: ATTORNEY'S FEES, COURT, COURT REPORTER, TRANSCRIPT, DOCUMENT AND EXHIBIT COSTS; FEES AND EXPENSES OF CONSULTANTS, EXPERTS, INVESTIGATORS AND WITNESSES, AND IN OBTAINING OR PRODUCING MATERIALS OR EVIDENCE, TRANSPORTATION AND OTHER PER DIEM OR

INCIDENTAL EXPENSES OF EACH OF THE FOREGOING AND OF ALL VOLUNTEERS; AND, THE VALUE OF EACH VOLUNTEER'S TIME, BOTH IN AND OUT OF COURT, AS MEASURED BY THAT INDIVIDUAL'S CUSTOMARY WORK POSITION).

K. CONFLICT WITH USA HOCKEY BYLAWS.

In the event of any conflict between this Article III and the USA Hockey Bylaws, the applicable provisions from the USA Hockey Bylaws shall govern.

ARTICLE V - SUSPENSIONS AND EXPULSIONS

THE DISCOVERY OF ANY VIOLATION OF THE CONSTITUTION, BY-LAWS, RULES AND REGULATIONS OR DECISIONS OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF PNAHA BY ANY MEMBER ORGANIZATION, MEMBER TEAM, ALLIED MEMBER OR ANY OTHER MEMBER PLAYER, OF THIS ASSOCIATION, SHALL SUBJECT THE OFFENDING MEMBER OR PLAYER TO SUSPENSION BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS. HOWEVER, EXCEPT IN THOSE SITUATIONS WHERE THE USA HOCKEY BYLAWS ALLOW FOR A SUSPENSION OR EXPULSION PRIOR TO OR WITHOUT A HEARING BEFORE ANY ACTION MAY BE TAKEN, A HEARING MUST BE HELD IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE PROVISION OF USA HOCKEY BYLAW 10.

In these situations, or circumstances where the USA Hockey Bylaws allow an appeal of a suspension or expulsion, any suspended member or player shall have the right of appeal to the Board of Directors at its next meeting for a review of a suspension or expulsion. In the event of appeal, to overturn the previous action, a two-thirds (2/3) majority vote of the members shall be required.

ARTICLE VI - MEMBERSHIP

SECTION 1: APPLICATION

- 1. APPLICATION FOR FUTURE MEMBERSHIP IN PNAHA SHALL BE IN WRITING ON THE PNAHA MEMBERSHIP APPLICATION FORM ACCORDING TO THE PNAHA MEMBERSHIP APPLICATION PROCEDURE AND SHALL BE ACCOMPANIED BY THE \$250.00 PNAHA MEMBERSHIP APPLICATION FEE. MEMBERS SHALL FALL INTO THREE CATEGORIES: MEMBER ORGANIZATIONS, MEMBER TEAMS AND ALLIED MEMBERSHIP, ACCORDING TO THE REQUIREMENTS AND QUALIFICATIONS SET FORTH HEREIN.
- 2. CURRENT MEMBERS THAT DO NOT MEET THE QUALIFICATIONS SET FORTH IN SECTION 2 BELOW FOR THEIR CURRENT MEMBERSHIP CLASSIFICATION IN A GIVEN REGULAR SEASON SHALL AUTOMATICALLY FORFEIT ITS MEMBERSHIP, UNLESS THE MEMBER QUALIFIES FOR A DIFFERENT CLASSIFICATION, IN WHICH CASE THE MEMBER SHALL CONTINUE AS A MEMBER IN THAT CLASSIFICATION. ANY MEMBER THAT COMPLETELY FORFEITS ITS MEMBERSHIP FOR FAILING TO MEET THE QUALIFICATIONS SET FORTH IN SECTION 2 BELOW MUST REAPPLY FOR MEMBERSHIP AS OUTLINED HEREIN.

SECTION 2: QUALIFICATIONS FOR MEMBERSHIP

THE MEMBERSHIP OF THIS ASSOCIATION SHALL BE COMPOSED OF ICE HOCKEY ORGANIZATIONS, TEAMS AND INDIVIDUALS IN THE CATEGORIES DESCRIBED BELOW. THE FOLLOWING ARE THE QUALIFICATIONS FOR MEMBERSHIP AS A MEMBER ORGANIZATION, MEMBER TEAM OR ALLIED MEMBER:

1. MEMBER ORGANIZATIONS

A. MEMBER ORGANIZATIONS MUST PROPERLY REGISTER ITS TEAMS WITH USA HOCKEY AND COMPLY WITH THE BY-LAWS, CONSTITUTION, POLICIES AND RULES AND REGULATIONS OF PNAHA AND USA HOCKEY.

- B. MEMBER ORGANIZATIONS MUST FIELD NO LESS THAN ONE TEAM IN AT LEAST THREE RECOGNIZED USA HOCKEY YOUTH AGE DIVISIONS. OR NO LESS THAN TWO RECOGNIZED USA HOCKEY GIRLS/WOMEN'S AGE DIVISIONS.
- C. THE PNAHA BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF PNAHA SHALL ESTABLISH THE CRITERIA TO BECOME A MEMBER ORGANIZATION. SUCH CRITERIA SHALL INCLUDE. BUT ARE NOT LIMITED TO THE FOLLOWING:
 - I. THE ORGANIZATION MUST HAVE A BOARD OF DIRECTORS.
 - II. THE ORGANIZATION'S OPERATIONS MUST BE CONSISTENT WITH AND FOLLOW THE BY-LAWS, RULES AND REGULATIONS, AND POLICIES OF USA HOCKEY AND PNAHA.
 - III. THE ORGANIZATION MUST DEMONSTRATE THE FINANCIAL CAPACITY TO OPERATE THE PROGRAMS AS PRESENTED IN THEIR APPLICATION.
 - IV. THE ORGANIZATION MUST BE ABLE TO PROVIDE OR ACCESS SUFFICIENT ICE TO CONSISTENT WITH THE SIZE OF ITS PROGRAM.
 - V. THE ORGANIZATION MUST MAINTAIN DIRECTOR AND OFFICER LIABILITY INSURANCE AND PNAHA MUST BE NAMED AS AN ADDITIONAL INSURED.
 - VI. THE ORGANIZATION MUST BE ABLE TO DEMONSTRATE AN INTERNAL DEVELOPMENT PROGRAM FOR CURRENT AND FUTURE PLAYERS, SUCH AS AN AFFILIATION WITH A USA HOCKEY BEGINNER PROGRAM OR IF A PLAN INVOLVES AN EXTERNAL ENTITY, A LETTER MUST BE INCLUDED FROM THE EXTERNAL PARTY CONFIRMING THE RELATIONSHIP.
- D. THE MEMBER MUST BE A MEMBER IN GOOD STANDING UNDER SUBSECTION 4 BELOW.

2. MEMBER TEAMS

- a. MEMBER TEAMS MUST PROPERLY REGISTER WITH USA HOCKEY AND COMPLY WITH THE BY-LAWS, CONSTITUTION, POLICIES AND RULES AND REGULATIONS OF PNAHA AND USA HOCKEY.
- b. The PNAHA Board of Directors shall establish the criteria to become a Member Team. Such criteria shall include, but are not limited to the following:
 - i. The team must have a board of directors or a designated PNAHA Team Representative.
 - ii. The team's operations must be consistent with and follow the By-Laws, Rules and Regulations, and Policies of USA Hockey and PNAHA.
 - iii. The team must demonstrate the financial capacity to operate the programs as presented in their application.
 - iv. The team must be able to provide or access sufficient ice to support an appropriate number of home games and practices consistent with the size of its program.
 - v. The designated Team Representative must sign a hold harmless agreement acceptable to PNAHA.

- C. THE MEMBER MUST BE A MEMBER IN GOOD STANDING UNDER SUBSECTION 4 BELOW
- 3. ALLIED MEMBERSHIP: ALLIED MEMBERSHIP SHALL BE GRANTED TO THE FOLLOWING INDIVIDUALS.
 - a. USA HOCKEY OFFICERS AND DIRECTORS, AND COUNCIL, SECTION AND COMMITTEE MEMBERS (ELECTED OR APPOINTED).
 - b. Honorary and lifetime directors of PNAHA.
 - c. Officers, coaches and team officials from Member Organizations and Member Teams.
 - d. PARENTS OF REGISTERED PLAYERS.

4. MEMBERSHIP IN GOOD STANDING.

a. ALL MEMBER ORGANIZATIONS AND MEMBER TEAMS MUST BE "MEMBERS IN GOOD STANDING" WITH PNAHA AND USA HOCKEY. EACH MEMBER ORGANIZATION AND MEMBER TEAM SHALL SUBMIT TO PNAHA EACH YEAR, INCLUDING BUT NOT LIMITED TO, A COPY OF ITS CONSTITUTION OR ARTICLES OF INCORPORATION, BY-LAWS, RULES AND REGULATIONS (IF ANY), USA HOCKEY MEMBER PROGRAM AGREEMENT TO ADOPT AND COMPLY WITH SAFE SPORT PROGRAM, A LIST OF THEIR CURRENT OFFICERS, AND A MEMBERSHIP COMPLIANCE CHECKLIST USING PNAHA'S CURRENT FORM, ALL CERTIFIED BY ITS PRESIDING OFFICER (I.E., THE PRESIDENT, OWNER OR DESIGNATED TEAM REPRESENTATIVE), PRIOR TO PNAHA'S SPRING/SUMMER MEETING.

MEMBERSHIP WITHIN PNAHA IS NON-TRANSFERABLE WITHOUT THE WRITTEN CONSENT OF PNAHA, WHICH SHALL REQUIRE AT A MINIMUM CERTIFICATION THAT THE ORGANIZATION OR TEAM CONTINUES TO SATISFY THE MEMBERSHIP REQUIREMENTS AND IS A MEMBER IN GOOD STANDING.

- b. Members who conduct themselves in such a manner as to cause harm to the credibility of PNAHA and youth hockey put their "Membership in Good Standing" at risk. Conduct of this nature includes, but is not limited to, organizational recruitment of players from other members, failure to pay ice rinks, failure to pay leagues, suppliers and officials, knowingly rostering a player not in good standing with his/her previous USA Hockey organization, and providing false information to donors. Members who are alleged by PNAHA or its Board of Directors to have conducted themselves in a manner which violates these Membership in Good Standing guidelines are required to respond to the PNAHA Board of Directors or such committee as the Board delegates, and to informational requests from such parties, to review potential disciplinary actions.
- C. In the event any Member Organization or Member Team is alleged by the PNAHA Board of Directors or a committee designated by the Board or the PNAHA Board of Directors to have violated the Membership in Good Standing Guidelines, may be suspended by PNAHA, or PNAHA may impose other disciplinary action, following a hearing held in accordance with USA Hockey Bylaw 10 unless, under the USA Hockey Bylaws, no such hearing is required.

SECTION 3: VOTING

- 1. EACH MEMBER ORGANIZATION SHALL BE REPRESENTED BY ONE (1) DIRECTOR WHO SHALL HAVE ONE (1) VOTE, AS ELECTED BY THE PARTICIPANTS OF THE MEMBER ORGANIZATION.
- 2. THE MEMBER TEAMS SHALL BE COLLECTIVELY REPRESENTED BY ONE (1) DIRECTOR ELECTED BY THE PARTICIPANTS OF THE MEMBER TEAMS.
- 3. ALLIED MEMBERS SHALL NOT HAVE A VOTE.

SECTION 4: MEMBERSHIP COMMITTEE

THE PNAHA PRESIDENT SHALL APPOINT A MEMBERSHIP COMMITTEE OF THREE TO FIVE PERSONS WHOSE ROLE SHALL BE TO REVIEW MEMBERSHIP APPLICATION FORMS FOR COMPLETENESS, PROVIDE APPLICANTS WITH ASSISTANCE WITH COMPLETING THE APPLICATIONS ACCORDING TO THE MEMBERSHIP APPLICATION PROCEDURE, REVIEWING THE APPLICATIONS AND MAKING RECOMMENDATIONS TO THE PNAHA BOARD OF DIRECTORS ON WHETHER THE MEMBER ORGANIZATION(S) OR MEMBER TEAM(S) HAVE SATISFIED THE MEMBERSHIP REQUIREMENTS FOR THE APPLICABLE MEMBERSHIP CLASSIFICATION.

ARTICLE VII - REGISTRATION

SECTION 1: FEES

EACH MEMBER ASSOCIATION, CLUB, LEAGUE, TEAM OR OTHER ORGANIZATION SHALL PAY A REGISTRATION FEE AS ESTABLISHED ANNUALLY BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS, PAYABLE AT THE PNAHA ANNUAL FALL MEETING. ALL INTERMEDIATE AND SENIOR TEAMS SHALL PAY AN ANNUAL REGISTRATION FEE AS ESTABLISHED BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS. (NOTE: THESE FEES ARE PAID TO PNAHA FROM USA HOCKEY REGISTRATION FEE SYSTEM)

SECTION 2: DUES

EACH MEMBER ASSOCIATION, CLUB, LEAGUE, TEAM OR OTHER ORGANIZATION WILL PAY ANNUAL "PLAYERS DUES" PER PLAYER, PER TEAM, PER YEAR. ALL "PLAYERS DUES" SHALL BE PAID BY 1 NOVEMBER OF THE CURRENT YEAR. AS PLAYERS ARE ACQUIRED THROUGHOUT THE CURRENT YEAR, "PLAYER DUES" ARE TO BE PAID WITHIN 30 DAYS OF REGISTRATION. (NOTE: THESE FEES ARE PAID TO PNAHA FROM USA HOCKEY REGISTRATION FEE SYSTEM)

SECTION 3: SANCTIONS

MEMBERS FAILING TO PAY THE ESTABLISHED REGISTRATION FEES, "PLAYERS DUES" AND/OR FINES, WHEN PAYABLE, SHALL BE SUBJECT TO IMMEDIATE SUSPENSION FROM PNAHA. THE CONTINUED FAILURE TO PAY THE REQUIRED REGISTRATION FEES AND/OR DUES FOR A PERIOD OF THIRTY (30) DAYS SHALL RESULT IN THE LOSS OF MEMBERSHIP.

ARTICLE VIII - BOARD OF DIRECTORS

SECTION 1: POWERS AND DUTIES OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THIS ASSOCIATION SHALL FORMULATE, PRESCRIBE, ALTER AND AMEND THE CONSTITUTION, BY-LAWS, RULES AND REGULATIONS FOR THE GOVERNMENT OF PNAHA, NOT INCONSISTENT WITH THE SCOPE AND PROVISIONS OF THE PNAHA CONSTITUTION, BY-LAWS, RULES AND REGULATIONS OR THOSE OF USA HOCKEY.

SECTION 2: BOARD OF DIRECTORS

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF PNAHA SHALL ASSUME SUCH POWERS AND DUTIES AS FOLLOWS:

- TO FILL ANY VACANCY THAT MAY OCCUR AMONG THE ELECTED OFFICERS OF THIS ASSOCIATION UNTIL THE ANNUAL MEETING.
- 2. IMPOSE AND ENFORCE PENALTIES FOR ANY VIOLATION OF THE ARTICLES OF INCORPORATION, CONSTITUTION, BY-LAWS, RULES AND REGULATIONS OF PNAHA OR OF USA HOCKEY.
- 3. TO ACT UPON ANY TEMPORARY RULING BY THE PRESIDENT, OTHER OFFICERS OR SPECIAL COMMITTEE, NOT PROVIDED FOR IN THE BY-LAWS, OR RULES AND REGULATIONS OF PNAHA.
- 4. TO ESTABLISH AND COLLECT THE FEES AND FUNDS OF PNAHA AND DIRECT THE EXPENDITURE OF MONIES.
- 5. TO SERVE AS CHAIRMAN OF SUCH OR COMMITTEES AS MAY BE DIRECTED BY THE PRESIDENT OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS, REPORT THE RECOMMENDATIONS AND PROPOSALS OF SUCH COMMITTEES TO THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS FOR APPROPRIATE ACTION AND-ASSIST THE OFFICERS IN THE OPERATION OF PNAHA.
- 6. TO ESTABLISH AND DEFINE THE RULES AND LAWS OF AMATEUR HOCKEY WITHIN THE JURISDICTION OF THE AFFILIATE.
- 7. HAVE IMMEDIATE ACCESS THROUGH A QUALIFIED AUDITOR ON DEMAND OR ON THE DEMAND OF THE PRESIDENT, TO ALL BOOKS, VOUCHERS, RECEIPTS AND RECORDS GENERALLY PERTAINING TO THE FINANCES AND OPERATION OF PNAHA, ITS MEMBERS, OFFICERS AND DIRECTORS.
- 8. TO REMOVE FORTHWITH, FROM OFFICE, ANY OFFICER OR MEMBER OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS FOR GOOD CAUSE OR CONDUCT DETRIMENTAL TO THE SPORT OF ICE HOCKEY.

ARTICLE IX - OFFICERS/OFFICIALS POWERS AND DUTIES

SECTION 1: PRESIDENT (VOTING MEMBER)

THE POWERS AND DUTIES OF THE PRESIDENT SHALL INCLUDE:

- 1. Preside at all meetings of PNAHA.
- 2. THE POWER TO CALL SPECIAL MEETINGS OF PNAHA AT HIS/HER DISCRETION.
- 3. THE POWER TO DETERMINE QUESTIONS ARISING FROM EMERGENCIES NOT PROVIDED FOR IN THE CONSTITUTION, BY-LAWS, RULES AND REGULATIONS.

- 4. He/she shall attend and represent PNAHA in any and all ice hockey meetings within the jurisdiction of PNAHA when deemed necessary.
- 5. He/she shall attend the USA HOCKEY Annual Meeting and any other meetings as may be required as the official representative of PNAHA.
- 6. He/she shall have the power to institute disciplinary proceedings for good cause or conduct that is detrimental to ice hockey, and/or, when authorized to do so without a prior hearing under the USA Hockey Bylaws, take disciplinary action as deemed necessary against a Member Organization, Member Team, Allied Member or any association, league, club, team, coach, player or official for unsportsmanlike conduct on or off the ice, or for abusive language to any officials, or for failure to comply with the Constitution, Bylaws, Rules and Regulations of PNAHA or USA Hockey. Any ruling by the President may be appealed to the Board of Directors, in writing, to the Secretary within fifteen (15) days after the receipt of the notification of the ruling. The Secretary shall notify the Board, by phone, within 48 hours.
- 7. He/she shall perform any and all duties usual to the office of the president including the powers and duties of the Board of Directors in cases of emergency when it is impossible or impractical to summon a meeting of the Board of Directors to secure a vote.

SECTION 2: VICE PRESIDENT(S) (VOTING MEMBER)

- 1. THE POWERS AND DUTIES OF EACH VICE PRESIDENT SHALL INCLUDE:
- 2. That the 1st vice president will assume all the powers and duties of the President in the event of his/her absence or incapacity.
- 3. TO PERFORM ANY AND ALL FUNCTIONS AS MAY BE DIRECTED BY THE PRESIDENT OR THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS.
- 4. He/she shall attend all meetings of PNAHA and any other meetings as prescribed by the President or Board of Directors.

SECTION 3: SECRETARY-TREASURER (VOTING MEMBER)

THE SECRETARY-TREASURER AS SECRETARY SHALL KEEP THE RECORDS OF THE PNAHA, CONDUCT CORRESPONDENCE, ISSUE NOTICES OF ALL MEETINGS, AND PERFORM THE DUTIES USUAL TO THE OFFICE, INCLUDING:

- 1. He/she shall attend all meetings of PNAHA.
- 2. He/she shall send typed minutes of all meetings of PNAHA to the elected officers and members of the Board of Directors within fifteen (15) days of any official meeting.
- 3. He/she shall submit to USA HOCKEY an annual report of the activities of his/her affiliate for incorporation in the published Official USA HOCKEY Guide Book.
- 4. He/she shall send a list of all ice hockey officers to the members of the Board of Directors for dissemination to his/her respective local associations.

THE SECRETARY-TREASURER, AS TREASURER, SHALL HAVE THE RESPONSIBILITY FOR RECEIVING ALL FUNDS DUE PNAHA, DEPOSITING THEM IN A CHARTERED BANK, AND PAYING THE RIGHTFUL OBLIGATIONS OF PNAHA. He/SHE SHALL HAVE ALL OTHER DUTIES USUAL TO THE OFFICE OF TREASURER, INCLUDING:

- 1. He/she shall receive all dues and fees for membership in PNAHA and deposit them to the account of the Association.
- 2. He/she shall be the signatory of checks of PNAHA account, however, in the event of emergency, this duty may be deferred to the president.
- 3. He/she shall attend all official functions of PNAHA where his services may be required.
- 4. He/she shall render a financial statement at the Annual and General Meetings of PNAHA, including an accurate and detailed record of all income and expenses.

SECTION 4: SUPERVISOR OF OFFICIALS (NON-VOTING MEMBER)

IT SHALL BE THE RESPONSIBILITY OF THE SUPERVISOR OF OFFICIALS TO SELECT AND SUPERVISE THE "ON-ICE" OFFICIALS FOR ANY PNAHA SPONSORED EVENT INCLUDING TOURNAMENTS AND PLAYOFFS. He/SHE SHALL INSURE THAT ADEQUATE AND QUALIFIED OFFICIALS ARE AVAILABLE FOR EACH GAME. He/SHE SHALL ALSO ADVISE THE MEMBERS OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF NEW RULES AND REGULATIONS THAT ARE PASSED BY USA HOCKEY THAT WILL AFFECT PLAY IN THEIR RESPECTIVE ASSOCIATIONS. He/SHE SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR THE OFFICIAL USA HOCKEY INTERPRETATION OF THE PLAYING RULES AT ALL TOURNAMENTS AND PLAYOFFS OF PNAHA.

SECTION 5: COACHING DIRECTOR (NON-VOTING MEMBER)

IT SHALL BE THE RESPONSIBILITY OF THE COACHING DIRECTOR TO SUPERVISE THE COACHING PROGRAM DEEMED BY USA HOCKEY. THE COACHING DIRECTOR WILL ACT AS LIAISON FOR OTHER PNAHA ASSOCIATION COACHING STAFFS IN THE CAPACITY OF ADVISOR.

SECTION 6: PLAYER DEVELOPMENT DIRECTOR (NON-VOTING MEMBER)

IT SHALL BE THE RESPONSIBILITY OF THE PLAYER DEVELOPMENT DIRECTOR TO SUPERVISE THE DEVELOPMENT PROGRAM OF PNAHA INCLUDING WORKING DIRECTLY WITH ALL AFFILIATES TO IMPROVE PLAYER DEVELOPMENT WITHIN THE STATE. THE PLAYER DEVELOPMENT DIRECTOR WILL ACT AS LIAISON BETWEEN AND ADVISOR TO ALL PNAHA PLAYER DEVELOPMENT STAFF. THE PLAYER DEVELOPMENT DIRECTOR DUTIES WILL INCLUDE ASSISTING WITH TRAINING OF LOCAL PROGRAMS AND OTHERS WITHIN THE AFFILIATE, SERVING AS THE AFFILIATE'S INITIAL CONTACT FOR PERSONS WITH QUESTIONS AROUND THE ADM MODEL AND IMPLEMENTATION IN THEIR AFFILIATE. THE PLAYER DEVELOPMENT DIRECTOR WILL ALSO SHARE INFORMATION FROM USA HOCKEY TO THE OTHER AFFILIATES WITHIN PNAHA. THE PLAYER DEVELOPMENT DIRECTOR WILL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR ADMINISTERING THE PNAHA EVALUATION PROCESS AND THE SELECTION OF PNAHA PLAYERS TO ANY USA HOCKEY CAMPS OR EVENTS. (UPDATED PER JANUARY 7, 2023 MEETING MINUTES)

SECTION 7: SENIOR DIRECTOR (NON-VOTING MEMBER)

LIAISON WITH ALL SENIOR TEAMS IN PNAHA REGION.

SECTION 8: JUNIOR DIRECTOR (NON-VOTING MEMBER)

LIAISON WITH ALL JUNIOR TEAMS IN THE PNAHA REGION.

SECTION 9 GIRLS/WOMEN'S DIRECTOR (NON-VOTING MEMBER)

It shall be the responsibility of the Girls/Women's Director for the planning, development and conduct of the Girls/Women's hockey within PNAHA. Shall work directly with each Affiliate in growing interest towards independent Girls/Women's programs. Will have the responsibility of planning, scheduling, and maintaining the budget for the Girls/Women's Development Camp. As the Girls/Women's Director you will

BE RESPONSIBLE FOR ADMINISTERING THE PNAHA EVALUATION PROCESS AND THE SELECTION OF PNAHA PLAYERS TO ANY USA HOCKEY CAMPS OR EVENTS. (NOTE: VOTED AND APPROVED AT SEPTEMBER 11, 2021 FALL MEETING)

SECTION 10 SAFE SPORT COORDINATOR (NON-VOTING MEMBER)

EACH USA HOCKEY AFFILIATE SHALL HAVE SHALL HAVE AN AFFILIATE SAFE SPORT COORDINATOR WHOSE DUTIES WILL INCLUDE MONITORING THE TRAINING OF LOCAL PROGRAM ADMINISTRATORS AND OTHERS WITHIN THE AFFILIATE, SERVING AS THE AFFILIATE'S INITIAL CONTACT FOR PERSONS REPORTING SUSPECTED ABUSE, MISCONDUCT OR OTHER VIOLATIONS, COMPILING INFORMATION ON DISCIPLINARY ISSUES WITHIN THE AFFILIATE AND, WHEN APPROPRIATE, REPORTING SUCH INFORMATION TO USA HOCKEY.

SECTON 11 GOALIE DEVELOPMENT COORDINATOR (NON-VOTING MEMBER)

THE GOALIE DEVELOPMENT COORDINATOR'S (GDCs) MULTIFACETED DUTIES WILL INCLUDE EDUCATING LOCAL GOALIE COACHES, MEETING WITH CLUBS AND ASSOCIATIONS TO IMPLEMENT GOALIE TRAINING CURRICULUM AND HELPING LEAD USA HOCKEY'S STUDENT GOALTENDING COACH PROGRAMS.

SECTION 12 REGISTRAR (NON-VOTING MEMBER)

THE REGISTRAR PROVIDES ALL REGISTRATION FUNCTIONS FOR THE PNAHA AFFILIATES WITHIN PNAHA.

SECTION 13 GROWTH DEVELOPMENT COORDINATOR (NON-VOTING MEMBER)

THE GROWTH DEVELOPMENT COORDINATOR — (TBD PER USA HOCKEY DIRECTIVE)

ARTICLE X - OFFICER'S/OFFICIALS EXPENSES

THE FOLLOWING EXPENSES WILL BE REIMBURSED BY PNAHA TO ALL OFFICERS OF PNAHA:

SECTION 1: PRESIDENT (VOTING MEMBER)

THE PRESIDENT SHALL BE ALLOWED EXPENSES TO ALL MEETINGS, TOURNAMENTS AND PLAYOFFS OF PNAHA OR REQUIRED BY PNAHA. THESE EXPENSES INCLUDE MEALS AND LODGING, COMMERCIAL TRANSPORTATION, WHEN NECESSARY, IN THE PERFORMANCE OF HIS/HER DUTIES. HE/SHE SHALL RECEIVE REIMBURSEMENT FOR POSTAGE AND PHONE CALLS AND OTHER OFFICE EXPENSES IN THE PERFORMANCE OF THOSE DUTIES, AIR FARE AND LODGING AT THE TOURIST RATE TO ATTEND THE USA HOCKEY NATIONAL ANNUAL MEETING. ALL EXPENSES SHALL BE ALLOWED WITH THE SUBMISSION OF A WRITTEN STATEMENT, DOCUMENTATION OF EXPENSES AND RECEIPTS TO THE TREASURER FOR PAYMENT.

SECTION 2: VICE PRESIDENT (VOTING MEMBER)

THE VICE PRESIDENT SHALL BE ALLOWED THE SAME EXPENSES AS THE PRESIDENT AND UNDER THE SAME CONDITIONS, EXCEPT FOR THOSE OF THE USA HOCKEY NATIONAL MEETING AND OTHER MEETINGS OR EVENTS NOT AUTHORIZED BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OR THE PRESIDENT.

SECTION 3: SECRETARY-TREASURER (VOTING MEMBER)

THE SECRETARY-TREASURER SHALL BE ALLOWED THE SAME EXPENSES AS THE PRESIDENT AND UNDER THE SAME CONDITIONS, EXCEPT FOR THOSE OF THE USA HOCKEY NATIONAL MEETING AND OTHER MEETINGS OR EVENTS NOT AUTHORIZED BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OR THE PRESIDENT.

SECTION 4: SUPERVISOR OF OFFICIALS (NON-VOTING MEMBER)

THE SUPERVISOR OF OFFICIALS SHALL BE ALLOWED THE SAME EXPENSES AS THE PRESIDENT AND UNDER THE SAME CONDITIONS, EXCEPT FOR THOSE OF THE USA HOCKEY NATIONAL MEETING AND OTHER MEETINGS OR EVENTS NOT AUTHORIZED BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OR THE PRESIDENT.

SECTION 5: COACHING DIRECTOR (NON-VOTING MEMBER)

THE COACHING DIRECTOR SHALL BE ALLOWED THE SAME EXPENSES AS THE PRESIDENT AND UNDER THE SAME CONDITIONS, EXCEPT FOR THOSE OF THE USA HOCKEY NATIONAL MEETING AND OTHER MEETINGS OR EVENTS NOT AUTHORIZED BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OR THE PRESIDENT.

SECTION 6: PLAYER DEVELOPMENT DIRECTOR (NON-VOTING MEMBER)

THE PLAYER DEVELOPMENT DIRECTOR SHALL BE ALLOWED THE SAME EXPENSES AS THE PRESIDENT AND UNDER THE SAME CONDITIONS, EXCEPT FOR THOSE OF THE USA HOCKEY NATIONAL MEETING AND OTHER MEETINGS OR EVENTS NOT AUTHORIZED BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OR THE PRESIDENT.

SECTION 7: SENIOR DIRECTOR (NON-VOTING MEMBER)

THE SENIOR DIRECTOR SHALL BE ALLOWED THE SAME EXPENSES AS THE PRESIDENT AND UNDER THE SAME CONDITIONS, EXCEPT FOR THOSE OF THE USA HOCKEY NATIONAL MEETING AND OTHER MEETINGS OR EVENTS NOT AUTHORIZED BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OR THE PRESIDENT.

SECTION 8: JUNIOR DIRECTOR (NON-VOTING MEMBER)

THE JUNIOR-DIRECTOR SHALL BE ALLOWED THE SAME EXPENSES AS THE PRESIDENT AND UNDER THE SAME CONDITIONS, EXCEPT FOR THOSE OF THE USA HOCKEY NATIONAL MEETING AND OTHER MEETINGS OR EVENTS NOT AUTHORIZED BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OR THE PRESIDENT.

SECTION 9 GIRLS/WOMEN'S DIRECTOR (NON-VOTING MEMBER)

THE GIRLS/WOMEN' DIRECTOR SHALL BE ALLOWED THE SAME EXPENSES AS THE PRESIDENT AND UNDER THE SAME CONDITIONS, EXCEPT FOR THOSE OF THE USA HOCKEY NATIONAL MEETING AND OTHER MEETINGS OR EVENTS NOT AUTHORIZED BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OR THE PRESIDENT.

SECTION 10 SAFE SPORT COORDINATOR (NON-VOTING MEMBER)

ANY EXPENSES NOT REIMBURSED BY USA HOCKEY WILL BE PAID BY PNAHA EXCEPT FOR THOSE OF THE USA HOCKEY NATIONAL MEETING AND OTHER MEETINGS OR EVENTS NOT AUTHORIZED BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OR THE PRESIDENT.

SECTION 11 GOALIE DEVELOPMENT COORDINATOR (NON-VOTING MEMBER)

ANY EXPENSES NOT REIMBURSED BY USA HOCKEY WILL BE PAID BY PNAHA EXCEPT FOR THOSE OF THE USA HOCKEY NATIONAL MEETING AND OTHER MEETINGS OR EVENTS NOT AUTHORIZED BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OR THE PRESIDENT.

SECTION 12: REGISTRAR (NON-VOTING MEMBER)

ANY EXPENSES NOT REIMBURSED BY USA HOCKEY WILL BE PAID BY PNAHA EXCEPT FOR THOSE OF THE USA HOCKEY NATIONAL MEETING AND OTHER MEETINGS OR EVENTS NOT AUTHORIZED BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OR THE PRESIDENT.

SECTION 13 GROWTH DEVELOPMENT COORDINATOR (NON-VOTING MEMBER)

THE GROWTH DEVELOPMENT COORDINATOR - TBD (TBD PER USA HOCKEY DIRECTIVE)

ARTICLE XI – AMENDMENTS

SECTION 1:

AMENDMENTS OR ALTERATIONS TO THESE BY-LAWS SHALL BE ACCOMPLISHED BY A TWO THIRDS (2/3) MAJORITY VOTE OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS AT WHICH A QUORUM IS PRESENT.

SECTION 2:

THE SECRETARY-TREASURER SHALL NOTIFY ALL MEMBERS OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF ANY CHANGES IN THE BY-LAWS, RULES AND REGULATIONS OF PNAHA WITHIN THIRTY (30) DAYS OF THE DATE OF THE CHANGE.

ADDENDUM #1 NOTIFICATION OF INTENT TO AMEND

THE SECRETARY-TREASURER SHALL NOTIFY ALL PNAHA MEMBERS OF ANY INTENTIONS TO AMEND THE BY-LAWS OR CONSTITUTION OF PNAHA. THIS NOTIFICATION SHALL BE IN WRITING, STATING THE SUGGESTED WORDING OF THE PROPOSAL, 45 DAYS PRIOR TO THE MEETING AT WHICH THE PROPOSAL WILL BE VOTED ON. ANY INDIVIDUAL OR ASSOCIATION WISHING TO AMEND THE BY-LAWS OR CONSTITUTION MUST SUBMIT ITS SUGGESTION, IN THE PROPER FORMAT, 60 DAYS PRIOR TO THE MEETING AT WHICH THE PROPOSAL WILL BE VOTED ON.

PNAHA RULES & REGULATIONS

NOTES:	
	·

ARTICLE I - MEMBERSHIP AND TEAM REGISTRATIONS

THE USA HOCKEY ANNUAL GUIDE SHALL PREVAIL; WITH THE EXCEPTION THAT SHOULD ANY MEMBER ORGANIZATION FAIL TO REGISTER ALL OF THEIR PLAYERS AND TEAMS, THEY ARE NOT ELIGIBLE FOR TOURNAMENT SANCTION.

USA HOCKEY REGISTRATION IS PERFORMED ONLINE BY ACCESSING WWW.USAHOCKEY.COM. MEMBERSHIP IN PNAHA REQUIRES THE COMPLETION OF THE PNAHA MEMBERSHIP APPLICATION FORM. PNAHA MEMBERSHIP APPLICATION AND MEMBERSHIP APPLICATION PROCEDURE FORMS CAN BE REQUESTED FROM THE PNAHA PRESIDENT.

THE PERIOD FROM THE END OF THE USA HOCKEY NATIONAL YOUTH/GIRLS TOURNAMENT THROUGH AUGUST 31 OF THE SAME CALENDAR YEAR IS CONSIDERED THE SPRING/SUMMER HOCKEY SEASON. ALL APPLICABLE PNAHA BYLAWS AND RULES AND REGULATIONS REMAIN IN EFFECT. ALL SPRING/SUMMER LEAGUE TEAMS MUST BE REGISTERED WITH USA HOCKEY AND PNAHA. (UPDATED JUNE 2022 MEETING)

AFFILIATE MEMBERSHIP

AFFILIATE MEMBERSHIP IN THE PACIFIC NORTHWEST AMATEUR HOCKEY ASSOCIATION (PNAHA) IS AVAILABLE TO ANY BONA FIDE AMATEUR ICE HOCKEY ORGANIZATION THAT HAS ONE OR MORE TEAMS WHO ACTIVELY ENGAGE IN COMPETITIVE HOCKEY AND WHO ARE REGISTERED WITH USA HOCKEY AND PNAHA. APPLICATION FOR AFFILIATE MEMBERSHIP SHALL BE ON AN OFFICIAL AFFILIATE MEMBERSHIP APPLICATION FORM OR BY LETTER, WHICH INCLUDES THE FOLLOWING INFORMATION:

NAME OF ASSOCIATION
LOCATION
NAMES, ADDRESSES AND PHONE NUMBERS OF PRINCIPAL OFFICERS
NUMBER AND LEVEL OF TEAMS

ARTICLE II - CLASSIFICATION

THE USA HOCKEY ANNUAL GUIDE SHALL PREVAIL

ARTICLE III – SUSPENSIONS

EACH MEMBER ORGANIZATION SHALL ACT ON ALL MATTERS OF SUSPENSION CONCERNING PLAYERS OR TEAM PERSONNEL REGISTERED WITH SAID MEMBER ORGANIZATION. UPON RECEIPT OF NOTIFICATION OF AN INCIDENT INVOLVING A POSSIBLE SUSPENSION, A HEARING SHALL BE HELD WITHIN TEN (10) DAYS OF THE NOTIFICATION.

ALL PERSONS INVOLVED IN SUSPENSION HEARINGS SHALL BE GIVEN AT LEAST THREE (3) DAYS NOTICE (NOT INCLUDING HEARING DATE) AS TO THE DATE, TIME AND PLACE OF THE HEARING. AT THAT HEARING, ALL PARTIES INVOLVED SHALL BE ENTITLED TO BE PRESENT OR REPRESENTED WHILE TESTIMONY IS GIVEN BY ONE PARTY.

Any person suspended for three (3) or more games, and/or twenty (20) or more days, may appeal the decision to the President of PNAHA, such appeal to be in writing and within ten (10) days of notification of suspension. Reasonable effort to review the appeal will be made within ten (10) days of receipt of the appeal, but will not exceed fifteen (15) days. The President's review and decision will be forwarded to all Board of Director members and the subject party concerned; the decision rendered will be final.

EACH MEMBER ORGANIZATION SHALL HAVE THE POWER TO SUSPEND ANY MEMBER FOR CONDUCT DETRIMENTAL TO HOCKEY, EITHER ON OR OFF THE ICE. THIS SHALL INCLUDE ABUSE OR THREATENING WORDS OR ACTION TOWARDS ANY OFFICER OR GAME OFFICIAL OF THE ASSOCIATION AND/OR PNAHA.

ALL APPEALS TO THE PRESIDENT OF PNAHA MUST BE ACCOMPANIED BY A CERTIFIED CHECK, MADE PAYABLE TO PNAHA, IN THE AMOUNT OF \$100.00.

Any team that leaves the ice during a game: the team, coach and/or team official may be suspended for a period of one (1) year and shall be suspended for a minimum of thirty (30) days.

A COACH AND/OR TEAM OFFICIAL WHO KNOWINGLY ALLOWS THE PARTICIPATION OF AN INELIGIBLE TEAM MEMBER IN ANY GAME SHALL BE SUSPENDED FOR A MINIMUM OF THIRTY (30) DAYS.

All penalties dealing with suspensions must be reported by the referee to the member organization Director/President within twenty-four (24) hours. The Director/President will, in turn, immediately notify the President of PNAHA.

THE USA HOCKEY ANNUAL GUIDE SHALL PREVAIL

ARTICLE IV - ELIGIBILITY

- 1. ALL MEMBER ORGANIZATIONS, ASSOCIATIONS, CLUBS, PROGRAMS AND TEAMS AFFILIATED WITH PNAHA MUST BE IN GOOD STANDING WITH PNAHA.
- 2. ALL PLAYERS MUST REGISTER ONLINE WITH USA HOCKEY.
- 3. ALL PLAYERS AND TEAMS MUST BE REGISTERED WITH PNAHA AND USA HOCKEY. TEAMS WILL REGISTER ITS PLAYERS ON A USA HOCKEY "OFFICIAL TEAM ROSTER" (FORM 1-T). ALL ENTRIES WILL BE COMPLETED AND THE FORM CERTIFIED BY THE MEMBER ORGANIZATION. THIS FORM WILL BE SUBMITTED TO THE PNAHA/USA HOCKEY ASSOCIATE DISTRICT REGISTRAR POSTMARKED NO LATER THAN DECEMBER 31. ANY FORMS RECEIVED AFTER THAT DATE WILL BE RETURNED TO THE MEMBER ASSOCIATION DIRECTOR CONCERNED WITH THE NOTATION "NOT ELIGIBLE FOR TOURNAMENT PLAY". ALL MEMBERS OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS WILL BE NOTIFIED.
- 4. A LIMIT OF TWENTY (20) PLAYERS AT ANY ONE TIME MAY BE REGISTERED PER TEAM EXCEPT FOR HIGH SCHOOL, WHICH MAY REGISTER 30 PLAYERS. A MAXIMUM OF 20 PLAYERS, IN WHICH NOT MORE THAN 18 ARE SKATERS, SHALL BE PERMITTED TO PLAY IN THE GAME. A MINIMUM OF SIX PLAYERS ARE REQUIRED TO START A GAME.
- 5. A REGISTERED HOCKEY TEAM IS ONE WHICH HAS A MINIMUM OF NINE (9) PLAYERS ON A TEAM, EXCEPT FOR 10U AND UNDER CLASSIFICATIONS. (APPROVED IN JUNE 2022 MINUTES)
- 6. A PLAYER MAY NOT REGISTER ON MORE THAN ONE TEAM THAT PARTICIPATES IN GAMES LEADING TOWARDS A USA HOCKEY NATIONAL TOURNAMENT EXCEPT FOR HIGH SCHOOL VARSITY AND/OR PREP SCHOOL DIVISION, WHO MAY ALSO PLAY ON A YOUTH OR GIRLS'/WOMEN NATIONAL CHAMPIONSHIP-BOUND TEAM. PLAYER CHANGES TO OFFICIAL TEAM ROSTER FOR (1-T) FOR YOUTH TIER I AND TIER II TEAMS AND GIRLS'/WOMEN'S (EXCEPT WOMEN'S A) NATIONAL CHAMPIONSHIP BOUND TEAMS WILL NOT BE ACCEPTED AFTER DECEMBER 31. GIRLS MAY DUAL ROSTER ON A YOUTH AND GIRLS' TEAM BY FOLLOWING THE USA HOCKEY RULES FOR NATIONAL CHAMPIONSHIP BOUND TEAMS AND PNAHA RULE 16.
- 7. ANY PLAYER PARTICIPATING IN A "B" STATE TOURNAMENT BOUND HOCKEY PROGRAM MAY BE REGISTERED ON A "B" REP TEAM, A HOUSE LEAGUE TEAM AND A HIGH SCHOOL HOCKEY TEAM, PROVIDING THEY MEET THE ELIGIBILITY REQUIREMENTS OF THAT MEMBER ORGANIZATION PROGRAM AND/OR LEAGUE AND ARE IN GOOD STANDING WITH USA HOCKEY AND PNAHA.
- 8. A TIER I-TIER II REGISTERED PLAYER MAY ALSO BE REGISTERED WITH A HOUSE LEAGUE AND A HIGH SCHOOL HOCKEY TEAM PROVIDED HE MEETS THEIR ELIGIBILITY REQUIREMENTS AND IS IN GOOD STANDING WITH USA HOCKEY AND PNAHA.

- 9. Release: Players may only be registered and rostered in one association at a time (see 16 for exceptions). All PNAHA Associations shall require a written release for all players not registered with their Association in the previous regular season and/or current regular season, signed by the releasing Association's President, Vice President, Registrar or Board designated person, prior to acceptance of the player's registration with the new association. Failure to comply shall result in a monetary fine, payable to PNAHA, of \$50.00 for the first offense, \$100.00 for the second offense and \$200.00 for each occurrence after that for any playing year. All players should be in good standing with its releasing Association. A copy of the release shall be sent to the PNAHA President, by the releasing association.
- 10. Any team which includes players on its roster, who are new to PNAHA, must provide written evidence to PNAHA through the new Association that said player is in good standing (financially and otherwise) with his/her past team.
- 11. ALL MATTERS CONCERNING TEAM AND/OR PLAYER ELIGIBILITY SHALL BE DIRECTED TO THE PNAHA PRESIDENT AND/OR ASSOCIATE DISTRICT REGISTRAR.
- 12. NO PNAHA MEMBER SHALL PERMIT ANY PLAYER, TEAM, OR COACH SUSPENDED BY PNAHA OR USA HOCKEY TO PARTICIPATE IN ANY GAME OR PLAY ANY TEAM USING SUCH A SUSPENDED PLAYER, TEAM, OR COACH.
- 13. NO PNAHA MEMBER MAY USE ILLEGAL OR NON-ROSTERED PLAYERS OR PLAY ANY TEAM USING ANY ILLEGAL OR NON-ROSTERED PLAYERS. NO PNAHA MEMBER TEAM MAY PLAY ANY TEAM THAT IS UNDER SUSPENSION BY PNAHA OR USA HOCKEY. GIRLS PLAYING IN BOYS' DIVISIONS MUST CONFORM TO THE AGE CLASSIFICATION RULES FOR THAT DIVISION.
- 14. TIER II NATIONAL TOURNAMENT BOUND TEAMS SHALL NOT INCLUDE ON ITS ROSTER MORE THAN 5 PLAYERS FROM OUTSIDE THAT MEMBER ORGANIZATION/MEMBER TEAM'S MEMBERSHIP FROM THE PRIOR YEAR.

FOR THE PURPOSE OF THIS RULE THE FOLLOWING WILL APPLY: A NEW MEMBER ORGANIZATION OR MEMBER TEAM WILL BE ON PROBATION DURING THE FIRST YEAR OF MEMBERSHIP AND WILL NOT PARTICIPATE IN THE PNAHA STATE TOURNAMENT.

ALL TEAMS THAT ARE NATIONAL BOUND MUST SUBMIT A ROSTER WITH PLAYERS' PREVIOUS YEAR TEAM TO THE COMPETITION COMMITTEE CHAIR BY NOVEMBER 1.

IN CERTIFYING A TEAM'S ROSTER FOR THE TIER II NATIONAL BOUND TEAM, PNAHA SHALL EXCLUDE THE FOLLOWING PLAYERS FROM THE 5 OUTSIDE PLAYER LIMIT.

- *PLAYERS WHO MOVE LEGAL RESIDENCY AND REGISTER AT THE NEAREST ORGANIZATION IN PROXIMITY WITH A TIER II TEAM.
- *PLAYERS THAT DID NOT PLAY FOR A PNAHA MEMBER ORGANIZATION THE PRIOR YEAR.
- *PLAYERS MOVING TO A NEW ORGANIZATION OR TEAM FROM AN ASSOCIATION THAT NO LONGER EXISTS.
- *PLAYERS MOVING BACK TO THEIR HOME ASSOCIATION WITHIN TWO YEARS AFTER PLAYING FOR A TIER I TEAM.

 (A PLAYER'S HOME ASSOCIATION IS THE ORGANIZATION HE/SHE PLAYED FOR PRIOR TO PLAYING TIER I. THERE WILL BE NO WAIVERS OR EXCEPTIONS TO THIS RULE.) (MINUTES JUNE 2018)
- 15. FOREIGN NATIONALS WHO ARE BEING COMPENSATED FOR THEIR SERVICES MUST PROVIDE DOCUMENTATION THAT THEY ARE LEGALLY ABLE TO WORK IN THE UNITED STATES. PNAHA MEMBER ASSOCIATIONS SHALL ABIDE BY ALL STATE AND FEDERAL LAWS.
- 16. GIRLS ROSTERING
 - PART 1: PNAHA SUPPORT THE USA HOCKEY POSITION ON PROMOTING FEMALE HOCKEY AND AGREES THAT IN ORDER TO PROMOTE FEMALE HOCKEY, A FEMALE PLAYER MAY REGISTER WITH ANOTHER ASSOCIATION AS LONG AS ONLY ONE OF THE TEAMS SHE IS PLAYING FOR IS CLASSIFIED BY USA HOCKEY AS A GIRLS/WOMEN TEAM.
 - PART 2: ALL PNAHA MEMBER ORGANIZATIONS WILL BE BOUND BY THIS DECISION.
 - PART 3: FEMALE PLAYERS WHO ELECT TO PLAY FOR A SECOND ASSOCIATION, EITHER A YOUTH ASSOCIATION OR A FEMALE

ASSOCIATION, MUST SUBMIT TO THE FIRST ASSOCIATION A LETTER OF NOTIFICATION BY THE SECOND ASSOCIATION OUTLINING THE COMMITMENT REQUIREMENTS FOR PARTICIPATING WITH THE SECOND ASSOCIATION. THE FIRST ASSOCIATION MUST SIGN THIS LETTER AS ACKNOWLEDGEMENT WITHIN TWO BUSINESS DAYS. A COPY OF THE SIGNED LETTER BY BOTH ASSOCIATIONS MUST BE ON FILE WITH EACH ASSOCIATION PRIOR TO PARTICIPATING IN ANY TEAM EVENT FOR A SECOND ASSOCIATION.

- 17. TEAMS PARTICIPATING AT A TIER I/II LEVEL IN THE PNAHA LEAGUE MUST PARTICIPATE AT THE SAME LEVEL WHEN COMPETING FOR A STATE TITLE.
- 18. EVERY TEAM NEEDS TO BE REGISTERED WITH USA HOCKEY TO THE OLDEST PLAYER ON THE TEAM. ANY TEAM THAT WISHES TO PLAY AGAINST A LOWER AGE CLASSIFICATION TEAM NEEDS TO BE NOTIFIED THE TEAM BEFORE THE GAME IS SCHEDULED AND THE GAME MUST BE PLAYED TO THE LOWER AGE CLASSIFICATION PLAYING RULES.
 - FOR ALL NATIONALLY BOUND TEAMS, THE TEAM NEEDS TO PLAY IN THE CLASSIFICATION OF THE TEAM FOR THE STATE TOURNAMENT (ALL FEMALE PLAYERS PLAYING ON A YOUTH TEAM MUST PLAY WITHIN THE AGE CLASSIFICATION OF THE YOUTH TEAM),
 - FOR ALL STATE BOUND TEAMS, IF THE TEAM WISHES TO PLAY IN A LOWER AGE CLASSIFICATION AT A FESTIVAL OR STATE TOURNAMENT, THE TEAM MUST BE APPROVED BY THE PNAHA BOARD OF DIRECTORS AT THE JANUARY MEETING,
 - IF THE TEAM WISHES TO PLAY IN A LOWER AGE CLASSIFICATION IN A PNAHA STATE LEAGUE, THE TEAM MUST BE APPROVED BY THE PNAHA BOARD OF DIRECTORS AT THE SEPTEMBER MEETING,
 - IF A NON-NATIONAL BOUND TOURNAMENT TEAM WANTS TO PLAY IN A LOWER AGE CLASSIFICATION AT A TOURNAMENT, THE TEAM NEEDS WRITTEN APPROVAL FROM THE TOURNAMENT DIRECTOR TO PLAY IN A LOWER AGE CLASSIFICATION,
 - ANY TEAM THAT WISHES TO PLAY IN A LOWER AGE CLASSIFICATION IN A LEAGUE, THE TEAM NEEDS WRITTEN APPROVAL FROM THE LEAGUE TO PLAY IN THE LOWER AGE CLASSIFICATION
 - IF A TEAM THAT IS COMPOSED OF PLAYERS FROM MORE THAN 1 AGE CLASSIFICATION AND 75% OR MORE OF THE PLAYERS ARE FROM A LOWER AGE CLASSIFICATION, THE HEAD COACH NEEDS TO HAVE THE AGE SPECIFIC MODULE OF THE LOWER AGE CLASSIFICATION IN ADDITION TO THE AGE SPECIFIC MODULE OF THE TEAM CLASSIFICATION. (PNAHA MEETING MINUTES SEPTEMBER 2018)
- 19. PNAHA STATE TOURNAMENT/FESTIVAL PARTICIPATION WITHDRAWS (MINUTES JUNE 2018)
 PNAHA STATE TOURNAMENTS/FESTIVALS FINAL PARTICIPATION DECLARATIONS OCCUR AT THE PNAHA WINTER MEETING IN
 JANUARY OF EACH YEAR. EACH ELIGIBLE PNAHA ASSOCIATION'S PNAHA REP WILL MAKE THE DECLARATION FOR THE LOCAL
 PNAHA ASSOCIATIONS (B, 10U FESTIVAL AND 12U FESTIVAL TEAMS) AT THIS TIME. NO CHANGES, WAIVERS, OR EXCEPTIONS
 WILL BE ACCEPTED AFTER THE WINTER MEETING.

ANY B, 10 FESTIVAL AND 12U FESTIVAL TEAMS (YOUTH AND GIRLS) THAT DECLARES ITS INTENTION TO PARTICIPATE PER PNAHA STATE/FESTIVAL REQUIREMENTS AND THEREAFTER WITHDRAWS SHALL (1) FORFEIT ITS TOURNAMENT FEE ENTRY FEE; (2) BE LIABLE TO THE HOST FOR FINANCIAL LOSS SUSTAINED BY THE HOST INCLUDING, WITHOUT LIMITATION, LOSS OF COMPLIMENTARY HOTEL ROOMS, SPONSORSHIP CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS; AND (3) MAY FORFEIT ITS RIGHT TO PARTICIPATE IN TOURNAMENTS FOR SUBSEQUENT YEARS.

Any Tier I or II team (youth, girls and/or women) that declares its intention to participate per District requirements and thereafter withdraws shall (1) forfeit its tournament fee entry fee; (2) be liable to the Host for financial loss sustained by the Host including, without limitation, loss of complimentary hotel rooms, sponsorship contractual obligations; and (3) may forfeit its right to participate in tournaments for subsequent years.

IF IT IS SUSPECTED THAT TEAM OFFICIALS AND/OR PARTICIPANTS CONTRIBUTED TO THE DECISION TO WITHDRAW THE TEAM FROM THE TOURNAMENT A HEARING SHALL BE HELD BY A PNAHA DISCIPLINARY COMMITTEE AND COULD RESULT IN THE LOCAL ASSOCIATION AND/OR INDEPENDENT TEAM OFFICIAL AND/OR PARENTS:

BEING SUSPENDED FROM PARTICIPATING ANYWHERE WITHIN PNAHA FOR ONE YEAR AND; THE LOCAL ASSOCIATION, BEING PLACED ON PROBATION FOR ONE YEAR WITH NOTIFICATION THAT CONTINUED FAILURE TO ABIDE BY PNAHA RULES, REGULATIONS, BYLAWS, POLICIES OR CONSTITUTION MAY RESULT IN TOTAL LOSS OF PNAHA AND USA HOCKEY MEMBERSHIP.

20. PNAHA TEAM PLAY DOWN POLICY (MINUTES SEPTEMBER 2018)

EVERY TEAM NEEDS TO BE REGISTERED WITH USA HOCKEY TO THE OLDEST PLAYER ON THE TEAM. ANY TEAM THAT WISHES TO PLAY AGAINST A LOWER AGE CLASSIFICATION TEAM NEEDS TO NOTIFY THE TEAM BEFORE THE GAME IS SCHEDULED AND THE GAME MUST BE PLAYED TO THE LOWER AGE CLASSIFICATION PLAYING RULES.

- FOR ALL NATIONALLY BOUND TEAMS, THE TEAM NEEDS TO PLAY IN THE CLASSIFICATION OF THE TEAM FOR THE STATE TOURNAMENT (ALL FEMALE PLAYERS PLAYING ON A YOUTH TEAM MUST PLAY WITHIN THE AGE CLASSIFICATION OF THE YOUTH TEAM).
- FOR ALL STATE BOUND TEAMS, IF THE TEAM WISHES TO PLAY IN A LOWER AGE CLASSIFICATION AT A FESTIVAL OR STATE TOURNAMENT, THE TEAM MUST BE APPROVED BY THE PNAHA BOARD OF DIRECTORS AT THE JANUARY MEETING.
- IF THE TEAM WISHES TO PLAY IN A LOWER AGE CLASSIFICATION IN A PNAHA STATE LEAGUE, THE TEAM MUST BE APPROVED BY THE PNAHA BOARD OF DIRECTORS AT THE SEPTEMBER MEETING.
- IF A NON-NATIONAL BOUND TOURNAMENT TEAM WANTS TO PLAY IN A LOWER AGE CLASSIFICATION AT A TOURNAMENT, THE TEAM NEEDS WRITTEN APPROVAL FROM THE TOURNAMENT DIRECTOR TO PLAY IN THE LOWER AGE CLASSIFICATION.
- ANY TEAM THAT WISHES TO PLAY IN A LOWER AGE CLASSIFICATION IN A LEAGUE, THE TEAM NEEDS WRITTEN APPROVAL FROM THE LEAGUE TO PLAY IN THE LOWER AGE CLASSIFICATION.
- IF A TEAM THAT IS COMPOSED OF PLAYERS FROM MORE THAN 1 AGE CLASSIFICATION AND 75% OR MORE OF THE PLAYERS ARE FROM A LOWER AGE CLASSIFICATION, THE HEAD COACH NEEDS TO HAVE THE AGE SPECIFIC MODULE OF THE LOWER AGE CLASSIFICATION IN ADDITION TO THE AGE SPECIFIC MODULE OF THE TEAM CLASSIFICATION.
- 21. NO PLAYER 12 YEARS OF AGE OR YOUNGER (AS DEFINED IN THE USA HOCKEY AGE CLASSIFICATION CHART FOR THE CURRENT SEASON) IS ELIGIBLE TO PLAY ON A TEAM INTENDING OR DECLARED TO COMPETE IN THE DISTRICT OR NATIONAL CHAMPIONSHIPS OR PLAYOFFS LEADING THERETO.
- 22. NO PLAYER 12 YEARS OF AGE OR YOUNGER AS (DEFINED IN THE USA HOCKEY AGE CLASSIFICATION CHART FOR THE CURRENT SEASON) IS ELIGIBLE TO PLAY IN AN AGE CLASSIFICATION THAT ALLOWS CHECKING.
- 23. If the applicable local program's rules or decisions permit a player to do so, players 13 years of age or older (as defined in the USA hockey age classification chart for the current season) may request to participate in only one age classification higher than the player's actual birth year classification this exception shall not apply to youth Tier I 15-only age classification as this classification shall be limited to only players age 15 as defined in the birth year age classification chart for the current season).
- 24. 8U Players Playing Up at 10U, having 8U players play up at 10U is strongly discouraged but occasionally there are compelling reasons to do so. Each association, at their discretion, may allow up to two 8U players per season to play up at the 10U division. Additional players playing up may be considered with an exception request to the state ADM director, who will only consider the request if it's due to association needs. i.e. having to merge age divisions in order to have a functional program.
- 25. ALL PNAHA VERSUS PNAHA ASSOCIATIONS PLAYING 10U SHALL PLAY HALF-ICE STARTING IN THE 2017-18 SEASON. THE ONLY EXCEPTION IS WHEN A PNAHA 10U TEAM PLAYS A IN A NON-PNAHA LEAGUE OR PARTICIPATES IN A TOURNAMENT THAT DOES NOT HAVE ALL PNAHA ASSOCIATION MEMBERS. (PNAHA MEETING JUNE 2017) (PREVIOUSLY WAS #18 MOVE TO HERE FOR HOUSEKEEPING AND FLOW.)
- 26. HAVING 10U PLAYERS PLAYING UP AT 12U IS STRONGLY DISCOURAGED, BUT OCCASIONALLY THERE ARE COMPELLING REASONS TO DO SO. EACH ASSOCIATION AT THEIR DISCRETION MAY ALLOW UP TO TWO 10U PLAYERS PER SEASON TO PLAY UP AT THE 12U DIVISION. THE EASTSIDE ADM COORDINATOR WILL ADMINISTER PLAY UP REQUESTS FROM THE WESTSIDE ASSOCIATIONS AND THE WESTSIDE ADM COORDINATOR WILL ADMINISTER REQUESTS FROM THE EASTSIDE ASSOCIATIONS. (PREVIOUSLY WAS #19 MOVE TO HERE FOR HOUSEKEEPING AND FLOW.)
- 27. BLACK OUT FOR YOUTH/GIRLS DEVELOPMENT CAMP. NO PNAHA TEAM THAT HAVE PLAYERS IN THE AGE CLASSIFICATIONS YOUTH 14U, 16U AND 18U AND GIRLS 14U, 16U, 19U WILL BE ALLOWED TO TRAVEL OR OPT OUT OF THIS BLACK OUT

WEEKEND. THIS RULE IS FOR ALL TEAMS THAT HAVE ANY PLAYER ON THEIR ROSTER THAT ARE ON A TIER I OR TIER II CERTIFIED ROSTER AS OF DECEMBER 31 OF THE CURRENT PLAYING SEASON. FOR ALL NON-TIER I OR TIER II PLAYERS THAT ARE NOMINATED, THE ASSOCIATION OR TEAM SHALL NOT PROHIBIT THE PLAYER FROM ATTENDING EVEN THOUGH THE TEAM MAY BE PLAYING. AN ASSOCIATION FINE WILL BE ASSESSED AND MEMBER IN GOOD STANDING STATUS WILL BE IN JEOPARDY FOR ANYONE WHO DOES NOT ADHERE.

28. PLAYERS ARE ONLY ALLOWED TO PARTICIPATE ON ONE TEAM IN ONE PNAHA STATE TOURNAMENT/FESTIVAL THAT OCCUR ON THE SAME WEEKEND.

ARTICLE V – TOURNAMENTS

NOVEMBER 15 THIS IS THE DATE THAT 50 PERCENT OF LEAGUE GAMES MUST BE PLAYED IN A NON-COVID SEASON.

NATIONAL BOUND REQUIREMENTS

- A. EACH TIER II NATIONAL BOUND TEAM YOUTH (14U, 16U, 18U, AND GIRLS 14U, 16U, 19U) THAT HAS BEEN IDENTIFIED BY THEIR ASSOCIATION REPRESENTATIVE AT THE PNAHA ANNUAL FALL MEETING MUST PLAY EACH NATIONAL BOUND TEAM IN THEIR AGE CLASSIFICATION A MINIMUM OF 2 GAMES DURING THE SEASON. 50% OF THE REQUIRED GAMES MUST BE COMPLETED BY NOVEMBER 15 AND THE REMAINDER MUST BE COMPLETED 14 DAYS PRIOR TO THE AFFILIATE TOURNAMENT.
- B. ALL TIER II NATIONAL BOUND TEAMS MUST BE DECLARED BY OCTOBER 1ST.
- C. ALL TIER II NATIONAL BOUND TEAMS MUST BE CERTIFIED ACCORDING TO THE CRITERIA SET FOR
 - MARKETING RULES
 - RECRUITING RULES (THIS COMMITTEE CANNOT WAIVE RULE 14. TEAMS CANNOT BE CONSIDERED FOR CERTIFICATION IF THIS REQUIREMENT IS NOT MET).
 - LEAGUE PARTICIPATION
 - TOURNAMENT PARTICIPATION
 - COMPLETE CERTIFICATION COMMITTEE T2 DESIGNATION WORKSHEET D. THE CERTIFICATION PROCESS WILL BE COMPLETED PRIOR TO THE DISTRICT TIER I DECLARATION DATE.
- D. THE CERTIFICATION PROCESS WILL BE COMPLETED PRIOR TO THE DISTRICT TIER I DECLARATION DATE. (PNAHA MINUTES SEPT 11, 2021)
- E. THE COMPETITION COMMITTEE WILL MEET AFTER NOVEMBER 15TH AND BEFORE NOVEMBER 30TH TO CERTIFY THE TAMS THAT HAVE DECLARED TIER II NATIONAL BOUND. (PNAHA MINUTES SEPT 2023)

INVITATIONAL TOURNAMENTS

- A. ANY PERMIT SANCTIONING A TOURNAMENT BY THE PNAHA/USA HOCKEY ASSOCIATE DISTRICT REGISTRAR MAY BE WITHDRAWN IF IT IS DETERMINED THAT PNAHA/ USA HOCKEY REGULATIONS ARE VIOLATED.
- B. ALL TOURNAMENTS WITHIN THE JURISDICTION OF PNAHA MUST BE SANCTIONED BY THE PNAHA/USA HOCKEY ASSOCIATE DISTRICT REGISTRAR. THE CONDITIONS OF THE SANCTIONS ARE AS FOLLOWS:
 - THE OFFICIAL PERMIT, USA HOCKEY "Invitational Tournament Application" FORM MUST BE SUBMITTED TO THE PNAHA/USA HOCKEY DISTRICT AFFILIATE REGISTRAR.
 - THE APPLICATION MUST INCLUDE A COPY OF THE RULES AND REGULATIONS OF THE TOURNAMENT AS WELL AS A CERTIFIED CHECK FOR THE TOURNAMENT FEE. (SEE USA HOCKEY GUIDE, RULES AND REGULATIONS, X GAMES, EXHIBITION GAMES, INVITATIONAL TOURNAMENTS AND SANCTIONED EVENTS).

PNAHA STATE TOURNAMENTS AND FESTIVALS

UNLESS EXPLICITLY CALLED OUT, "TOURNAMENT" SHALL REFER TO BOTH PNAHA STATE TOURNAMENTS AND FESTIVALS.

- A. THE PNAHA PRESIDENT OR THEIR DESIGNEE WILL SERVE AS TOURNAMENT DIRECTOR.
- B. THE TOURNAMENT DIRECTOR WILL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR THE SCHEDULING OF THE TOURNAMENT.
- C. THE TOURNAMENT DIRECTOR WILL CONDUCT THE TOURNAMENT IN ACCORDANCE WITH USA HOCKEY, PACIFIC DISTRICT AND PNAHA RULES. He/she shall act in the best interest of USA Hockey without regard to Association allegiance or concerns.
- D. THE PNAHA SUPERVISOR OF OFFICIALS SHALL SERVE IN THE CAPACITY OF REFEREE-IN-CHIEF FOR ALL PNAHA TOURNAMENTS. THEY WILL BE DIRECTLY RESPONSIBLE TO THE TOURNAMENT DIRECTOR. IT WILL BE THEIR RESPONSIBILITY TO INSURE THAT ADEQUATE AND QUALIFIED REFEREES ARE AVAILABLE FOR EACH GAME.

APPLYING TO HOST PNAHA STATE TOURNAMENTS / FESTIVALS

ANY ASSOCIATION WANTING TO HOST A PNAHA TOURNAMENT SHALL SUBMIT ITS REQUEST ON THE PNAHA TOURNAMENT APPLICATION FORM TO THE PRESIDENT BY SEPTEMBER 1ST FOR CONSIDERATION. THE FORM SHALL BE AVAILABLE ON THE PNAHA WEBSITE AND IS UPDATED BY THE PRESIDENT AS REQUIRED. ALL REQUIREMENTS OF THE TOURNAMENT ARTICLES SHALL BE ADDRESSED IN THE APPLICATION.

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS SHALL SELECT THE HOST OF EACH TOURNAMENT AT THE SEPTEMBER ANNUAL FALL MEETING. SHOULD A HOST NOT BE SELECTED AT THAT TIME, THE PRESIDENT WILL MAKE RECOMMENDATIONS TO THE OFFICERS, WHO JOINTLY SHALL SELECT THE HOST AND NOTIFY ALL ASSOCIATIONS WITHIN SEVEN (7) DAYS OF THE SELECTION.

THE TOURNAMENT HOST ORGANIZATION MUST AGREE TO THE HOST REQUIREMENTS.

HOST REQUIREMENTS

THE TOURNAMENT HOST ORGANIZATION MUST BE FULLY ACQUAINTED WITH USA HOCKEY, PACIFIC DISTRICT, AND PNAHA TOURNAMENT RULES AND REGULATIONS AS SET FORTH IN THEIR RESPECTIVE GUIDEBOOKS.

FACILITY REQUIREMENTS

- A. THE HOST MUST ENSURE THAT THEY HAVE SUFFICIENT ICE AVAILABLE TO MEET THE TOURNAMENT NEEDS. THE TOURNAMENT APPLICATION WILL INCLUDE THE LOCATIONS AND BLOCKS OF ICE THEY HAVE AVAILABLE FOR THE TOURNAMENT.
- B. IT IS STRONGLY RECOMMENDED; EACH ICE RINK MUST HAVE ONE LOCKER ROOM THAT IS AVAILABLE AND RESERVED FOR FEMALE PLAYERS. IF SUFFICIENT LOCKER ROOMS DO NOT EXIST A SEPARATE ROOM WILL BE CONVERTED TO SERVE AS THE FEMALE LOCKER ROOM FOR THE DURATION OF THE EVENT. ALL SAFE SPORT AND USA HOCKEY LOCKER ROOM POLICIES WILL APPLY. (MINUTES SEPTEMBER 2023)

LODGING (MINUTES SEPTEMBER 2023)

- A. The host must state in the application if they plan on using Host Hotels. At least half of those hotels must be equal to, or less expensive than the current PNAHA Host Hotel rate. Hotel expenses are the responsibility of each tournament team which shall make its reservations and secure them no less than 30 days prior to the starting date of the tournament. A list of Tournament Hotels with rates shall be included with the tournament application, and the Host shall advise each team in the tournament packet of its requirements, if any, to stay at a designated Host hotel. Failure to stay at a designated hotel will subject an entrant to penalties as per PNAHA Host Hotels rule. That penalty will need to be paid before the team will be eligible to participate in the event.
- B. THE HOST ASSOCIATION SHALL RESERVE SEPARATE ROOMS FOR THE LODGING OF THE PNAHA TOURNAMENT DIRECTORS AND USA HOCKEY REGISTRAR. THE HOST ASSOCIATION SHALL RESERVE AND PAY FOR ROOMS FOR GAME OFFICIALS AND THE

REFEREE-IN-CHIEF. ACCOMMODATIONS FOR THESE OFFICIALS SHALL BE PROVIDED AT A SUITABLE FACILITY SEPARATE AND APART FROM THE PARTICIPATING TEAMS.

TRANSPORTATION

TRANSPORTATION IS NOT THE RESPONSIBILITY OF THE HOST ASSOCIATION.

TOURNAMENT INFORMATION

THE HOST ASSOCIATION SHALL PROVIDE RELEVANT TEAM DETAILS ON THE EVENT BY JANUARY 1ST VIA THE PAGE DEDICATED TO THE TOURNAMENT ON THE PNAHA WEBSITE.

TOURNAMENT FEE

THE TOURNAMENT ENTRY FEE FOR EACH PARTICIPATING TEAM IS SET BY THE PNAHA BOARD OF DIRECTORS AT THE JUNE SUMMER MEETING EACH YEAR AND IS PAYABLE AT THE WINTER MEETING. THE CURRENT TOURNAMENT FEE STRUCTURE IS DETAILED IN THE TEAM DECLARATION AND REGISTRATION SECTION OF THESE RULES. CHECKS MUST BE MADE TO PNAHA.

TROPHIES & MEMENTOS

THE HOST ASSOCIATION MAY SUPPLY A CHAMPIONSHIP AND RUNNER-UP TROPHY, AS WELL AS INDIVIDUAL AWARDS FOR EACH MEMBER OF BOTH TEAMS THE DESIGN OF WHICH SHALL BE SUBMITTED TO AND APPROVED BY THE PRESIDENT NO LATER THAN 30 DAYS PRIOR TO COMMENCEMENT OF THE TOURNAMENT.

THE HOST ASSOCIATION SHALL SUPPLY EACH PLAYER A MEMENTO OF THE EVENT SUCH AS LAMINATED PLAYER IDENTIFICATION WITH LANYARD, BRACELET, T-SHIRT, TRADING PINS, ETC.

BANNERS

PNAHA WILL PAY FOR CHAMPIONSHIP BANNERS AND MEDALS FOR CHAMPION AND FINALIST FOR EACH CHAMPIONSHIP GAME.

PNAHA IS RESPONSIBLE FOR ORDERING AND ENSURING THEY ARE AVAILABLE AT THE CHAMPIONSHIP GAME.

COACHES / MANAGERS MEETING

THE HOST SHALL PROVIDE A ROOM OF SUFFICIENT SIZE TO SEAT ALL OF THE ATTENDING TEAM, ON-ICE AND TOURNAMENT OFFICIALS. THE MEETING WILL BEGIN AT 8:00 P.M. FOR ALL TOURNAMENTS THAT CREDENTIAL CHECKS HAVE BEEN DONE IN ADVANCE OF THE TOURNAMENT. WHEN CIRCUMSTANCES ARISE THAT PREVENT IN-PERSON MEETINGS, ZOOM (OR OTHER VIRTUAL MEETING PLATFORMS) MAY BE USED PRIOR TO THE MEETING.

MEETING ROOM

THE HOST ASSOCIATION SHALL ALSO PROVIDE A MEETING ROOM FOR THE TOURNAMENT OFFICIALS TO CONDUCT THE AFFAIRS OF THE TOURNAMENT SEPARATE AND APART FROM PARTICIPANTS, SPECTATORS, AND OTHER PERSONNEL.

INTERNET ACCESS

AT EACH FACILITY, THE HOST SHALL PROVIDE INTERNET ACCESS FOR IMMEDIATE POSTING OF PLAY-BY-PLAY AND PERIOD /GAME RESULTS. IN THEIR APPLICATION THE HOST SHALL INDICATE WHETHER DEDICATED INTERNET ACCESS WILL BE AVAILABLE AT A LOCATION TO ALLOW FOR LIVE STREAMING OF GAMES.

HOSPITALITY ROOMS

FOOD AND BEVERAGES MUST BE PROVIDED FOR TOURNAMENT DIRECTORS, OFFICIALS AND TOURNAMENT STAFF AND OPTIONALLY FOR TEAM OFFICIALS.

SPECTATOR ADMISSION FEES

NO SPECTATOR ADMISSION FEES ARE ALLOWED FOR ANY PNAHA TOURNAMENT

TOURNAMENT OPERATIONS

TEAM CREDENTIAL VERIFICATION FOR NON-NATIONALLY BOUND EVENTS

BEFORE AND DURING THE COACH/MANAGER MEETING ENSURE THERE IS A LOCATION THAT CAN BE USED FOR THE TEAM CREDENTIAL REVIEW AND ENSURE THERE ARE SUFFICIENT VOLUNTEERS TO ASSIST WITH CREDENTIAL VERIFICATION.

SCORE SHEETS

SCORE SHEETS ARE TO BE FILLED OUT IN ADVANCE BY THE HOST UTILIZING PNAHA CREDENTIALED CERTIFIED ROSTERS. (MINUTES SEPTEMBER 2023)

LOCKER ROOMS

ROOMS MUST BE ASSIGNED AND HAVE THE ABILITY TO BE SECURED TO PREVENT THEFT.

OFF-ICE OFFICIALS

A. THE HOST ASSOCIATION IS RESPONSIBLE TO HAVE ALL MINOR OFFICIALS PRESENT AT EACH AND EVERY GAME. IF THE HOST ASSOCIATION CANNOT SUPPLY ALL THE MINOR OFFICIALS FOR ALL GAMES, THEY MAY ASK ALL PARTICIPATING ASSOCIATIONS TO SUPPLY PENALTY BOX ATTENDANTS AND SCOREKEEPER. THE HOST ASSOCIATION MUST NOTIFY EACH PARTICIPATING ASSOCIATION AT LEAST FOURTEEN (14) DAYS IN ADVANCE OF TOURNAMENT DATE OF THEIR NEED FOR SAID MINOR OFFICIALS.

B. ALL MINOR (OFF-ICE) OFFICIALS ARE TO BE LEGAL ADULTS (AGE 18+) FOR ALL PNAHA TOURNAMENT GAMES.

TOURNAMENT VOLUNTEERS

CLOTHING OR BADGING WILL BE UTILIZED TO SUFFICIENTLY IDENTIFY KEY VOLUNTEERS/RINK MANAGERS WORKING UNDERNEATH THE TOURNAMENT COORDINATOR WHO MAY BE CHARGED WITH RULE ENFORCEMENT DURING THE EVENT.

GAME RESULTS

GAME RESULTS WILL BE UPDATED ONLINE ON THE PNAHA WEBSITE OR ON A SITE APPROVED BY THE TOURNAMENT DIRECTOR AND PUBLISHED ON THE PNAHA WEBSITE. EACH RINK UTILIZED FOR TOURNAMENT GAME PLAY MUST HAVE ALL GAME RESULTS CLEARLY POSTED AND REGULARLY UPDATED IN A PUBLIC AREA. SUFFICIENT COMMUNICATION BETWEEN TOURNAMENT VOLUNTEERS AT SEPARATE RINKS MUST BE UTILIZED TO ENSURE THAT ALL RESULTS ARE REGULARLY UPDATED, REGARDLESS OF LOCATION.

ON ICE TOURNAMENT OFFICIALS' FEES

THE FOLLOWING SCHEDULE OF REFEREE FEES SHALL BE APPLICABLE TO ALL PNAHA TOURNAMENTS.

AGE	TOTAL GAME FEES REFEREE/LINESMAN	# PER GAME		
10U FESTIVAL	\$35 PER OFFICIAL	2		
12U FESTIVAL	\$40/\$30	2 or 1/2		
14U TIER I	\$55/\$40	2/2		
14U TIER II/B	\$50/\$35	2/2		
16U TIER I	\$65/\$45	2/2		
16U TIER II/B	\$60/\$40	2/2		
18U TIER I	\$70/\$50	2/2		
18U TIER II/B	\$65/\$45	2/2		
MOTE, "P" TOURNAMENTS SHALL HISE ASSOCIATED TIER II RATES (SAVANAMENTS SHALL HISE ASSOCIATED TIER II RATES (SAVANAMENTS SHALL HISE ASSOCIATED TIER II RATES (SAVANAMENTS SHALL HISE ASSOCIATED TIER III RATES (SAVANAMENTS SHALL HISE ASSOCIATED TIER				

NOTE: "B" TOURNAMENTS SHALL USE ASSOCIATED TIER II RATES (PNAHA MEETING JUNE 2018)
ADDED B TO TIER II IN ABOVE CHART FOR CLARITY (MINUTES SEPTEMBER 2023)

THE AFFILIATE REFEREE IN CHIEF (RIC) SHALL PROVIDE A COUNT OF SUCH OUT OF TOWN OFFICIALS TO THE TOURNAMENT DIRECTOR AND THE TOURNAMENT CHAIR NO LATER THAN TWO WEEKS PRIOR TO COMMENCEMENT OF THE TOURNAMENT. IN ADDITION, THE AFFILIATE RIC SHALL PROVIDE A LIST OF ALL OFFICIALS WHO ARE ASSIGNED TO OFFICIATE THE TOURNAMENT NO LATER THAN FIVE DAYS PRIOR TO COMMENCEMENT OF THE TOURNAMENT.

FESTIVAL OPERATIONS

FESTIVAL OPERATIONS -12U

A. THE 12U LEAGUE SCHEDULE WILL BEGIN ON THE FIRST WEEKEND OF OCTOBER.

B. ALL TEAMS PARTICIPATING IN THE LEAGUE ARE REQUIRED TO PARTICIPATE IN AN END OF THE SEASON 12U FESTIVAL. ONLY TEAMS THAT PARTICIPATE IN THE PNAHA 12U LEAGUE MAY PARTICIPATE IN THE 12U FESTIVAL. THE EXCEPTION IS IF THERE IS NO LEAGUE. THEN EACH PNAHA ASSOCIATION MAY DECLARE TEAMS AT THE PNAHA WINTER MEETING.

C. These teams will be "bracketed" into two to four divisions; Gold, Silver, Bronze, and Copper. The division they participate in will be determined by the teams' final standing in the PNAHA League after completing a 20 game schedule (Note that the game schedule number could be less than 20 if the number of participating teams does not support 20 games (i.e., less than six participating teams in the League). The number of teams in each division will be determined by the Tournament Competition Committee. This committee is made up of those associations who have teams entered in the tournament.

D. If NO PNAHA LEAGUE EXISTS IN ANY GIVEN YEAR ALL PNAHA TEAMS WILL BE ELIGIBLE TO PARTICIPATE. A MEETING WILL BE ARRANGED CONSISTING OF THOSE DECLARED PARTICIPANTS FROM THE WINTER PNAHA MEETING TO DETERMINE RANKING IN THE TOURNAMENT.

FESTIVAL OPERATIONS -10U

A. PNAHA HAS ADOPTED AN OFFICIAL 10U LEAGUE POLICY IN AN EFFORT TO FOCUS ON ASSISTING 10U DIVISION PLAYERS WISHING TO EXPERIENCE AN INTRODUCTION TO THE REP (TRAVEL TEAM) EXPERIENCE AN OPPORTUNITY TO GROW SKILLS, TRAIN PROPERLY AND MAINTAIN BALANCE BETWEEN PRACTICES AND GAMES. EMPHASIS ON REDUCING THE NEGATIVES SUCH AS EXCESSIVE TRAVEL AND COST TO PARENTS TO PARTICIPATE IN THIS SPORT AT THIS AGE LEVEL IS A PRIMARY OBJECTIVE.

B. Participating teams in the PNAHA League will be encouraged to strive for a three to one practice ratio, but are required to maintain at a minimum a mandatory two to one practice to game schedule. PNAHA no longer supports the A and B 10U League Levels. The 10U League will consist of one 10U Rep Division.

C. ALL PNAHA ASSOCIATIONS MAY STRUCTURE THEIR 10U REP TEAMS AS DESIRED WITHOUT PNAHA SANCTIONS. THESE TEAMS WILL ALSO BE ALLOWED TO PARTICIPATE IN LEAGUE PLAY AND IN THE 10U FESTIVAL.

D. An unbalanced schedule will be allowed in the 10U League to allow for the reduction of travel. The ability to allow for an unbalanced schedule could result in some teams hosting a participating League team but not playing that team as a visiting team. This unbalanced schedule would still allow for the team to play each team in the 10U Division, but reduce the travel requirements imposed on the team.

E. ALL TEAMS PARTICIPATING IN THE LEAGUE ARE REQUIRED TO PARTICIPATE IN AN END OF THE SEASON 10U FESTIVAL. ONLY TEAMS THAT PARTICIPATE IN THE PNAHA 10U LEAGUE MAY PARTICIPATE IN THE 10U FESTIVAL UNLESS NO LEAGUE EXISTS THAT SEASON. THESE TEAMS WILL BE "BRACKETED" INTO TWO TO FOUR DIVISIONS; GOLD, SILVER, BRONZE, AND COPPER. THE DIVISION THEY PARTICIPATE IN WILL BE DETERMINED BY THE TEAMS' FINAL STANDING IN THE PNAHA LEAGUE AFTER COMPLETING A 16-GAME SCHEDULE. (NOTE THAT THE GAME SCHEDULE NUMBER COULD BE LESS THAN 16 IF THE NUMBER OF PARTICIPATING TEAMS DOES NOT

SUPPORT 16 GAMES). THE NUMBER OF TEAMS IN EACH DIVISION WILL BE DETERMINED BY THE TOURNAMENT COMPETITION COMMITTEE. THIS COMMITTEE IS MADE UP OF THOSE ASSOCIATIONS WHO HAVE TEAMS ENTERED IN THE TOURNAMENT.

F. ALL PNAHA LEAGUE GAMES AT 10U WILL BE HALF ICE.

G. If NO PNAHA LEAGUE EXISTS IN ANY GIVEN YEAR ALL PNAHA TEAMS WILL BE ELIGIBLE TO PARTICIPATE. A MEETING WILL BE ARRANGED CONSISTING OF THOSE DECLARED PARTICIPANTS FROM THE WINTER PNAHA MEETING TO DETERMINE RANKING IN THE TOURNAMENT.

H. THE 10U LEAGUE SCHEDULE WILL BEGIN THE FIRST WEEKEND OF OCTOBER.

TEAM DECLARATION AND REGISTRATION

DISTRICT BOUND TEAMS

TEAMS WISHING TO COMPETE AT THE PACIFIC DISTRICT TOURNAMENTS SHALL BE DECLARED AT THE PNAHA SEPTEMBER FALL MEETING. IF ENOUGH TEAMS ARE DECLARED TO WARRANT A STATE TOURNAMENT THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS WILL CHOOSE A LOCATION AT THAT MEETING.

DISTRICT BOUND ENTRY FEES

THE DISTRICT TOURNAMENT FEES ARE SET BY THE PACIFIC DISTRICT BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND ARE POSTED ON THE PACIFIC DISTRICT WEBSITE. THE DECLARATION TO COMPETE AT THE DISTRICT LEVEL MUST BE ACCOMPANIED BY A PAYMENT TO PNAHA FOR THE GREATER OF THE DISTRICT OR PNAHA TOURNAMENT FEES. THOSE FEES WILL BE DIRECTED TO THE PNAHA TOURNAMENT HOST OR TO THE PACIFIC DISTRICT AS APPROPRIATE. FAILURE TO MAKE THE PAYMENT WITHIN 10 BUSINESS DAYS OF THE MEETING WILL AUTOMATICALLY DISQUALIFY THE TEAM FROM PARTICIPATING.

STATE AND NATIONAL BOUND TEAMS

MEMBER ORGANIZATIONS AND MEMBER TEAMS WILL DECLARE AT THE PNAHA JANUARY WINTER GENERAL MEETING WHICH TEAMS WILL PARTICIPATE IN WHICH PNAHA TOURNAMENTS. TEAMS PARTICIPATING IN 10U AND 12U LEAGUES ARE REQUIRED TO PARTICIPATE IN THE YEAR END FESTIVAL. NO OTHER TEAMS ARE ELIGIBLE TO PARTICIPATE IN THOSE FESTIVALS UNLESS THERE IS NO LEAGUE. IF NO LEAGUE EXISTS THEN ALL PNAHA ASSOCIATIONS WILL MAKE A FINAL DECLARATION AT THE WINTER ANNUAL MEETING.

COMMITMENT TO PARTICIPATE AT THE NEXT LEVEL

ANY MEMBER ORGANIZATION ENTERING A TEAM IN A DISTRICT OR NATIONALLY BOUND PNAHA TOURNAMENT AGREES BY PARTICIPATION THAT THEY WILL PARTICIPATE IN THE DISTRICT AND/OR NATIONAL TOURNAMENTS SHOULD THEY PREVAIL AT THE PNAHA TOURNAMENT. IN THE EVENT ANY TEAM WINS THE PNAHA CHAMPIONSHIP AND IS NOT ABLE TO PARTICIPATE IN THE DISTRICT AND/OR NATIONAL CHAMPIONSHIPS, THE RUNNER-UP TEAM MAY BE GIVEN PERMISSION TO REPRESENT PNAHA. SHOULD THE RUNNER-UP TEAM BE UNABLE TO PARTICIPATE, THE QUALIFIED REPRESENTATIVE WILL FACE AUTOMATIC SUSPENSION OF AT LEAST ONE (1) YEAR.

PNAHA ALLOCATIONS ARE BASED ON PACIFIC DISTRICT/USA HOCKEY TOURNAMENT ALLOTMENT.

NATIONALLY BOUND CREDENTIAL VERIFICATION

ANY TEAM WISHING TO PARTICIPATE IN ANY NATIONALLY BOUND TOURNAMENT MUST BRING THEIR CREDENTIAL PACKETS/BOOKS TO THE JANUARY WINTER MEETING AS DETAILED IN THE "CREDENTIAL POLICY FOR PNAHA STATE TOURNAMENTS."

TOURNAMENT/FESTIVAL ENTRY FEES

THE ENTRY FEE, AS ESTABLISHED ANNUALLY BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS, MUST BE SUBMITTED AT THE GENERAL WINTER MEETING IN JANUARY TO THE HOSTING ASSOCIATION AND IS (NONREFUNDABLE).

PAYMENTS NOT MADE AT THE WINTER MEETING SHALL RESULT IN A \$100 INCREASE IN TOURNAMENT FEE PAYABLE TO PNAHA. Under no circumstances will a team be allowed to participate without the payment of their entry fee. Should the team not pay nor participate the team's association will be responsible for that payment and will immediately not be in good standing until that payment is made.

TEAM AND PLAYER ELIGIBILITY

- a. Any player and/or team not registered by December 31st registration deadline ARE NOT ELIGIBLE to participate in PNAHA State tournaments, nor USA HOCKEY tournaments leading toward a National Championship.
- b. For participation in PNAHA or USA HOCKEY tournaments leading toward a National Championship, a player's name must appear on only ONE official team roster.
- c. District and Nationally bound teams must have competed as a unit in games as required by the USA Hockey Annual Guide.
- d. Teams that are not District or Nationally Bound must have competed as a unit in at least five (5) games during the season to be eligible for tournament play. The players must have played a minimum of five (5) games. It is preferred that those games are played against teams at their same age division and competition level but all official USA Hockey games may be used to meet this requirement.

PNAHA STATE TOURNAMENT/FESTIVAL RULES

USA HOCKEY ANNUAL GUIDE

a. TIER I AND TIER II WILL FOLLOW THE USA HOCKEY NATIONAL TOURNAMENT GUIDE. THE USA HOCKEY TOURNAMENT GUIDEBOOK SHALL BE USED AS A GUIDE TO ASSIST WITH ANY TOURNAMENT RULES NOT COVERED BY PACIFIC DISTRICT AND PNAHA RULES.

b. COACHING EDUCATION REQUIREMENTS

ALL COACHES MUST HAVE CURRENT USA HOCKEY CERTIFICATION AND THE CORRESPONDING ONLINE AGE-SPECIFIC MODULE TO PARTICIPATE IN THE DISTRICT AND NATIONAL CHAMPIONSHIPS. ALL COACHES ARE EXPECTED AND REQUIRED TO FOLLOW ALL USA HOCKEY RULES, INCLUDING THE HELMET RULE, DURING ALL PRE-TOURNAMENT AND TOURNAMENT EVENTS. NONCOMPLIANCE OF THE HELMET RULE WILL RESULT IN A DISCIPLINE COMMITTEE HEARING WITH A MINIMUM 30-DAY SUSPENSION. PLEASE REFER TO THE COACHING EDUCATION REQUIREMENTS, USA HOCKEY ANNUAL GUIDE.

OPENING COACHES/MANAGERS MEETING

AN OPENING MEETING FOR ALL TEAMS PARTICIPATING IN THE TOURNAMENT SHALL BE HELD PRIOR TO THE START OF PLAY AT A TIME AND PLACE TO BE SET BY THE TOURNAMENT DIRECTOR. CHANGES TO TEAM OFFICIALS (COAHCES/MANGER) MAY BE PERMITTED BY THE REGISTRAR BUT MUST BE COMPLETED 24 HOURS PRIOR TO THE OPENING MEETING. ALL PARTICIPATING TEAMS ARE REQUIRED TO HAVE A REPRESENTATIVE (COACH AND/OR MANAGER) PRESENT AT SUCH MEETING. NO ONE PERSON MAY REPRESENT MORE THAN ONE TEAM AT THIS MEETING UNLESS PRIOR APPROVAL IS GRANTED BY THE ONSITE TOURNAMENT DIRECTOR. FAILURE TO HAVE A TEAM REPRESENTATIVE PRESENT SHALL RESULT IN THE SUSPENSION OF THE HEAD COACH, AS LISTED FOR THE FIRST GAME OF THE TOURNAMENT. (MINUTES SEPTEMBER 2023)

HOST TEAM

THERE SHALL BE NO HOST TEAM IN THE PNAHA TOURNAMENT.

DISCIPLINARY BOARD

THE DISCIPLINARY BOARD SHALL BE COMPRISED OF MEMBERS OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS, AS APPOINTED BY THE PRESIDENT, WITH THE TOURNAMENT DIRECTOR AS ITS CHAIRPERSON. THE DISCIPLINARY BOARD SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR DECIDING ANY ACTION (SUSPENSIONS OR OTHERWISE) TO BE TAKEN AGAINST A PLAYER OR TEAM OFFICIAL RECEIVING A MATCH PENALTY. THE DISCIPLINARY BOARD SHALL HAVE FULL POWER TO WAIVE OR INCREASE OR ADJUST MATTERS WHICH SEEM TO BE IN THE BEST INTEREST OF HOCKEY. NO PLAYER OR TEAM OFFICIAL SHALL BE SUSPENDED FROM PARTICIPATING IN THE REMAINING GAMES UNLESS HE/SHE HAS THE OPPORTUNITY TO APPEAR BEFORE THE DISCIPLINARY BOARD AND HAS BEEN GIVEN THE OPPORTUNITY OF RELATING HIS/HER VERSION OF THE INCIDENT. ALL DISCIPLINARY ACTION TAKEN BY THE DISCIPLINARY BOARD SHALL BE REPORTED TO THE HOME MEMBER ORGANIZATION OF THE PLAYER AND/OR TEAMS INVOLVED FOR FURTHER ACTION AT THEIR DISCRETION.

PROTESTS

PROTESTS ON ALL MATTERS, OTHER THAN THE REFEREE'S DECISIONS, MUST BE FILED WITH THE TOURNAMENT COMMITTEE OR ITS REPRESENTATIVE IN ATTENDANCE, IN WRITING NO LATER THAN ONE (1) HOUR AFTER COMPLETION OF THE GAME INVOLVED. WRITTEN PROTESTS MUST CONTAIN THE FACTS AND MUST BE ACCOMPANIED BY A PROTEST FEE OF \$100.00, WHICH WILL BE RETURNED IF THE PROTEST IS UPHELD. OFFICIAL PROTESTS WILL BE MADE KNOWN AT THE TIME OF THE PROTEST TO ALL OFFICIALS AND THE PUBLIC.

TOURNAMENT DRAWING

STATE B AND FESTIVAL TOURNAMENT DRAWINGS WILL BE ESTABLISHED BY THE PRESIDENT OF PNAHA. NATIONAL BOUND SEEDING WILL BE BASED ON THE RESULTS OF THE GAMES PLAYED IN THE LEAGUE OR OF THE 2-GAME REQUIREMENT FOR CERTIFICATION IN THE EVENT THERE IS NO LEAGUE PLAY. FINAL APPROVED PAIRINGS WILL BE MAILED TO THE MEMBER ORGANIZATION DIRECTORS FOR DISTRIBUTION TO THOSE TEAMS CONCERNED AT LEAST TWO (2) WEEKS PRIOR TO THE TOURNAMENT. (MINUTES SEPTEMBER 2023)

TOURNAMENT TEAM REPRESENTATIVES

EACH MEMBER ORGANIZATION SHALL SELECT ITS REPRESENTATIVES TO THE PNAHA TOURNAMENTS OR PLAYOFFS. SHOULD THERE BE INSUFFICIENT ENTRIES TO MERIT HOLDING A PNAHA DIVISION CHAMPIONSHIP; A REPRESENTATIVE MAY BE APPOINTED BY THE PRESIDENT TO REPRESENT PNAHA IN A DISTRICT OR NATIONAL TOURNAMENT.

CREDENTIAL PACKETS

ALL TEAMS MUST BE CREDENTIALED EVEN (7) DAYS PRIOR TO THE START OF THE OPENING COACHES MEETING. EACH MEMBER ORGANIZATION MUST HAVE AVAILABLE AT THE PNAHA TOURNAMENT A COPY OF ITS CREDENTIAL PACKET. (MINUTES SEPTEMBER 2023)

TEAM UNIFORMS

ALL TEAMS ENTERED MUST BE PROPERLY UNIFORMED. ALL TEAMS MUST ARRIVE WITH A HOME (LIGHT) AND VISITOR (DARK) JERSEY. NO ADDITIONAL JERSEY WILL BE ALLOWED. UNLESS OTHERWISE APPROVED BY THE ONSITE TOURNAMENT DIRECTOR, THE HOME TEAM SHALL WEAR LIGHT/WHITE JERSEYS AND THE VISITING TEAM SHALL WEAR DARK JERSEYS IN ALL GAMES. THE HEAD COACH WILL NOT BE ALLOWED TO COACH UNTIL HIS/HER PLAYERS HAVE COMPLIED WITH THIS RULE AND ARE PROPERLY UNIFORMED.

GOALKEEPERS

FOR NON-NATIONAL, TEAMS THAT ARE UNABLE TO ARRIVE WITH A BACKUP GOALKEEPER SHALL BE PERMITTED, WITH THE APPROVAL OF THE APPROPRIATE REGISTRAR AND THEN THE ON-SITE TOURNAMENT DIRECTOR OR HIS/HER APPOINTEE, TO USE A SUBSTITUTE EMERGENCY GOALKEEPER FROM THE SAME AGE CLASSIFICATION IN A LOWER LEVEL (B, THEN HOUSE/REC.) TEAM WITHIN THE SAME ASSOCIATION. THE SUBSTITUTE EMERGENCY GOALKEEPER SHALL ONLY BE PERMITTED TO PARTICIPATE IN A GAME IN THE EVENT OF EXTENUATING CIRCUMSTANCES AND WITH THE APPROVAL OF THE ON-SITE TOURNAMENT DIRECTOR.

FAILURE TO APPEAR

IF A TEAM FAILS TO APPEAR IN TIME TO START THE GAME OR DOES NOT HAVE SUFFICIENT PLAYERS AND DOES NOT GIVE NOTICE, THE GAME SHALL BE FORFEITED PROVIDING THE OTHER TEAM TAKES THE ICE AND CLAIMS THE FORFEIT. IN CASE OF EXCEPTIONAL CIRCUMSTANCES, THE FORFEIT MAY BE APPEALED TO THE TOURNAMENT COMMITTEE AND THE GAME REPLAYED IF THE APPEAL IS UPHELD.

NOISE MAKERS

NO NOISE MAKERS ARE ALLOWED AT THE TOURNAMENTS — THE TOURNAMENT DIRECTOR OR APPOINTEE HAS THE FINAL SAY AS TO WHETHER THE ITEM IS A NOISE MAKER. SOME EXAMPLES WOULD BE COWBELLS AND AIR HORNS.

SCORE SHEETS

THE SCORE SHEETS SHALL BE REVIEWED BY THE TOURNAMENT DIRECTOR OR HIS/HER OFFICIAL DELEGATE AFTER EACH GAME, AND THEN SIGNED AS BEING OFFICIAL. ALL SCORE SHEETS WILL BE NUMBERED.

TIME OF PERIODS AND PENALTIES (STOP TIME MINUTES ONLY): ALL PERIODS ARE STOP CLOCK EXCEPT 10U. (MINUTES SEPTEMBER 2023)

					PENALTIE	S
		1,2,3				
CLASS	Warmup	PERIOD	Overtime	MINOR	Major	MISCON.
10U	4	18	0/5	1	4	8
12U	5	15	0/5	1.5	4	8
14U (TIER II)	5	17	5/17	2	5	10
14U B	5	15	5/10	1.5	4	8
15 ONLY	5	17	5/17	2	5	10
16U (TIER II)	5	17	5/17	2	5	10
18U B	5	15	5/10	1.5	4	8
18U (TIER I)	5	20	5/20	2	5	10
18U (TIER II)	5	17	5/17	2	5	10
19U (GIRLS)	5	17	5/17	2	5	10
Women's	5	15	5/15	1.5	4	8
HIGH SCHOOL	5	17	5/17	2	5	10
(UPDATED FROM USA HOCKEY NATIONAL TOURNAMENT GUIDE 22-23, PAGE 27)						

AT 12U/10U, ROUND ROBIN AND CONSOLATION GAMES WILL END AT REGULATION IF AT A TIE SCORE. QUARTERFINAL, SEMIFINAL AND CHAMPIONSHIP GAMES WILL UTILIZE ONE 5-MINUTE OVERTIME PERIOD AND THEN A SHOOTOUT IF NECESSARY.

At 14U and older, round robin games will utilize one (1) 5-minute overtime period, then proceed to a shootout if a winner has not been determined. Quarterfinal, semifinal and championship games will utilize 10-minute overtime and then a shootout.

EACH TEAM IS PERMITTED ONE TIME-OUT OF 60 SECONDS, WHETHER IN REGULATION OR OVERTIME, PER THE USA HOCKEY PLAYING RULES.

GAME FORMATS (MINUTES SEPTEMBER 2023)

- a. All 10U games to be allotted a minimum of one and one quarter (1.25) hour time period. All 12U and older games to be allotted a minimum of one and a half (1.5) hour time period. All games will have a five-minute warm-up period to precede each game.
- b. ICE CUTS WILL BE MADE BEFORE EVERY GAME, AS A MINIMUM. 18UB WILL HAVE AN ADDITIONAL ICE CUT BETWEEN THE 2ND AND 3RD PERIOD.
- C. NO GAMES ARE TO START BEFORE THEIR SCHEDULED TIME WITHOUT THE APPROVAL OF BOTH PARTICIPATING TEAM'S COACHES AND THE TOURNAMENT DIRECTOR.
- d. The 12U and 10U game formats will ensure that each team is guaranteed 4 games
- e. No team shall be required to play a second game in one day against a team playing its first game on that day, except with the specific approval of the Tournament Director. There shall be a minimum of four (4) hours between games played on the same day and twelve (12) hours on games played on consecutive days. (Time is from the scheduled end of one game and the scheduled beginning of the next game).
- f. Along with the USA Hockey National/District formats, the following are the game formats and alternatives that might be used and applied to tournaments and championship playoffs: *Note: Examples schedules/formats are in the back Appendix of the USA Hockey National Tournament Guide

TEAMS	GAMES	Days	SAMPLE SCHEDULE
2	3 (BEST 2 OF 3)	Day 1	1 – A vs B
			2 – B vs A
		Day 2	3 – A vs B(if necessary, All Games played until there is a winner
3	7		(ONE DIVISION – DOUBLE ROUND ROBIN)
		Day 1	1-AvsB 2-BvsC 3cvsA
		Day 2	4-B vs A 5-A vs C 6 C vs B
		Day 3	7 — TEAMS WITH THE TWO HIGHEST POINTS TOTALS PLAY FOR CHAMPIONSHIP
4	7		(ONE DIVISION — DOUBLE ROUND ROBIN)
		Day 1	1 – A vs B 2- C vs D
		Day 2	3-A vs C 4-B vs D 5-D vs A 6 B vs C
		Day 3	7 – TEAMS WITH THE TWO HIGHEST POINTS TOTALS PLAY FOR CHAMPIONSHIP
5	11		(ONE DIVISION — DOUBLE ROUND ROBIN)
		Day 1	1-AvsB 2-CvsD 3-BvsE 4-CvsA
		Day 2	5-EvsD 6-BvsC 7-DvsA 8-EvsC
		Day 3	9 – A vs E 10 – D vs B 11 - Teams with the two highest points totals
			PLAY FOR CHAMPIONSHIP
6	16		(One Division – Double Round Robin)
		Day 1	1-AvsB 2-CvsD 3-EvsF
			4 – A vs D 5 – B vs F 6 – C vs E
		Day 2	7-Fvs D 8-Bvs E 9-Avs C
			10 - D vs B 11 - F vs C 12 - E vs A
		Day 3	13 – B vs C 14 – D vs E 15 – F vs A
			16 - TEAMS WITH THE TWO HIGHEST POINTS TOTALS PLAY FOR CHAMPIONSHIP
6	15		(Two Divison – Round Robin)
		Day 1	1-AvsB 2-DvsE 3-BvcC
			4-EvsF 5-CvsA 6-FvsD

Day 2	7 - C vs B 8 - F vs E 9 - A vs C 10-D vs F 11-B vs A 12-E vs D
Day 3	13 - 1st Division I vs 2nd Division II 14 - 1st Division II vs 2nd Division 1 15 - Winner of game 13 vs the winner of game 14 for Championship

TEAMS	GAMES	Days	SAMPLE SCHEDULE
7	15		DIVISION 1 SINGLE ROUND ROBIN
			DIVISION II DOUBLE ROUND ROBIN
			Division I Division II
			A E
			B F
			C G
			D
		Day 1	1-EvsF 2-AvsB 3-CvsD
			4-FvsG 5-DvsA 6-GvsE
		Day 2	7-FvsE 8-BvsD 9-AvsC
			10 – E vs G 11 – B vs C 12 – G vs F
		Day 3	13 - 1st Division I vs 2nd Division II
			14 - 1st Division II vs 2nd Division 1
			15 - Winner of game 13 vs the winner of game 14 for
			Championship
8	15		TWO DIVISON ROUND ROBIN
			DIVISION I DIVISION II
			A E
			B F
			C G
			D H
		Day 1	1 AVG P 2 CVG P 2 FVG F
		Day 1	1-AvsB 2-CvsD 3-EvsF 4-GvsH 5-AvsC 6-BvsD
			4-G VS F 3-A VS C 6-B VS D
		Day 2	7 – E vs G 8 – F vs H 9 – D vs A
		DAIZ	10 – B vs C 11 – H vs E 12 – G vs F
			20 213 212 11102 12 3101
		Day 3	13 - 1st Division I vs 2nd Division II
		_	14 - 1st Division II vs 2nd Division 1
			15 - Winner of game 13 vs the winner of game 14 for
			CHAMPIONSHIP

ARTICLE VI - COACH AND MANAGER REGISTRATION

- 1. ALL TEAMS REGISTERED WITH PNAHA AND USA HOCKEY MUST HAVE A CARDED COACH AND/OR MANAGER IN GOOD STANDING WITH PNAHA AND HOCKEY. IT SHALL BE THE RESPONSIBILITY OF THE COACH AND/OR MANAGER FOR THE CONDUCT OF HIS/HER PLAYERS.
- 2. NO MORE THAN FOUR (4) TEAM OFFICIALS, IN GOOD STANDINGS, SHALL BE PERMITTED IN THE VICINITY OF THE PLAYERS' BENCH OR WILL BE ALLOWED TO COACH OR MANAGE A TEAM. ANY VIOLATION OF THIS REGULATION COULD RESULT IN A FORFEIT OF THE GAME.
- 3. COACH AND MANAGERS CAN SIGN ONLY ONE USA HOCKEY ROSTER IN THE SAME AGE GROUP.
- 4. USA HOCKEY/PACIFIC DISTRICT REQUIRES THE COACH AND ASSISTANT COACH OF A TEAM ENTERING THE PACIFIC DISTRICT TIER I/TIER II PLAYOFF TOURNAMENTS, TO BE QUALIFIED AT THE USA HOCKEY CEP LEVELS. NOT LATER THAN DECEMBER 31, OF THE CURRENT PLAYING SEASON. SEE USA HOCKEY NATIONAL TOURNAMENT PAGE 4 ITEM B, REVIEW WITH NEW CEP PROCESSES

ARTICLE VII – NON-SANCTIONED HOCKEY

NO TEAM REGISTERED OR AFFILIATED WITH PNAHA AND USA HOCKEY SHALL COMPETE IN ANY TOURNAMENT, UNLESS THAT TOURNAMENT HAS BEEN GRANTED A TOURNAMENT SANCTION BY THE PNAHA/USA HOCKEY ASSOCIATE DISTRICT REGISTRAR. ANY TEAM PARTICIPATING IN A NON-SANCTIONED EVENT, REPRESENTING THEMSELVES AS A PNAHA OR USA HOCKEY TEAM, WILL BE DECLARED INELIGIBLE FOR PARTICIPATION IN ANY APPLICABLE PNAHA STATE AND USA HOCKEY NATIONAL BOUND TOURNAMENTS FOR THE CURRENT SEASON. THE COACHING STAFF AND ASSOCIATION MAY BE SUBJECT TO ADDITIONAL DISCIPLINE.

ARTICLE VIII - OFFICIALS

- 1. Officials under the age of 18 are not permitted to officiate adult hockey games.
- 2. ALL MINOR (OFF-ICE) OFFICIALS ARE TO BE LEGAL ADULTS (AGE 18+) FOR ALL PNAHA TOURNAMENT GAMES.

OFFICIAL PNAHA LEAGUE RULES

NOTES:	

I. LEAGUE MANAGEMENT:

COMPETITION COMMITTEE. EACH MEMBER ORGANIZATION THAT HAS A TEAM IN A PNAHA STATE LEAGUE THAT IS FESTIVAL, STATE OR NATIONAL BOUND WILL APPOINT A REPRESENTATIVE TO THE COMPETITION COMMITTEE. THE MEMBERS OF THIS COMMITTEE WILL BE IDENTIFIED AT THE SPRING/SUMMER MEETING OF PNAHA. EACH REPRESENTATIVE WILL HAVE ONE VOTE. HOWEVER, THEY CAN ONLY VOTE ON MOTIONS THAT EFFECT A SPECIFIC AGE DIVISION IF THEY REPRESENT A TEAM IN THAT DIVISION. THE PNAHA PRESIDENT WILL SERVE ON THE COMMITTEE AS A NON-VOTING MEMBER; THE PNAHA 1ST & 2ND VICE PRESIDENTS WILL SERVE ON THE COMMITTEE AS VOTING MEMBERS IN ALL VOTES.

DURING THE PNAHA SPRING/SUMMER MEETING, THE MEMBERS OF THE COMPETITION COMMITTEE SHALL ELECT A CHAIR, A LEAGUE SCHEDULER, AND A LEAGUE STATISTICIAN.

A. COMMITTEE CHAIR

- 1. SHALL BE THE LEAGUE COMMISSIONER.
- 2. THE LEAGUE SCHEDULER AND STATISTICIAN SHALL REPORT TO AND TAKE DIRECTION FROM THE COMMITTEE CHAIR.
- 3. RESPONSIBLE FOR PREPARING LEAGUE REPORTS FOR EACH PNAHA MEETING
- 4. RESPONSIBLE FOR SECURING LEAGUE BANNERS FOR THE LEAGUE CHAMPIONS
- 5. BE AVAILABLE TO LEAGUE TEAM COACHES AND MANAGERS TO OFFER CLARIFICATION AND GUIDANCE REGARDING ALL LEAGUE MATTERS.
- 6. THE COMMITTEE CHAIR SHALL BE ALLOWED EXPENSES TO ALL MEETINGS AS REQUIRED BY PNAHA. THESE EXPENSES INCLUDE MEALS AND LODGING, COMMERCIAL TRANSPORTATION, WHEN NECESSARY, IN THE PERFORMANCE OF HIS/HER DUTIES. ALL EXPENSES SHALL BE ALLOWED WITH THE SUBMISSION OF A WRITTEN STATEMENT, DOCUMENTATION OF EXPENSES AND RECEIPTS TO THE TREASURER FOR PAYMENT.
- 7. THE COMMITTEE CHAIR MAY RECEIVE A STIPEND AS DETERMINED BY THE PNAHA BOARD OF DIRECTORS.

B. LEAGUE SCHEDULER

- 1. RESPONSIBLE FOR HOLDING A SCHEDULING MEETING AT LEAST TWO WEEKS PRIOR TO THE FIRST SCHEDULED GAMES FOR EACH RESPECTIVE AGE CLASSIFICATION. ALL TEAMS IN THE LEAGUE ARE REQUIRED TO HAVE A REPRESENTATIVE AT THIS MEETING.
- 2. RESPONSIBLE FOR UPLOADING THE SCHEDULE ON THE WEBSITE AND MANAGING ANY APPROVED CHANGES THROUGHOUT THE SEASON.
- 3. THE LEAGUE SCHEDULER MAY RECEIVE A STIPEND AS DETERMINED BY THE PNAHA BOARD OF DIRECTORS.

C. LEAGUE STATISTICIAN

- 1. RESPONSIBLE FOR MAKING SURE LEAGUE STANDINGS ARE COMPLETE AND ON THE WEBSITE.
- 2. RESPONSIBLE FOR CERTIFYING FINAL LEAGUE STANDINGS.

II. ASSOCIATION COMMITMENT

- A. EACH ASSOCIATION RECOGNIZES THAT THE PURPOSE OF THE PNAHA LEAGUE IS TO PROVIDE A SCHEDULE OF GAMES THAT WILL SATISFY USA HOCKEY AND PNAHA RULES FOR NATIONAL BOUND CERTIFICATION, ADMINISTER STATEWIDE COMPETITION FOR STATE BOUND TEAMS AND PROVIDE A SCHEDULE OF GAMES THAT ADHERES TO THE PLAYER DEVELOPMENT PHILOSOPHIES ADOPTED BY PNAHA FOR PLAYERS IN THE 12U AND 10U AGE CLASSIFICATIONS.
- B. Administers statewide competition for State Bound teams and
- C. PROVIDES A SCHEDULE OF GAMES THAT ADHERES TO THE PLAYER DEVELOPMENT PHILOSOPHIES ADOPTED BY PNAHA FOR PLAYERS IN THE 10U AGE CLASSIFICATIONS AND.

- a. PNAHA has adopted an official 10U League Policy to focus on assisting 10U Division players wishing to experience an introduction to the Rep (travel team) experience an opportunity to grow skills, train properly and maintain balance between practices and games. Emphasis on reducing the negatives such as excessive travel and cost to parents to participate in this sport at this age level is a primary objective.
- b. Participating teams in the PNAHA League will be encouraged to strive for a three to one practice ratio. But are required to maintain at a minimum a mandatory two to one practice to game schedule. The 10U League will consist of one 10U Rep Division.
- c. ALL PNAHA ASSOCIATIONS MAY STRUCTURE THEIR 10U REP TEAMS AS DESIRED WITHOUT PNAHA SANCTIONS.

 THESE TEAMS WILL ALSO BE ALLOWED TO PARTICIPATE IN LEAGUE PLAY AND IN THE 10U FESTIVAL.
- d. An unbalanced schedule will be allowed in the 10U League to allow for the reduction of travel. The ability to allow for an unbalanced schedule could result in some teams hosting a participating League team but not playing that team as a visiting team.
- e. These teams will be "bracketed" into two to four divisions: Gold, Silver, Bronze, and Copper. The division they participate in will be determined by the teams' final standing in the PNAHA league after completing a 16-game schedule. (Note that the game schedule number could be less than 16 if the number of participating teams does not support 16 games). The number of teams in each division will be determined by the Competition Committee. This committee is made up of those associations who have teams entered in the tournament.
- D. PROVIDES A SCHEDULE OF GAMES THAT ADHERES TO THE PLAYER DEVELOPMENT PHILOSOPHIES ADOPTED BY PNAHA FOR PLAYERS IN THE 12U
 - a. These teams will be "bracketed" into two to four divisions: Gold, Silver, Bronze, and Copper. The division they participate in will be determined by the teams' final standing in the PNAHA League after completing a 20-game schedule (Note that the game schedule number could be less than 20 if the number of participating teams does not support 20 games (i.e., less than six participating teams in the League). The number of teams in each division will be determined by the Competition Committee. This committee is made up of those associations who have teams entered in the tournament
- E. EACH ASSOCIATION WILL GIVE A PRELIMINARY DECLARATION OF INTENT, BY AGE CLASSIFICATION AND LEVEL, TO PARTICIPATE IN THE PNAHA LEAGUE DURING THE SPRING/SUMMER PNAHA MEETING. EACH ASSOCIATION WILL SEND FINAL COMMITMENTS IN WRITING TO THE PNAHA BOARD OF DIRECTORS, LEAGUE CHAIR AND LEAGUE SCHEDULER NO LATER THAN AUGUST 31ST. EACH TEAM WILL BE ASSIGNED AS EITHER A STATE BOUND OR NATIONAL BOUND AS RECOMMENDED BY ITS ASSOCIATION.
- F. EACH ASSOCIATION WILL HAVE ENOUGH HOME ICE SLOTS AND AVAILABLE TRAVEL WEEKENDS TO SATISFY THE REQUIREMENTS.
 - a. National Bound teams must play 2 home and 2 away games with all of the other National Bound teams in their USA Hockey age classification and declared level. 50% of all required games must be played by November 15 of the current playing season.
 - b. Depending on the number of teams, State Bound Teams will be scheduled at a minimum 2 home and 2 away games with all the other State Bound teams in their USA Hockey age classification and declared level or a maximum of 20 games at the 12U age classification and 28 games at the 14U and older age classifications. (Updated in Minutes September 2023)
 - c. All 10U and 12U teams participating in the League are required to participate in their designated Festival which is the final event of season. Only teams that participate in the PNAHA 10U and 12U League may participate in the Festival.
 - i. The exception is if there is no League, then each PNAHA association may declare teams at the PNAHA winter meeting. A meeting will be arranged consisting of those declared participants from the Winter PNAHA meeting to determine ranking in the tournament.

d. All League games must be completed prior to 14 days before the respective PNAHA Tournament or Festival.

III. LEAGUE SCHEDULE

- A. LEAGUE GAMES WILL BE OCTOBER MARCH, IF TIERING GAMES ARE REQUIRED, THOSE GAMES WILL BE PLAYED THE LAST TWO (2) WEEKENDS OF SEPTEMBER.
- B. ONCE THE LEAGUE SCHEDULER POSTS THE APPROVED LEAGUE SCHEDULE ON THE OFFICIAL PNAHA WEBSITE, THE SCHEDULE BECOMES OFFICIAL, AND IT SHALL BECOME A COMMITMENT FOR THE PARTICIPATING ASSOCIATIONS FOR THE YEAR'S PLAY.
- C. FAILURE TO PLAY A GAME ON THE OFFICIAL SCHEDULE WITHOUT THE APPROVAL OF THE LEAGUE SCHEDULER MAY RESULT IN A FINE TO COVER TEAM EXPENSES (UP TO \$500.00) PAYABLE TO PNAHA AND SENT TO THE PNAHA TREASURER.
- D. TEAMS PARTICIPATING IN THE LEAGUE ARE REQUIRED TO ADHERE TO THE PNAHA SPONSOR HOTEL POLICY. FAILURE FOR A VISITING TEAM TO COMPLY WITH THE PNAHA SPONSOR HOTEL POLICY WILL CARRY A FINANCIAL PENALTY OF \$400.00 PER NIGHT TO THE TEAM IN VIOLATION OF THE POLICY. THE FINE WILL BE PAYABLE TO THE HOST ASSOCIATION.

IV. STATE LEAGUE STANDINGS

- A. POINTS FOR GAMES SHALL BE 2 POINTS FOR A WIN, 1 POINT FOR A TIE, AND NO POINTS FOR A LOSS. STANDINGS WILL BE DETERMINED AS FOLLOWS:
 - 1. MOST POINTS OBTAINED
 - 2. If two or more teams are tied for any position, standings will be determined by the current USA Hockey tie breaker rules as stated in the current National Tournament Guidebook.

V. TEAM COMPOSITION

- A. ALL MEMBERS OF A GIVEN TEAM MUST BE NO OLDER THAN THE MAXIMUM AGE LIMIT DEFINED BY THE TEAM LEVEL. HOWEVER, A PLAYER MAY "PLAY UP" AT A LEVEL OLDER THAN HIS AGE IF PERMITTED BY HIS ASSOCIATION AND ANY APPLICABLE PNAHA AND USA HOCKEY RULES.
- B. ALL TEAMS ENTERED IN THE STATE SANCTIONED LEAGUE MUST BE CERTIFIED WITH USA HOCKEY. NON-PNAHA TEAMS MAY BE ALLOWED TO PLAY IN THE LEAGUE. THIS IS A YEAR-TO-YEAR ACCOMMODATION AND IS SUBJECT TO THE APPROVAL OF THE PNAHA BOARD OF DIRECTORS. TEAMS FROM ASSOCIATIONS WHO ARE NON-VOTING MEMBERS OF PNAHA CAN WIN THE LEAGUE CHAMPIONSHIP. ALL GAME RESULTS FROM GAMES PLAYED AGAINST NON-VOTING MEMBERS WILL BE REMOVED WHEN SEEDING THE TEAMS PRIOR TO THE PNAHA STATE TOURNAMENT.
- C. EACH TEAM MAY HAVE A MAXIMUM OF TWENTY (20) PLAYERS, IN WHICH NOT MORE THAN 18 ARE SKATERS PERMITTED TO PLAY IN A GAME ON THE ROSTER WITH A MAXIMUM OF 18 PLAYERS. EACH TEAM MUST HAVE A DESIGNATED HEAD COACH AND ONLY FOUR (4) TEAM OFFICIALS ARE ALLOWED ON THE PLAYER'S BENCH DURING A GAME.
- D. FOR THE PURPOSES OF LEAGUE PLAY, NO PLAYER MAY BE ADDED TO THE ROSTER OF A NATIONAL BOUND TEAM AFTER DECEMBER 31ST OF THE SEASON, EXCEPT WITH THE APPROVAL OF THE PACIFIC DISTRICT REGISTRAR. FOR STATE BOUND TEAMS PLAYERS MAY BE ADDED TO THE ROSTER IN CASE OF INJURY. ALL REQUESTS MUST BE SENT TO THE COMMITTEE CHAIR IN WRITING AND HAVE A MAJORITY APPROVAL FROM THE COMPETITION COMMITTEE.

VI. DOCUMENTATION

- A. EACH PLAYER MUST BE A MEMBER IN GOOD STANDING OF USA HOCKEY.
- B. ALL TEAMS MUST MAINTAIN THE PROPER DOCUMENTS AS REQUIRED FOR USA HOCKEY CERTIFICATION AND FOLLOW BOTH USA HOCKEY AND PNAHA RULES AND REGULATIONS.
- C. ALL TEAM PERSONNEL MUST MAINTAIN CEP CERTIFICATION LEVELS, SAFE SPORT CERTIFICATION AND HAVE A CURRENT BACKGROUND SCREEN.

VII. LEAGUE PLAY

- A. AT ALL LEAGUE GAMES, TEAMS ARE NOT PERMITTED ON THE ICE PRIOR TO THE REFEREES BEING ON THE ICE.
- B. THERE WILL BE NO TIME-OUTS DURING LEAGUE GAMES.
- C. GAME LENGTHS: IN ALL CASES, TEAMS WILL USE THE AVAILABLE ICE TO THE BEST POSSIBLE ADVANTAGE. THE STANDARD ICE TIME SLOTS ARE LISTED BELOW. LEAGUE GAMES WILL BE PLAYED WITH THE FOLLOWING STOP CLOCK PERIODS. PERIODS OF PLAY MAY BE SHORTENED UTILIZING THE LISTED FORMULA; HOWEVER, PERIODS OF PLAY ARE NOT TO EXCEED THE TIMES AS LISTED.
 - a. MINIMUM 1½ HOUR GAMES (16U AND 18U TIER II)
 - i. 4-MINUTE WARM-UP
 - ii. 1 MINUTE BETWEEN PERIODS
 - iii. 3 SEVENTEEN (17) MINUTE STOP CLOCK PERIODS
 - iv. OPTIONAL ICE SCRAPES (IF THERE IS AN ICE SCRAPE, MINIMUM 1 3/4 HOUR GAME)
 - b. MINIMUM 1½ HOUR GAMES (14U TIER II)
 - i. 4-MINUTE WARM-UP
 - ii. 1 MINUTE BETWEEN PERIODS
 - iii. 3 SIXTEEN (16) MINUTE STOP CLOCK PERIODS
 - iv. OPTIONAL ICE SCRAPES (IF THERE IS AN ICE SCRAPE, MINIMUM 1 3/4 HOUR GAME)
 - c. 1½ HOUR GAMES (12U, 14UB, 16UB AND 18UB)
 - i. 4-MINUTE WARM-UP
 - ii. 1 MINUTE BETWEEN PERIODS
 - iii. 3 fifteen (15) minute stop clock periods
 - iv. NO ICE SCRAPES
 - d. 1¼ hour games 10U half ice game
 - i. 4-MINUTE WARM-UP
 - ii. 1 MINUTE BETWEEN PERIODS
 - iii. 3 EIGHTEEN (18) MINUTE RUN CLOCK PERIODS
 - iv. NO ICE SCRAPES

Notes: Prior to the third period, if the timekeeper and referee feel there is not sufficient time to play the period as listed, the referee will notify both teams that it is necessary to shorten the period by a specific number of stop-time minutes. This is determined by the following formula: Actual ice time remaining divided by 2 equals the time on scoreboard. This must be noted on the score sheet by the referee. The revised playing time shall be shown on the clock at the commencement of the third period

- D. HOME TEAM RESPONSIBILITIES (UPDATED MINUTES SEPTEMBER 2023)
 - 1. PROVIDE ICE FOR HOME GAMES (GAME LENGTH DESCRIBED ABOVE).
 - 2. SCHEDULE REFEREES. 12U, 14U, 16U AND 18U WILL USE A SINGLE REFEREE AND TWO LINESMEN SYSTEM WHENEVER POSSIBLE. (A TWO REFEREE AND TWO LINESMEN SYSTEM IS ACCEPTABLE ALSO.) A 2-REFEREE SYSTEM

- MAY BE USED IN THE EVENT THAT 3 OFFICIALS ARE NOT AVAILABLE. 10US MAY USE A 2-REFEREE SYSTEM IF THEY WISH
- 3. PROVIDE ELECTRONIC SCOREKEEPING OR PAPER SCORE SHEETS. ENSURE THAT THE ELECTRONIC SYSTEM OR PAPER SCORE SHEET INDICATES THAT THIS IS A SCHEDULED LEAGUE GAME AND INCLUDE THE GAME NUMBER. THE GAME NUMBER IS LOCATED ON THE LEAGUE SCHEDULE PROVIDED TO EACH PARTICIPATING ASSOCIATION
- 4. ENSURE THAT EACH TEAMS PLAYER ROSTER IS FILLED OUT NUMERICALLY.
- 5. NOTE ANY PLAYERS SERVING A GAME SUSPENSION ON THE SCORE SHEET
- 6. Any team playing an ineligible player will forfeit 2 league standing points and will suspend its head coach for 30 days. The opposing team will be credited with 2 league standing points and will record a "1-0 forfeit" win as outlined in the USA Hockey Guidelines.
- 7. PROVIDE MINOR OFFICIALS, I.E., TIMEKEEPER, SCOREKEEPER, PENALTY BOXES
- 8. COMPLETE THE SCORE SHEET, ENSURE COACH AND REFEREES HAVE SIGNED, AND ELECTRONICALLY TRANSMIT THE SHEETS VIA THE ELECTRONIC SCOREKEEPING SYSTEM AT THE CONCLUSION OF THE GAME. IN THE EVENT THE GAME IS SCORED VIA PAPER, PROVIDE A COPY TO THE LEAGUE STATISTICIAN BY THE FOLLOWING TUESDAY. FAILURE TO PROVIDE THE SCORE SHEET WITHIN 30 DAYS WILL RESULT IN A RECORDED FORFEIT FOR THE HOME TEAM.
- 9. WEAR LIGHT JERSEYS, IF AVAILABLE.
- 10. Leave the ICE After the VISITING TEAM HAS LEFT THE ICE.
- E. VISITING TEAM RESPONSIBILITIES (UPDATED MINUTES SEPTEMBER 2023)
 - 1. VERIFY TEAM ROSTER IS ACCURATE.
 - 2. WEAR DARK JERSEYS. IF AVAILABLE
 - 3. PROVIDE A PENALTY BOX PERSON IF ASKED BY THE HOME TEAM MANAGER
 - 4. LEAVE THE ICE IMMEDIATELY AFTER THE HANDSHAKE.

VIII. DISCIPLINE

- A. ALL LEAGUE GAMES WILL BE PLAYED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE DISCIPLINARY RULES OF USA HOCKEY.
- B. ANY GAME MISCONDUCT PENALTY INCURRED IN A LEAGUE GAME WILL BE SERVED AT THE NEXT GAME, LEAGUE, OR NON-LEAGUE, PLAYED BY THAT TEAM TO COMPLY WITH THE USA HOCKEY RULE FOR SERVING MISCONDUCT PENALTIES (RULE 404). If there is an intervening non-league game, the penalty would also have to be served at the Next scheduled league game. Conversely, a game misconduct penalty incurred in a non-league game would be served in the next game, league or non-league, thereby complying with both League and USA Hockey requirements.
- C. MATCH PENALTIES WILL BE HANDLED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE USA HOCKEY STANDARDIZED DISCIPLINE, USA HOCKEY BYLAW 10 AND PNAHA SUSPENSION GUIDELINES AS PRINTED IN THE CURRENT PNAHA GUIDEBOOK.
- D. ALL DISCIPLINE REPORTS GENERATED BY USA HOCKEY GO TO THE PROPER AUTHORITY FOR EACH TEAM. THE PROPER AUTHORITY IS THE MEMBER ASSOCIATION OR MEMBER TEAM. EACH MEMBER MUST SUBMIT TO THE COMPETITION COMMITTEE DURING THE SPRING/SUMMER MEETING, THE NAME AND EMAIL ADDRESS FOR THE PERSON WHO SHOULD GET THESE REPORTS. THE CHAIR WILL SEND THIS INFORMATION TO THE AFFILIATE PRESIDENT. THE PNAHA PRESIDENT WILL UPDATE THE USA HOCKEY RECORDS TO INSURE THESE REPORTS ARE CORRECTLY DIRECTED TO THE PROPER AUTHORITY.
- E. THE ZERO TOLERANCE RULES FOR COACHES, PLAYERS AND PARENTS FOR ABUSIVE OR INAPPROPRIATE LANGUAGE, GESTURES. AND BEHAVIOR WILL BE OBSERVED AS OUTLINED IN THE USA HOCKEY ANNUAL GUIDE.
- F. ANY PLAYER OR TEAM OFFICIAL SUSPENDED SHALL NOT REMAIN NEAR THE BENCH OF THEIR TEAM. THE TEAM OFFICIAL MAY NOT IN ANY WAY ATTEMPT TO DIRECT THE PLAY OF HIS TEAM. THE SUSPENDED PLAYER OR TEAM OFFICIAL CANNOT PARTICIPATE IN TEAM ACTIVITIES FOR 45 MINUTES PRIOR TO THE GAME THROUGH 30 MINUTES AFTER THE CONCLUSION OF THE GAME. (Note: Rule 401c, Officials Rules of Ice Hockey 21-25)

IX. LEAGUE CHAMPIONS

A. THERE WILL BE A BANNER AWARDED TO THE LEAGUE CHAMPION FOR 14U, 16U,18U AND 19U.

X. OTHER ARTICLES

- A. WHEREVER "USA HOCKEY" IS USED IN THIS SECTION IT SHALL MEAN USA HOCKEY AND PNAHA.
- B. THE USE OF "HIS/HE" IS NOT MEANT TO BE GENDER SPECIFIC, BUT REFERS TO BOTH MALE AND FEMALE PARTICIPANTS.

COACHING EDUCATION PROGRAM REQUIREMENTS

PLEASE REFER TO THE USA HOCKEY WEBSITE FOR THE MOST CURRENT AND UP TO DATE INFORMATION RELATED TO COACHING EDUCATION PROGRAM REQUIREMENTS. CEP CURRICULUM (USAHOCKEY.COM) — HTTPS://WWW.USAHOCKEY.COM/CEPCURRICULUM

COACHING CREDENTIAL POLICY

USA HOCKEY AND PNAHA REQUIRE THAT COACHES WILL BE PROPERLY CREDENTIALED. THE RULES ARE VERY CLEAR AND HAVE BEEN COMMUNICATED TO PNAHA MEMBER ASSOCIATIONS. ASSOCIATION DIRECTORS AND COACHING DIRECTORS ARE EXPECTED TO SUPPORT THEIR COACHES BY ENSURING INFORMATION REGARDING COACHING CLINIC DATES IS DISTRIBUTED TO EVERYONE WHO NEEDS THIS INFORMATION. ASSOCIATION DIRECTORS ARE RESPONSIBLE FOR ENSURING THAT ONLY PROPERLY CARDED COACHES ARE PERMITTED TO PERFORM THE RESPONSIBILITIES OF A TEAM COACH.

ANY ASSOCIATION OR DIRECTOR WHO PERMITTED AN UNQUALIFIED PERSON TO PERFORM THE RESPONSIBILITIES OF A COACH WILL BE REFERRED TO THE PNAHA PRESIDENT. THE PRESIDENT WILL INITIATE AN INVESTIGATION. THE PRESIDENT MAY IMPLEMENT DISCIPLINARY ACTION AS APPROPRIATE TO THE CIRCUMSTANCES.

IF AN INDIVIDUAL WHO IS NOT PROPERLY CREDENTIALED BY USA HOCKEY OR WHOSE CREDENTIALS MAY HAVE EXPIRED IS ON A TEAM BENCH OR PERFORMS THE RESPONSIBILITIES OF A COACH, THE INDIVIDUAL SHALL BE SUSPENDED IMMEDIATELY FROM ANY COACHING ACTIVITIES. THE INCIDENT WILL BE REFERRED PROMPTLY TO THE APPROPRIATE PNAHA VICE PRESIDENT FOR INVESTIGATION. IF IT IS DETERMINED THAT THE INDIVIDUAL DID IMPROPERLY ASSUME THE ROLE OF A COACH WITHOUT PROPER CREDENTIALS, THE INDIVIDUAL WILL BE SUSPENDED FROM ALL COACHING ACTIVITIES FOR THE REMAINDER OF THE CURRENT SEASON. THE INDIVIDUAL WILL REMAIN ON INDEFINITE SUSPENSION FROM ALL COACHING ACTIVITIES UNTIL SUCH TIME AS SHE/HE OBTAINS THE NECESSARY USA HOCKEY CREDENTIALS.

If an individual violates this policy a second time while suspended, he/she will be suspended from participating in all USA Hockey activities for 12 months.

CREDENTIAL PROCESS POLICY FOR PNAHA STATE TOURNAMENTS

APPROVED JANUARY, 2015

ALL STATE TOURNAMENT BOUND TEAMS, WHERE THE WINNERS PROCEED TO DISTRICT OR NATIONAL TOURNAMENTS WILL SUBMIT THEIR CREDENTIAL PACKET AT THE JANUARY PNAHA GENERAL WINTER MEETING THROUGH THEIR PNAHA REPRESENTATIVE. (AS OF THIS WRITING, THIS INCLUDED TIER 1 AND TIER 2 TEAMS AT THE 14U, 16U AND 18U AGE CATEGORIES.)

ASSOCIATIONS NOT REPRESENTED AT THE JANUARY PNAHA GENERAL WINTER MEETING WILL BE NOTIFIED BY ELECTRONIC MAIL WITHIN 24 HOURS AFTER THE PNAHA GENERAL WINTER MEETING BY THE PNAHA SECRETARY/TREASURER AS TO WHERE TO MAIL THEIR PACKETS. THE CREDENTIAL PACKETS ARE DUE WITHIN FOUR (4) BUSINESS DAYS FROM THE DATE OF THE PNAHA GENERAL WINTER MEETING.

In addition to the required Credential Packet documentation, team managers will supply a contact list that includes a name, phone number (cell, home and work) so that the team can be contacted to correct deficiencies discovered by the assigned pre-credential personnel.

CREDENTIAL PACKET

TEAM MANAGERS ARE REQUIRED TO UTILIZE THE USA HOCKEY CREDENTIALS VERIFICATION SHEET WHEN COMPILING THEIR CREDENTIAL PACKET. THIS FORM AND OTHERS REQUIRED FOR THE CREDENTIAL PACKET CAN BE DOWNLOADED BY YOUR LOCAL REGISTRAR VIA THE USA HOCKEY REGISTRY WEBSITE.

- USA HOCKEY OFFICIAL TEAM ROSTER FORM
 - O DOWNLOADED FOR YOU BY YOUR ASSOCIATION'S REGISTRAR
 - O MARKED AS VERIFIED BY THE DISTRICT REGISTRAR BY THE GREEN "APPROVED" GRAPHIC.
 - THIS ROSTER SHOULD BE CURRENT (I.E. WITHIN A WEEK OF STARTING THE VERIFICATION PROCESS).
 - THE ROSTERS CONTAIN UP TO DATE (LAST INTERFACE WITH USA HOCKEY DATABASE) INFO ON COACHES, CARD LEVEL AND EXPIRATION DATE, MODULES COMPLETED AND SAFE SPORT TRAINING STATUS (THIS INFO NEEDS TO BE PART OF THE BOOK).
- 2 COPIES OF THE CREDENTIALS VERIFICATION SHEET OBTAINED FROM YOUR ASSOCIATION REGISTRAR.
 - ONE FILLED OUT BY THE MANAGER WHEN VERIFYING THEY HAVE EVERYTHING REQUIRED FOR ALL PLAYERS, MANAGERS AND COACHES
 - ONE BLANK TO BE USED BY THE CREDENTIAL VERIFIER.
- SCORE SHEETS AVAILABLE THROUGH THAT DATE (NOTE: ANY ADDITIONAL SCORE SHEETS NEEDED TO QUALIFY FOR THE TOURNAMENT WOULD BE DUE TO THE CREDENTIALING DESIGNEE TWO WEEKS PRIOR TO THE TOURNAMENT.

LATE CREDENTIAL PACKETS

Any team whose credentialing packet is not received within four (4) business days of the PNAHA meeting will be assessed a \$25.00 late fee

CONFLICT OF INTEREST POLICY

IT IS IN THE BEST INTEREST OF THE PNAHA ("PACIFIC NORTHWEST AMATEUR HOCKEY ASSOCIATION"), USA HOCKEY TO BE AWARE OF AND PROPERLY MANAGE ALL CONFLICTS OF INTEREST. THIS CONFLICT OF INTEREST POLICY IS DESIGNED TO HELP BOARD MEMBERS, STAFF AND VOLUNTEERS OF THE PNAHA IDENTIFY SITUATIONS THAT PRESENT POSSIBLE CONFLICTS OF INTEREST AND TO PROVIDE THE PNAHA WITH A PROCEDURE WHEREBY SUCH POTENTIAL CONFLICTS MAY BE REVIEWED BY AN APPROPRIATE PARTY WHEN NECESSARY. THIS POLICY IS INTENDED TO SUPPLEMENT BUT NOT REPLACE ANY APPLICABLE STATE AND FEDERAL LAWS GOVERNING CONFLICT OF INTEREST APPLICABLE TO NONPROFIT AND CHARITABLE ORGANIZATIONS.

- 1. CONFLICTS OF INTEREST DEFINED. IN THIS POLICY, A PERSON WITH A CONFLICT OF INTEREST IS REFERRED TO AS AN "INTERESTED PERSON." FOR PURPOSES OF THIS POLICY, THE FOLLOWING CIRCUMSTANCES SHALL BE DEEMED TO CREATE A CONFLICT OF INTEREST:
- a. A DIRECTOR, OFFICER, STAFF OR VOLUNTEER, INCLUDING A BOARD MEMBER (OR FAMILY MEMBER OF ANY OF THE FOREGOING) IS A PARTY TO A CONTRACT, OR INVOLVED IN A TRANSACTION WITH THE PNAHA FOR GOODS OR SERVICES.
- b. A DIRECTOR, OFFICER, STAFF OR VOLUNTEER, (OR A FAMILY MEMBER OF ANY OF THE FOREGOING) HAS A MATERIAL FINANCIAL INTEREST IN A TRANSACTION BETWEEN THE PNAHA AND AN ENTITY IN WHICH THE DIRECTOR, OFFICER, STAFF OR VOLUNTEER, OR A FAMILY MEMBER OF THE FOREGOING, IS A DIRECTOR, OFFICER, AGENT, PARTNER, ASSOCIATE, EMPLOYEE, TRUSTEE, PERSONAL REPRESENTATIVE, RECEIVER, GUARDIAN, CUSTODIAN, OR OTHER LEGAL REPRESENTATIVE.
- c. A DIRECTOR, OFFICER, EMPLOYEE OR VOLUNTEER, (OR A FAMILY MEMBER OF THE FOREGOING) IS ENGAGED IN SOME CAPACITY OR HAS A MATERIAL FINANCIAL INTEREST IN A BUSINESS OR ENTERPRISE THAT COMPETES WITH THE PNAHA.

OTHER SITUATIONS MAY CREATE THE APPEARANCE OF A CONFLICT, OR PRESENT A DUALITY OF INTERESTS IN CONNECTION WITH A PERSON WHO HAS INFLUENCE OVER THE ACTIVITIES OR FINANCES OF THE PNAHA. All such circumstances should be disclosed to the board or staff, as appropriate, and a decision made as to what course of action the organization or individuals should take so that the best interests of the PNAHA are not compromised by the personal interests of stakeholders in the organization.

GIFTS, GRATUITIES AND ENTERTAINMENT. ACCEPTING GIFTS, ENTERTAINMENT OR OTHER FAVORS FROM INDIVIDUALS OR ENTITIES CAN ALSO RESULT IN A CONFLICT OR DUALITY OF INTEREST WHEN THE PARTY PROVIDING THE GIFT/ENTERTAINMENT/FAVOR DOES SO UNDER CIRCUMSTANCES WHERE IT MIGHT BE INFERRED THAT SUCH ACTION WAS INTENDED TO INFLUENCE OR POSSIBLY WOULD INFLUENCE THE INTERESTED PERSON IN THE PERFORMANCE OF HIS OR HER DUTIES. THIS DOES NOT PRECLUDE THE ACCEPTANCE OF ITEMS OF NOMINAL OR INSIGNIFICANT VALUE WHICH ARE NOT RELATED TO ANY PARTICULAR TRANSACTION OR ACTIVITY OF THE PNAHA.

2. DEFINITIONS.

- a. A "CONFLICT OF INTEREST" IS ANY CIRCUMSTANCE DESCRIBED IN PART 1 OF THIS POLICY.
- b. An "Interested Person" is any person serving as an officer, member of the Board of Directors, staff or volunteer of the PNAHA or a major donor to the PNAHA or anyone else who is in a position of control over the PNAHA who has a personal interest that is in conflict with the interests of the PNAHA.
- c. A "Family Member" is a spouse, parent, child or spouse of a child, brother, sister, or spouse of a brother or sister, of an Interested Person.
- d. A "Material Financial Interest" in an entity is a financial interest of any kind, which, in view of all the circumstances, is substantial enough that it would, or reasonably could, affect an Interested Person's or Family Member's judgment with respect to transactions to which the entity is a party.

e. A "CONTRACT OR TRANSACTION" IS ANY AGREEMENT OR RELATIONSHIP INVOLVING THE SALE OR PURCHASE OF GOODS OR SERVICES, THE PROVIDING OR RECEIPT OF A LOAN OR GRANT, THE ESTABLISHMENT OF ANY OTHER TYPE OF FINANCIAL RELATIONSHIP, OR THE EXERCISE OF CONTROL OVER ANOTHER ORGANIZATION. THE MAKING OF A GIFT TO THE PNAHA IS NOT A CONTRACT OR TRANSACTION.

3. PROCEDURES.

- a. PRIOR TO BOARD OR COMMITTEE ACTION ON A CONTRACT OR TRANSACTION INVOLVING A CONFLICT OF INTEREST, A DIRECTOR OR COMMITTEE MEMBER HAVING A CONFLICT OF INTEREST AND WHO IS IN ATTENDANCE AT THE MEETING SHALL DISCLOSE ALL FACTS MATERIAL TO THE CONFLICT OF INTEREST. SUCH DISCLOSURE SHALL BE REFLECTED IN THE MINUTES OF THE MEETING. IF BOARD MEMBERS ARE AWARE THAT STAFF OR OTHER VOLUNTEERS HAVE A CONFLICT OF INTEREST, RELEVANT FACTS SHOULD BE DISCLOSED BY THE BOARD MEMBER OR BY THE INTERESTED PERSON HIM/HERSELF IF INVITED TO THE BOARD MEETING AS A GUEST FOR PURPOSES OF DISCLOSURE.
- b. A DIRECTOR OR COMMITTEE MEMBER WHO PLANS NOT TO ATTEND A MEETING AT WHICH HE OR SHE HAS REASON TO BELIEVE THAT THE BOARD OR COMMITTEE WILL ACT ON A MATTER IN WHICH THE PERSON HAS A CONFLICT OF INTEREST SHALL DISCLOSE TO THE CHAIR OF THE MEETING ALL FACTS MATERIAL TO THE CONFLICT OF INTEREST. THE CHAIR SHALL REPORT THE DISCLOSURE AT THE MEETING AND THE DISCLOSURE SHALL BE REFLECTED IN THE MINUTES OF THE MEETING.
- c. A PERSON WHO HAS A CONFLICT OF INTEREST SHALL NOT PARTICIPATE IN OR BE PERMITTED TO HEAR THE BOARD'S OR COMMITTEE'S DISCUSSION OF THE MATTER EXCEPT TO DISCLOSE MATERIAL FACTS AND TO RESPOND TO QUESTIONS. SUCH PERSON SHALL NOT ATTEMPT TO EXERT HIS OR HER PERSONAL INFLUENCE WITH RESPECT TO THE MATTER, EITHER AT OR OUTSIDE THE MEFTING.
- d. A PERSON WHO HAS A CONFLICT OF INTEREST WITH RESPECT TO A CONTRACT OR TRANSACTION THAT WILL BE VOTED ON AT A MEETING SHALL NOT BE COUNTED IN DETERMINING THE PRESENCE OF A QUORUM FOR PURPOSES OF THE VOTE.
- e. The person having a conflict of interest may not vote on the Contract or Transaction and shall not be present in the meeting room when the vote is taken, unless the vote is by secret ballot. Such person's ineligibility to vote shall be reflected in the minutes of the meeting. For purposes of this paragraph, a member of the Board of Directors of the PNAHA has a Conflict of Interest when he or she stands for election as an officer or for reflection as a member of the Board of Directors.
- f. Interested Persons who are not members of the Board of Directors of the PNAHA, or who have a Conflict of Interest with respect to a Contract or Transaction that is not the subject of Board or committee action, shall disclose to the Chair, or the Chair's designee, any Conflict of Interest that such Interested Person has with respect to a Contract or Transaction. Such disclosure shall be made as soon as the Conflict of Interest is known to the Interested Person. The Interested Person shall refrain from any action that may affect the PNAHA's participation in such Contract or Transaction.

In the event it is not entirely clear that a Conflict of Interest exists, the individual with the potential conflict shall disclose the circumstances to the Chair or the Chair's designee, who shall determine whether full board discussion is warranted or whether there exists a Conflict of Interest that is subject to this policy.

- 4. CONFIDENTIALITY. EACH DIRECTOR, OFFICER, EMPLOYEE AND VOLUNTEER SHALL EXERCISE CARE NOT TO DISCLOSE CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION ACQUIRED IN CONNECTION WITH DISCLOSURES OF CONFLICTS OF INTEREST OR POTENTIAL CONFLICTS, WHICH MIGHT BE ADVERSE TO THE INTERESTS OF PNAHA. FURTHERMORE, DIRECTORS, OFFICERS, EMPLOYEES AND VOLUNTEERS SHALL NOT DISCLOSE OR USE INFORMATION RELATING TO THE BUSINESS OF PNAHA FOR THEIR PERSONAL PROFIT OR ADVANTAGE OR THE PERSONAL PROFIT OR ADVANTAGE OF THEIR FAMILY MEMBER(S).
- 5. Administration of Policy. Each board member, staff and volunteer shall be provided with and asked to review a copy of this Policy and to acknowledge in writing that he or she has done so.

- a. Annually each director, officer, employee and volunteer shall complete a disclosure form identifying any relationships, positions or circumstances in which he or she is involved that he or she believes could contribute to a Conflict of Interest.
- b. This policy shall be reviewed annually by each member of the Board of Directors. Any changes to the policy shall be communicated to all staff and volunteers
- 6. ACKNOWLEDGEMENT OF CONFLICT OF INTEREST POLICY. THE UNDERSIGNED HEREBY ACKNOWLEDGES THAT HE OR SHE HAS READ THE PNAHA CONFLICT OF INTEREST POLICY, HAS HAD AN OPPORTUNITY TO ASK ANY QUESTIONS THAT HE OR SHE MAY HAVE ABOUT THE POLICY, AND UNDERSTANDS AND AGREES TO COMPLY WITH THE POLICY.

SIGNATURE:	Date:
PRINT NAME:	Position:

WHISTLEBLOWER POLICY

THIS WHISTLEBLOWER POLICY OF THE PNAHA ("PACIFIC NORTHWEST AMATEUR HOCKEY ASSOCIATION"), USA HOCKEY:

- (1) ENCOURAGES BOARD MEMBERS, STAFF AND VOLUNTEERS TO COME FORWARD WITH CREDIBLE INFORMATION ON ILLEGAL PRACTICES OR SERIOUS VIOLATIONS OF ADOPTED POLICIES OF THE PNAHA;
- (2) SPECIFIES THAT THE PNAHA WILL PROTECT THE PERSON FROM RETALIATION; AND
- (3) IDENTIFIES WHERE SUCH INFORMATION CAN BE REPORTED.
- 1. **ENCOURAGEMENT OF REPORTING**. THE PNAHA ENCOURAGES COMPLAINTS, REPORTS OR INQUIRIES ABOUT ILLEGAL PRACTICES OR SERIOUS VIOLATIONS OF THE PNAHA'S POLICIES, INCLUDING ILLEGAL OR IMPROPER CONDUCT BY THE PNAHA ITSELF, BY ITS LEADERSHIP, OR BY OTHERS ON ITS BEHALF. APPROPRIATE SUBJECTS TO RAISE UNDER THIS POLICY WOULD INCLUDE FINANCIAL IMPROPRIETIES, ACCOUNTING OR AUDIT MATTERS, ETHICAL VIOLATIONS, OR OTHER SIMILAR ILLEGAL OR IMPROPER PRACTICES OR POLICIES. OTHER SUBJECTS ON WHICH THE PNAHA HAS EXISTING COMPLAINT MECHANISMS SHOULD BE ADDRESSED UNDER THOSE MECHANISMS. THIS POLICY IS NOT INTENDED TO PROVIDE A MEANS OF APPEAL FROM OUTCOMES IN THOSE OTHER MECHANISMS.
- 2. **PROTECTION FROM RETALIATION**. THE PNAHA PROHIBITS RETALIATION BY OR ON BEHALF OF THE PNAHA AGAINST BOARD MEMBERS, STAFF OR VOLUNTEERS FOR MAKING GOOD FAITH COMPLAINTS, REPORTS OR INQUIRIES UNDER THIS POLICY OR FOR PARTICIPATING IN A REVIEW OR INVESTIGATION UNDER THIS POLICY. THIS PROTECTION EXTENDS TO THOSE WHOSE ALLEGATIONS ARE MADE IN GOOD FAITH BUT PROVE TO BE MISTAKEN. THE PNAHA RESERVES THE RIGHT TO DISCIPLINE PERSONS WHO MAKE BAD FAITH, KNOWINGLY FALSE, OR VEXATIOUS COMPLAINTS, REPORTS OR INQUIRIES OR WHO OTHERWISE ABUSE THIS POLICY. INSOFAR AS POSSIBLE, THE CONFIDENTIALITY OF THE WHISTLEBLOWER WILL BE MAINTAINED. HOWEVER, IDENTITY MAY HAVE TO BE DISCLOSED TO CONDUCT A THOROUGH INVESTIGATION, TO COMPLY WITH THE LAW AND TO PROVIDE ACCUSED INDIVIDUALS THEIR LEGAL RIGHT OF DEFENSE.
- 3. Where to report. Complaints, reports or inquiries may be made under this policy on a confidential or anonymous basis. They should describe in detail the specific facts demonstrating the basis of the complaints, reports or inquiries. They should be directed to the PNAHA President immediately; if this person is implicated in the complaint, report or inquiry, it should be directed to either PNAHA Vice President. The PNAHA will conduct a prompt, discreet, and objective review or investigation. Directors, staff or volunteers must recognize that the PNAHA may be unable to fully evaluate a vague or general complaint, report, or inquiry that is made anonymously.

NATIONAL REPORTING POLICY

- 1. When a Major or a Game misconduct is called, the Referee must, in all cases, complete an online Official Incident Report per USA Hockey Rules. The PNAHA Affiliate President will configure the USA hockey reporting system so that reports will only be sent to:
 - a. PNAHA'S SUPERVISOR OF OFFICIALS
 - b. The Proper Authority of the offending player, team official or team
 - c. PNAHA VICE PRESIDENTS
 - d. PNAHA PRESIDENT
- 2. WHEN A MATCH PENALTY IS CALLED, THE REFEREE MUST, IN ALL CASES, COMPLETE AN ONLINE OFFICIAL INCIDENT REPORT PER USA Hockey Rules.
 - a. THE PNAHA AFFILIATE PRESIDENT WILL COMMUNICATE TO USA HOCKEY THAT THESE REPORTS WILL ONLY BE SENT TO:
 - i. PNAHA'S SUPERVISOR OF OFFICIALS
 - ii. THE PROPER AUTHORITY OF THE OFFENDING PLAYER. TEAM OFFICIAL OR TEAM PNAHA VICE PRESIDENT
 - iii. PNAHA PRESIDENT
 - b. The Home Association must send an official copy of the score sheet to the PNAHA's Supervisor of Officials and the Proper Authority of the offending player or team upon written request.
 - c. The Proper Authority must hold a hearing in accordance with USA Hockey Bylaw 10.
 - d. It is the responsibility of the Proper Authority of the offending player, team official or team to contact the proper PNAHA Vice-President and submit their finding in the matter.
 - e. The PNAHA Vice President will review the findings and determine if they are in compliance with USA Hockey and PNAHA Bylaws, rules and regulations and policies and procedures. If they are not in compliance, the PNAHA Vice President will work with the Proper Authority to correct any compliance issues.

REFEREE REGISTRATION PROCEDURE

NEW APPLICANTS

NEW ICE HOCKEY OFFICIALS MAY OBTAIN REFEREE REGISTRATION FORMS FROM DISTRICT REFEREE-IN-CHIEF OR HIS/HER AREA SUPERVISORS.

RENEWAL REGISTRANTS

PREVIOUSLY REGISTERED ICE HOCKEY OFFICIALS WILL RECEIVE THEIR MATERIALS IN THE MAIL DIRECT FROM THE NATIONAL OFFICE.

ALL APPLICANTS (NEW AND RENEWAL)

THE PROPERLY COMPLETED APPLICATION SHALL BE RETURNED TO THE USA HOCKEY OFFICE WITH A CHECK IN THE PROPER AMOUNT.

YOU WILL THEN RECEIVE A CURRENT USA HOCKEY RULE BOOK, RULES EXAMINATION AND ANSWER SHEET. RETURN THE PROPERLY COMPLETED ANSWER SHEET FOR GRADING.

IF THE MINIMUM GRADE REQUIREMENTS ARE OBTAINED, USA HOCKEY IN CONJUNCTION WITH THE DISTRICT REFEREE IN CHIEF WILL REVIEW THE APPLICATION AND DETERMINE THE PROPER CLASSIFICATION FOR THE APPLICANT.

IF AN EXCESS AMOUNT OF MONEY WAS SUBMITTED IT WILL BE REFUNDED. IF THE MINIMUM GRADE WAS NOT OBTAINED THE EXAM MAY BE TAKEN OVER AGAIN. UPON ACCEPTANCE OF THE APPLICATION, ALL REFEREES WILL RECEIVE AN OFFICIAL USA HOCKEY REFEREE'S MANUAL, SWEATER CREST, EXCESS ACCIDENT, CATASTROPHIC INJURY AND LIABILITY INSURANCE COVERAGE, A SUBSCRIPTION TO USA HOCKEY MAGAZINE, STRIPES NEWSLETTER, AND REGISTRATION CARD FOR THE CURRENT SEASON.

NOTE

REFEREE REGISTRATION BEGINS JUNE 1 AND ENDS DECEMBER 31. TO BE ELIGIBLE TO OFFICIATE IN ANY STATE, DISTRICT, REGIONAL PLAYOFFS OR NATIONAL CHAMPIONSHIPS, AN OFFICIAL MUST BE REGISTERED ON OR BEFORE DECEMBER 31 OF THE CURRENT SEASON. ALL OFFICIALS MAY REGISTER AND TAKE THEIR OPEN BOOK TEST BY ACCESSING THE USA HOCKEY WEBSITE AT WWW.USAHOCKEY.COM. FOR THE LATEST INFORMATION ON REGISTERING AS AN OFFICIAL PLEASE VISIT REGISTRATION RULES & POLICIES (USAHOCKEY.COM) — HTTPS://WWW.USAHOCKEY.COM/REGISTRATIONRULES

DISTRICT AWARDS

EACH SEASON THE PACIFIC DISTRICT PRESENTS THE FOLLOWING AWARDS AS VOTED ON BY THE PRESIDENTS OF THE AFFILIATES WITHIN THE DISTRICT.

ANDY ANDERSON AWARD: PRESENTED TO AN OUTSTANDING ADMINISTRATOR IN THE DISTRICT.

DEMPSEY ANDERSON AWARD: PRESENTED TO AN OUTSTANDING COACH IN THE DISTRICT.

PETE ANDERSON AWARD: PRESENTED TO AN OUTSTANDING REFEREE IN THE DISTRICT.

(NOTE: WINNERS ARE LISTED ON PAGE 86 OF THE PACIFIC DISTRICT ANNUAL GUIDE)

MEMORIAL TO THOSE WHO SERVED

WHAT WE HAVE ONCE ENJOYED DEEPLY WE CAN NEVER LOSE, ALL THAT WE LOVE DEEPLY BECOMES A PART OF US. — HELEN KELLER

DRUCILLA "DRU" ANN HAMMOND (1953 – 2021) PNAHA PRESIDENT



ROBERT "ROBBY" WILLIAM KAUFMAN (1981 – 2021) PNAHA 1ST VICE PRESIDENT

